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PART |

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements within the meaning of Section@&#he Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Ac®®4 lincluding statements that involve expectatiptens or intentions (such as those relat
to future business, future results of operationfirancial condition, new or planned features ongees, or management strategies). You can
identify these forward-looking statements by waulsh as “may,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expessions. These forward-looking statements invaskes iand uncertainties that could cause
our actual results to differ materially from thosepressed or implied in our forward-looking statetse Such risks and uncertainties include,
among others, those discussed in “Item 1A: Riskétat of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as wedlia our consolidated financial
statements, related notes, and the other informadigpearing elsewhere in this report and our otfilérgs with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC. We do not intend, and wakkeno obligation, to update any of our forward#ng statements after the date of this
report to reflect actual results or future eventcwcumstances. Given these risks and uncertantieaders are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on such forward-looking statements.

” ” o, ”ou ” o

ITEM 1: BUSINESS

eBay Inc. was formed as a sole proprietorship pt&aber 1995 and was incorporated in Californigay 1996. In April 1998, we

reincorporated in Delaware, and in September 1@@8;ompleted the initial public offering of our coman stock. Our principal executive offic
are located at 2145 Hamilton Avenue, San JosefdDaith 95125, and our telephone number is (408) B¥®. When we refer to “we,” “our,”
“us” or “eBay” in this Annual Report on Form X)-we mean the current Delaware corporation (eBay) land its California predecessor, as'
as all of its consolidated subsidiaries. When Werr® “eBay.com,” we mean the online marketplamzated at www.ebay.com and its localized
counterparts. When we refer to “PayPalg mean the online payments platform located at vipaypal.com and its localized counterparts. W
we refer to “GSI,” we mean the ecommerce and ictara marketing services provided by GSI Commewddch we purchased in June 2011.
When we refer to “Skype,” we mean the Internet camitations offerings provided by Skype Technolodies., which we sold in November
2009. As part of the sale, we maintained a 30 pereguity interest in the buyer of Skype, whichseéd to Microsoft Corp. in October 2011.

We are a global commerce platform and paymentseledde enable commerce through three reportablmeets: Marketplaces,
Payments and GSI. These segments provide onlitfenpa services and tools to help individuals anth, medium and large merchants aro
the globe establish online and mobile commercepaythents. In addition, through an initiative weereb as X.commerce, we have created an
open source platform that provides software deve®wpnd merchants access to our applications progirag interfaces, or APIs, to develop
software and solutions for commerce. As of Decen3ie2011, we had more than 100 million active sisemsacting on our sites, millions of
merchants using one or more of our platforms, adeveeloper community with more than 800,000 membeiisg our APIs. We operate a
vibrant global marketplace designed to bridge almobile and offline shopping and enable consuneefiad what they want, when they want
it. See the definition of "active users" in our Metplaces and Payments discussions below.

For financial information about our reportable segis as well as the geographic areas where we cbhdsiness, please see "Note 6 —
Segments" to the consolidated financial statemientaded in this report. Additionally, please ske information in "Item 1A: Risk Factors"
under the caption "There are many risks associatidour international operations," which descrilieks associated with the foreign operati
of our reportable segments.

Marketplaces

Marketplaces brings buyers and sellers togetheuttr fully automated and easy-to-use online websitel mobile applications that are
generally available throughout the world at anyetinimcluding through localized eBay.com sites imgneountries. We had approximately 100.4
million active users at the end of 2011, compaceapproximately 94.5 million at the end of 2010. Wédfine an active user as any user who bid
on, bought or listed an item on any of our eBay héglaces trading platforms, excluding users offidain, StubHub, and our Korean
subsidiaries, during the preceding 12-month peliggkrs may register more than once, and as a raaylhave more than one account.

Our Marketplaces segment includes our core econer@atform eBay.com, our vertical shopping siteshsas StubHub, Fashion, Motors
and Half.com, our classifieds websites such as M&x&ts.nl and mobile.de, and advertising




services. Additionally, Marketplaces has acquieszhhologies to help enable new commerce opporésniticluding RedLaser to facilitate
mobile commerce, Milo to enable search for goodsal retailers and Hunch to improve search ancthandising based on customers' needs
and tastes. These acquisitions are intended teedelew services to merchants and consumers bgingilinnovative technology and improved
experiences across multiple channels of commerce.

Our Marketplaces platforms offer the following fies:
We provide a variety of access points for consuntershop virtually anytime, anywhere

eBay's Marketplaces platforms are accessible frompeiters with Internet access and mobile devicesoffér downloadable, easy to use
mobile applications for the iPhone, the iPad andraid devices for eBay.com and some of our othdysites and vertical shopping experiences,
including StubHub, Fashion, Motors and Half.com. &i&o maintain a mobile version of our eBay.com sitetfor use with other Internet-
enabled phones and devices and continue to develomobile applications on an ongoing basis. ABefember 31, 2011 our mobile
applications had been downloaded more than 65amitimes and, in 2011, approximately $5 billion wamsacted across all of our mobile
applications, compared to nearly $2 billion in 2010

We offer a number of buying and selling formats,dluding fixed price and auction

Sellers can choose to list their products and sesvihrough fixed price listings on eBay.com, caredViarketplaces platform, and our
classifieds websites or through an auction-baseddbon eBay.com. Our fixed price format allows ésyand sellers to close transactions at a
pre-determined price set by the seller, but alkwal sellers to signal that they would be willimgdiose the transaction at a lower price through
the Best Offer feature. Our auction-style formé&bas a seller to select a minimum price for opertirds. Additional options and features
applicable to auction listings include the abilibyset a Reserve Price and Buy It Now feature.duration of auctions typically ranges from one
day to 10 days. In 2011, our fixed-price listingnfat continued to increase in popularity on eBaycaccounting for approximately 63% of our
gross merchandise volume, or GMV, with our aucstyle format accounting for the remaining approxiena37% of GMV. We define GMV ¢
the total value of all successfully closed itemwuaen users on eBay Marketplaces trading platfaansg the relevant period, regardless of
whether the buyer and seller actually consummadtedransaction (excluding eBay's classifieds websind Shopping.com).

In addition, our eBay Stores format enables seteexhibit all of their listings in a single placa one of our eBay Marketplaces
platforms and to describe their respective buseefwough customized pages. eBay Stores alsode®sgellers with tools to build, manage,
promote and track their businesses.

Our classified websites are available in over 1,€ifi8s around the world and are primarily desigtetelp people trade at a local level.
Our classifieds websites include Den Bla Avis, Bisgn, eBay Classifieds (including eBay AnunciosyeRBleinanzeigen and eBay Annunci),

craigslist, Inc., which operates the craigslissslfieds websites.
We offer a variety of specialized vertical formats

We continue to customize our buying and sellingegiqmces to make it easier for users to list, ind buy items by offering formats
dedicated to specific products or categories. Qrcote eBay.com websites, we have built specialezgzeriences for certain vertical formats,
such as Fashion, Motors (vehicles, parts and agdesy and Electronics. Our Fashion applicatiamfiobile devices comes enabled with social
media and email sharing functions. In our Electendertical, we also offer catalogs and produiased experiences to help users list and find
items more easily.

StubHub is a leading ticket marketplace, enablargfto buy and sell tickets to a large selectiospaits, concert, theater and other live
entertainment events. StubHub's online marketpldegicated solely to tickets, provides fans thditstio buy and sell their tickets in a safe,
convenient and reliable environment. StubHub'sngastinclude approximately 60 teams in the NBA, NMILB and NCAA. In December
2011, StubHub launched its first international wiebim the United Kingdom.

We are building services to help sellers offer geddcally, both online or through a mobile devigeroviding them with another channel fc
product distribution

With the acquisitions of RedLaser and Milo, we laeping merchants offer their local inventory oelior through mobile devices and
helping consumers find what they are looking foloatl stores. RedLaser allows consumers to scaodaes in order to find the goods they are
looking for in a variety of locations, both onliaed offline, while Milo enables local inventoryte viewed online or on a mobile device. We
plan to expand the functionality and use of theséstand services to






more merchants in 2012.

Our inventory offers variety and choice.

With over 300 million listings available on all ofir Marketplaces websites as of December 31, 20& hffer buyers a broad range of
listings across a wide number of categories. We mew, refurbished and used products, common ardteans, and branded and unbranded
products. Our listings include products and ses/fcem more than 50,000 categories. As of Decer8heR011, there were more than 80
branded Outlet stores on eBay.com offering custemew items at great values.

We maintain high standards for trust and safety andstomer service.

We have developed a number of features on ourgptatf in the areas of trust and safety (includingrredback Forum, SafeHarbor
Program,Verified Rights Owner Program and eBay BRretection), customer support and value-addeld trad services, as well as loyalty
programs (for both buyers and sellers). These featare designed to make users more comfortablimgeéth unknown trading partners and
completing commercial transactions on the Inteanéhrough mobile devices, as well as rewardingtoprbuyers and sellers for their loyalty.

eBay Buyer Protection covers items purchased omsites in the U.S., the U.K. and Germany througklgible payment method and
protects most buyers with respect to items thahateeceived or not as described in the listir@m® purchases, including most vehicles, are not
covered. eBay Buyer Protection provides coveragéhf purchase price of the item, plus originapphng costs, for a limited time period from
the date of the transaction, and includes a neeastlined online interface to help buyers and selavigate their way through the process.

Payments

Our payments segment provides efficient paymentsatttement capabilities for consumers and mershamiand off eBay websites and
other merchant websites. We have three primary payfrands: PayPal, which enables individuals arsinesses to securely, easily and qui
send and receive payments online and through alveseye of mobile devices in approximately 190 retgkvorldwide; Bill Me Later, which
enables U.S. merchants to offer, and U.S. consutoearistain, credit at the point of sale for ecomeeesind mobile transactions through Bill Me
Later's relationship with a chartered financiatitosion; and Zong, acquired in August 2011, whatables users with a mobile phone to
purchase digital goods and have the transactioaget to their phone bill. We also recently acquiBdISAFE, a provider of payment services
for online merchants in Germany who offer theirtonsers the ability to pay for purchases upon reagin invoice.

Our payment networks are designed to be simple,aad secure and are built upon the existing glfibahcial infrastructure to create
global, real-time payment solutions. PayPal cormeuatre than 15,000 financial institutions arourglworld, and buyers can typically use their
local payment method of choice, no matter wherestler is located. Users of our PayPal paymeritgieas can engage in cross-border
shopping, which may help merchants to increases salkeime by allowing them to sell to a global basbuyers.

We had approximately 106 million active registeaedounts in approximately 190 markets as of Dece®bge2011. We define active
registered accounts as all registered accountstitaessfully sent or received at least one payorgohyment reversal through the PayPal
system or Bill Me Later accounts that are curreatlle to transact and that have received a staterithin the last 12 months.

Our PayPal payment processing solution is availablgth online and on mobile.

PayPal originally started as a payment solutiorofdine transactions between consumers and me:hatith the advent of smartphones
and tablet computers, PayPal is becoming a pofadar of payment for online and offline goods andvages on mobile devices as well. In 20
PayPal's net total payment volume, or TPV, forgeations using mobile devices reached $4 billignfram approximately $750 million in 201
PayPal's mobile checkout solutions offer merchardsnvenient and easy way to accept payments thraugobile-optimized user experience.
Consumers with a PayPal account have the flexiliitpay without entering a credit card number obilling and shipping address on their
devices. PayPal's mobile products are designedlitoed an end-to-end mobile shopping experience safe and secure environment.




Our PayPal payment solution offers merchants an-ailone payment processing experience that is geatigrless expensive than payment
card alternatives.

PayPal offers online and mobile-enabled merchamtslain-one payment processing solution that wieeke is generally less expensive per
transaction than most credit card and debit cantihaat accounts. A merchant can typically openy@Bbaccount and begin accepting
payments through PayPal within a few minutes. Mostchants are approved instantly for a PayPal at@nd do not need to provide a pers:
guarantee, acquire specialized hardware or softyaepare an application or contact a payment gatefRayPal can reduce or eliminate the
need for merchants to receive and store sensitismer financial information. Furthermore, Paygtelrges merchants no setup fees and few o
no recurring monthly fees, and we believe that RhgRarges lower transaction fees than many U.&chmet accounts.

We offer consumers choice by providing a varietyfofding and withdrawal mechanisms.

Buyers can fund their PayPal accounts and paynusing PayPal in a variety of ways, including byditreard, debit card, electronic funds
transfers from their bank account and through @Bblalance if the buyer has previously receiveanaants or chosen to pfand a balance. W
also provide a credit offering through the Bill Mater service, which allows qualifying U.S. buy&ssobtain a revolving line of credit at the
point of sale from a third-party chartered finahaiatitution, WebBank. Bill Me Later is not a clared financial institution nor is it licensed to
make loans in any state. Accordingly, Bill Me Lateust rely on a bank or licensed lender to issaeBili Me Later credit products and extend
credit to customers. U.S. buyers may also be affareopportunity to defer payments for purchasedemeing Bill Me Later; under some
promotional arrangements offered on select merctite®, interest on such payments can be defeoreakflong as six months.

When a consumer makes a purchase using a Bill Mar kcaedit product issued by a chartered finariogtitution, the chartered financial
institution extends credit to the consumer, furi@sedxtension of credit at the point of sale anditefunds to the merchant. We subsequently
purchase the receivables related to the extensiorredit made by the chartered financial instdntand, as a result of that purchase, bear th
of loss in the event of loan defaults. Although thartered financial institution continues to ovatle customer account, we own the related
receivable and are responsible for all servicingefions related to the account. For informatiorardigng risks related to our Bill Me Later
business, see the information in “Item 1A: Risktbeg’ under the captions "Bill Me Later's operations depen lending services provided by
unaffiliated lender" and "Bill Me Later's operat®axpose us to additional risks."

Each PayPal account holder in the U.S. and in 108r@ountries may withdraw money from his or hayfPal account through an electronic
fund transfer to his or her U.S. bank accountrogpproximately 45 of those countries, to theialdzank account. In the U.S. and in five other
countries, users can withdraw their funds by dingcthat PayPal mail them a check. Qualifying PayRerchants in the U.S. are eligible to
receive a PayPal ATM/debit card, which allows thenwithdraw cash from any ATM connected to the @ror Maestro networks and to make
purchases at any merchant accepting MasterCatllelt.K. and Italy, PayPal customers can applafprepaid card, which can be linked to a
customer's PayPal account to add or withdraw fuimdsertain markets, customers can also have fimtteir PayPal account applied as a credit
to their MasterCard credit card or debit card aotou

We have embarked on plans to enable local merchdatsffer PayPal at point of sale terminals.

In 2011, we began work on a PayPal point of sajeneats solution for the U.S. and select Europearkets. In the U.S., the point of sale
solution is intended to allow PayPal users who sigffior the service the ability to use their Payd&alounts to make purchases at participating
local retailers. We expect that users will be ablaccess their PayPal account via a PayPal Acask mobile phone number and personal
identification number (PIN), or near field commuetion-enabled device depending on what the retaffers. This initiative is an important part
of PayPal's strategy to provide a comprehensivengay solution for both online and brick-and-mortailers. We expect the pricing for
PayPal's point of sale payments solution to be eraipe to the pricing merchants would pay to coinggtrocessors for offline transactions.
We expect the point of sale payments solution tau@lable, on a limited basis, as we roll outpiheduct offering to more retailers in 2012.

PayPal also plans to leverage technology from ecemt acquisition of WHERE.com to help merchantsmeat with local customers.
WHERE.com is a local mobile discovery application docation-based mobile advertising network thravmles personalized, hyper-local
advertising, offers and deals to mobile consum&fes.expect that integrating PayPal into the WHERE.ooobile application will enable
merchants that integrate PayPal's new capabitigsish offers to a wider user base.




Our payments solutions offer leading fraud prevemti and protection.

PayPal enables buyers to pay merchants quicklyeasily without sharing sensitive financial informat such as credit card or debit card
numbers. To make payments using PayPal, buyerstoabsiclose only their email addresses to merahdiite account-based nature of PayPal's
network helps us to better detect and prevent fralveh funds enter, flow through and exit the Payfealvork.

Bill Me Later accounts are most commonly opene@d @hS. merchant website offering Bill Me Later gsagment method, including
eBay.com, but can also be opened via a qualifiggPBlaaccount or at the Bill Me Later website.

When using Bill Me Later, qualified buyers neegtovide only their name, address, birth date aedaht four digits of their social
security number. When using Zong, buyers needgotionly their mobile phone number and respondtextor email requiring them to apprc
the transaction.

PayPal has developed a number of trust and safetyams, including PayPal's Seller Protection amdifase Protection Programs. Th
programs provide additional protection to certainaunt holders who pay or receive payment for tirairsactions through PayPal on or off
eBay.com in certain key geographies. PayPal'sSettetection Program covers sellers in certaindg@ygraphies who follow specific shipping
and handling practices against claims that a timgawas not authorized by the buyer or that temiwas not received. PayPal's Purchase
Protection Program reimburses the buyer, subjespéaified limitations, for qualified purchasesngsPayPal on or off eBay.com in certain key
geographies if the buyer does not receive the @erm limited markets, if the item is significapthot as described. In some non-U.S. markets,
protection for buyers is limited to a maximum amiper transaction.

GSI

Acquired by eBay in June 2011, GSl is a leadingioler of ecommerce and interactive marketing ses/io enterprise clients that incl
some of the world's premier brands and retaile®. @fers a broad suite of solutions designed twgranerchants' online businesses and
effectively integrate with their other sales chdan&SI's advanced technology, fulfillment, custorere and interactive marketing services are
designed to enable its clients to elevate the aoes@experience and cost-effectively sustain it divee.

GSI operates two business units: Global eCommezcdc®s, or GeC, and Global Marketing Service$GBIS. Each business unit offers
products and services that complement the othdchadilows for crosselling opportunities. While GSI operates on a gldiasis, for the peric
from its acquisition by eBay in June 2011 througit@mber 31, 2011, nearly all of its net revenue®werived from its North American
operations and its international operations wetemeterial.

GSl enables companies to operate ecommerce busésesnd to integrate their ecommerce businesses wilier multi-channel retail
offerings.

GSil sells its products and services on an indidibasis and also as bundled solutions. The GeQbssiunit serves enterprise clients that
operate in general merchandise categories, inajuaparel, sporting goods, toys & baby, health &uie and home. We refer to GSI clients as
enterprise clients because GSI generally servgs,laationally recognized brand name companies.Gé@ ecommerce suite is comprised of
three principal services: Technology & Paymentdfilknent & Freight and Customer Care.

GSI Technology & Payments services provide retalaith ecommerce platforms, products and services.

GSI Technology & Payments uses shared sales, sepperations and administration teams for itsefareas of focus: webstore &
mobile, commerce exchange & multi-channel and payme

Webstore & mobile provides secure shopping cartdmetkout offerings, analytical tools, site managetiools, including catalog,
content and promotions management and guided proéigovery.

Commerce exchange & multhannel offerings provide transactional capabditiacluding order management, inventory managezued
fulfillment integration. GSI's multi-channel offag is a suite of software products that enablestone pickup, ship-from-store, ship-to-store and
drop ship capabilities.

The payments offering provides a robust onlinenpatyt processing engine with capabilities includinige, tax and shipping calculatiol
address verification, order review and fraud préieen credit card authorization and settlement alternative payment processing, including
PayPal as well as private label credit cards,ogiftls and online gift certificates.






GSI Fulfillment & Freight services help retailers mnage logistics complexities.

GSI operates six ecommerce fulfillment centerh@Wnited States, one in Canada and one in thet)Kiingdom, encompassing over
3.2 million square feet. Within these facilitiesSutilizes warehouse management systems and tinfcaisre to provide customized direct-to-
consumer fulfillment solutions, including order nagiement, real-time order status updates and relaggistics services. Through scale and
partnerships with leading freight providers, GSedd clients favorable shipping rates and innowafreight programs, including its ShipQuik
shipping program. Under this program, packagepeaesorted by customer zip code, which helps totshdhe time packages are in transit.

GSI Customer Care services provide retailers witkeigrated customer support for their online web its.

Through three call centers in the United Statesaandtwork of customer support agents, plus orfleeater in the United Kingdom, GSI
provides customer care services for ecommerceelgéptione and email. GSI combines proprietary aimd-fiarty technologies, including
automatic call distribution, computer telephonyegration, interactive voice response, email, waddananagement, voice recording/monitol
and customer relationship management systems icutemer care platform. The United Kingdom calitee offers customer care in
multiple languages.

GMS provides retailers with extensive online mariet services

The GMS business unit is focused on providing cahensive, industry-leading solutions designed tp blents acquire new
customers, convert more visitors into buyers, bsitghificant customer loyalty and drive revenueoasrvarious channels. GMS offers a full-
service digital agency, enterprise email marketingbile advertising, affiliate marketing, advertisent retargeting, and in-depth analytics
capabilities.

X.commerce

In addition to our reportable segments, in 2011Jaseiched a business initiative of cloud-based cemmtools called X.commerce.
X.commerce is a platform that provides softwareeli@yers access to our APIs to develop functionéditynerchants of all sizes. By bringing
together the technology assets and developer coitieruaf eBay, PayPal and Magento, an ecommereefstoit platform we acquired in
August 2011, the X.commerce ecosystem provides tbalt are designed to drive innovation for onlmepile, social and local commerce.
Merchants can use these tools to create web statsfrirack sales and collect payments. We alse hawapplication store called Magento
Connect where developers can market and sell addrmtionality and solutions to merchants that adéagento storefront.

Communications

Previously, we had a Communications reportable segnvhich consisted of Skype. Skype offers a wayp#mple around the world to
stay in touch over the Internet through free v@ind video calls, sending instant messages, SM&rftegsaging) or files, and by making low-
cost calls to landline and mobile numbers.

In November 2009, we completed the sale of Sky@ntentity (Buyer) owned and organized by an inwegtoup. As part of the sale,
maintained a 30 percent equity interest in thetanting capital stock of the Buyer. Skype was cbdated with our results of operations
through the date that the sale of Skype was coenhlét October 2011, we sold our remaining equikes in the Buyer to Microsoft Corp. For
additional details related to the sale of Skypeapé see "Note 4 — Skype Related Transactionkétoansolidated financial statements included
in this report.

Competition

We encounter vigorous competition in our businefges numerous sources. For our Marketplaces segraenusers can find, buy, sell
and pay for similar items through a variety of catipg online, mobile and offline channels. Thesgude, but are not limited to, retailers,
distributors, liquidators, import and export comiganauctioneers, catalog and mail-order companlassifieds, directories, search engines,
commerce participants (consumer-to-consumer, bssitteconsumer and businesshbigsiness), shopping channels and networks. As ragupt
offerings continue to broaden into new categorfagems and new commerce formats, we expect to dacktional competition from other
online, mobile and offline channels for those ndferngs. We compete on the basis of price, prodetction and services.

For our Payments segment, our users may choosgy/tthppugh a variety of alternative means, inclgdiredit and debit cards, automated
clearing house and bank wires, other online payrsemnices, offline payment methods such as cagitkchr money order and using mobile
phones. Likewise, our users may elect to finaneé fiurchases through a broad range of other sswftinancing, including credit cards, lines
of credit provided by financial institutions ana& credit or layaway plans provided by merchants.






Our GSI segment faces different competitors fohezfdts two business units. GSI seeks to competthe basis of offering premium
capabilities with a cost advantage. While each $f'&business units competes on a stand-alone &Sisalso seeks to differentiate itself by
cross-selling and bundling services to offer mdteaetive pricing and integrated implementations.

For more information regarding these risks, seartfegmation in “Iltem 1A: Risk Factors” under thaptions “Our industries are intensely
competitive” and “We are subject to regulatoryatfiand antitrust litigation under competition lgw

To compete effectively, we may need to expend Baanit resources in technology and marketing. Tledkets may be expensive and
could reduce our margins and have a materially meveffect on our business, financial position,rafieg results and cash flows and reduce the
trading price of our stock. Despite our effortpteserve and expand the size, diversity and tréinsaactivity of our users and customers and to
enhance the user experience, we may not be abtmtmue to manage our operating expenses or isem@amaintain our revenue to avoid or
reduce a decline in our consolidated net incomevord a net loss.

Seasonality

We expect transaction activity patterns on our webgo mirror general consumer buying patterns. @8l segment is highly seasonal.
The fourth calendar quarter typically accountsdalisproportionate amount of GSl's total annuatnere because consumers increase their
purchases and businesses increase their advetiisagansumers during the fourth quarter holidayseaaPlease see the additional information in
“ltem 7: Management's Discussion and Analysis ofRtcial Condition and Results of Operations” urtlercaption “Seasonality.”

Technology

Our Marketplaces, Payments and GSI platforms atdizombination of proprietary technologies andises as well as technologies and
services provided by others. We have developedivewser interfaces, customer tools and transagirocessing, database and network
applications that help enable our users to reliably securely complete transactions on our sitdhalp GSI's clients to utilize its suite of
services. Our technology infrastructure simplifies storage and processing of large amounts of das#s the deployment and operation of
large-scale global products and services and adgzmauch of the administration of large-scale elissof computers. Our infrastructure has
been designed around industry-standard architexctareeduce downtime in the event of outages @staiphic occurrences. We strive to
continually improve our technology to enhance thst@mer experience and to increase efficiencyabddly and security. For information
regarding technology-related risks, see the infoionan “ltem 1A: Risk Factors” under the captidi8y/stem failures and resulting interruptions
in the availability of our websites and serviceslddharm our business” and “Our failure to coseefively manage certain aspects of our
business could harm us.”

Intellectual Property

We regard the protection of our intellectual prapencluding our trademarks (particularly those/enng the eBay and PayPal names),
patents, copyrights, domain names, trade dressrade secrets as critical to our success. We agjgedg protect our intellectual property rights
by relying on federal, state and common law rightthe U.S. and internationally, as well as a \grad administrative procedures. We also rely
on contractual restrictions to protect our propuigtrights in products and services. We have edtiette confidentiality and invention assignm
agreements with our employees and contractors andisclosure agreements with parties with whom earmact business in order to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary infdiona

We pursue the registration of our domain namedegtrearks, and service marks in the U.S. and intiermety. Additionally, we have filed
U.S. and international patent applications covedadain aspects of our proprietary technologyeéffe trademark, copyright, patent, domain
name, trade dress and trade secret protectiomjisex@ensive to maintain and may require litigatidfe must protect our intellectual property
rights and other proprietary rights in an incregsimmber of jurisdictions, a process that is exppenand time consuming and may not be
successful in every location.

We have registered our core brands as trademadkd@main names in the U.S. and a large numberhef garisdictions and have in ple
an active program to continue to secure trademamlisdomain names that correspond to our brandsiikeats of interest. If we are unable to
protect our trademarks or domain names, we coukdbersely affected in any jurisdiction in whichr ttademarks or domain names are not
registered. We have licensed in the past, and ¢xpédicense in the future, certain of our promigtrights, such as trademarks or copyrighted
material, to others.
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Third parties have from time to time claimed, atloeos may claim in the future, that we have infeddheir intellectual property rights.
We currently are involved in several such legakpetlings. Please see the information in “Iltem gal®roceedings” and in “ltem 1A: Risk
Factors” under the captions "The listing or salebyusers of pirated or counterfeit items may hatmnbusiness,” "We are subject to patent
litigation" and "We may be unable to protect orané our own intellectual property rights adequatel

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we employed approximaély 70 people (including temporary employees), axprately 18,720 of whom
were located in the U.S.

Available Information

Our Internet address is www.ebay.com. Our invesiations website is located at http://investory@@com. We make available free
of charge on our investor relations website underiteading “SEC Filings” our Annual Reports on FA®AK, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to theysarts as soon as reasonably practicable aftérmaterials are electronically filed with
(or furnished to) the SEC. Information containedoon websites is not incorporated by reference thi® Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A:  RISK FACTORS

Risk Factors That May Affect Results of Operatioaad Financial Condition

Our operations and financial results are subjecvéwious risks and uncertainties that could advirsdfect our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, ali a&the trading price of our common stock.

Our operating results have varied on a quarteryysbduring our operating history. Our operatingifssmay fluctuate significantly as a
result of a variety of factors, many of which argside our control. Factors that may affect ourrapieg results include risks described elsew
in this section and the following:

« general economic conditions, including the patisi of a prolonged period of limited economicogrth or possible economic decline
in the U.S. and Europe; adverse effects of the imgggovereign debt crisis in Europe, includingeitpected negative impact on
European economic growth versus the rest of thédywdisruptions to the credit and financial market&urope, the U.S., and
elsewhere; contractions or limited growth in consuspending or consumer credit; and adverse ecanconiditions that may be
specific to the Internet, ecommerce and paymelssinies;

e our ability to retain an active user base, attreet users, and encourage existing users to lissifer sale, purchase items through
websites, or use our payment services, especidignveonsumer spending is weak;

« the primary and secondary effects of previouslyoaimmced and possible future changes to our prigirggucts and policies, includir
among other changes, restrictions or holds on patgmaade to sellers or in connection with certaitegories of higher-risk
transactions; intermediated payments in Germargngés to our dispute resolution process; upgradeBay checkout services,
including the introduction of a new eBay shoppiagttbasket that enables buyers to add items froftipteusellers and pay in a sin
checkout; and recent changes to our fee strudnoieiding the calculation of final value fees basecdthe total amount of the
transaction (including shipping);

e our ability to improve the quality of the user ekpace on our websites and through mobile devireduding our customer support
the event of a problem) in light of the improvedility generally of the user experience offered bsnpetitive merchants;

< consumer confidence in the safety and secufitsaosactions using our websites or technologytheceffect of any changes in our
practices and policies on such confidence;

e our ability to manage the costs of and effectiveiplement our user protection progra

e our ability to comply with existing and new lawsdaregulations, especially those that impact oumfRayts business, as we expanc
range and geographical scope of our services ang agow larger, including those laws and reguleidiscussed below under the
caption "If our Payments business is found to tigesit to or in violation of any laws or regulatigmscluding those governing money
transmission, electronic funds transfers, monegpdaung, counter-terrorist financing, sanctiongjkag and lending, it could be
subject to liability, licensure and regulatory apyal and may be forced to change its businessipest

¢ new laws or regulations (such as the proposed Stline Piracy Act (SOPA) and PROTECT IP Act (Rifaws in the U.S.) and
interpretations of existing laws or regulationglirding national court interpretations of the Ewgap Court of Justice's decision in
L'Oreal case (see “ltem 3: Legal Proceedings” bgltiat impose liability on us for the actions ofr wsers or otherwise harm our
business models, especially as we become moreshciiwolved in transactions on our platforms;

e regulatory and legal actions imposing obligasi@m our businesses or our users, including thumation related to certain cosmetic
and perfume brands (see “ltem 3 — Legal Proceetlingisw);

« the impact on PayPal or Bill Me Later of regidas enacted pursuant to new laws regulating firgiestitutions, including the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Praiaddict in the U.S.;

e our ability to manage the costs of compliance witlsting and new laws and regulations that affecthusinesse

« the volume, velocity, size, timing, monetizationdacompletion rates of transactions using our viebgr technolog

< our ability to reduce the loss of active buyers sallers and increase activity of the users ofMarketplaces business, especially \
respect to our top buyers and sellers;

e our ability to develop product enhancements, pnogtaand features on different platforms (e.g., heotevices, and the availability
PayPal at the retail point of sale) at a reasonadsé and in a timely manner;

« changes to our use of advertising on our ¢

e our ability to upgrade and develop our systeimsli{ding the migration to GSlI's new technologytfaem), infrastructure and
customer service capabilities to accommodate gramthto improve the functionality and reliability @ur websites and services at a
reasonable cost while maintaining 24/7 operations;

« the actions of our competitors, including the idtrotion of new sites, services, products and fonetity;
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« the costs and results of litigation or regulatoetians that involve u

« technical difficulties or service interruptions @lving our websites or services provided to uswrusers by third partie

e our ability to manage the transaction loss rainMarketplaces, Payments and GSI ecommerce ssriigsinesse

e our ability to manage funding costs, credit igld interestate risk associated with our Bill Me Later busmy

e our ability to successfully and cosffectively integrate and manage businesses thatogmire, including GS

« the amount and timing of operating costs andtabgxpenditures relating to the maintenance aquamlsion of our businesses,
operations and infrastructure;

« our ability to comply with the requirements oftdies whose services are required for our openatisuch as payment card networks
and banks;

« the cost and availability of online and traditioadlertising, and the success of our brand buildimdymarketing campaigi

e our ability to attract new personnel in a timelylaffective manner and to retain key employ

< the continued healthy operation of our technolagypdiers and other parties with which we have comnciaérelations

e continued consumer acceptance of the Interrgeamerging consumer acceptance of mobile devicasasdium for ecommerce and
payments in the face of increasing publicity alfoatid, spoofing, phishing, viruses, spyware, maénand other dangers; and

* macroeconomic and geopolitical events affecting rmemce generall

It is difficult for us to forecast the level or soe of our revenues or earnings accurately. In \aéthe rapidly evolving nature of our
business, we believe that period-to-period compagf our operating results may not be meaningfud, you should not rely upon them as an
indication of future performance. We do not havekizg, and substantially all of our net revenuesheguarter come from transactions involv
sales or payments during that quarter. Due tortherent difficulty in forecasting revenues, it isadifficult to forecast income statement
expenses as a percentage of net revenues. Quamergnnual income statement expenses as a peyeaitaet revenues may be significantly
different from historical or projected rates. Opecating results in one or more future quarters fathyoelow the expectations of securities
analysts and investors. In that event, the traghige of our common stock would almost certainlglohe.

We invest heavily in technology, marketing and potion, customer support, protection programs amthéudevelopment of the operati
infrastructure for our core and non-core operati@mne of this investment entails long-term cortralccommitments. As a result, we may be
unable to adjust our spending rapidly enough topmmsate for any unexpected revenue shortfall, wimiaiz harm our profitability.

Growth rates of our Marketplaces businesses in sefar most established markets have been sldveer that for ecommerce generally
and have declined in certain periods. The growtintfrnet users is slowing in many countries whveeehave a significant presence. Despite our
efforts to stem our loss of share in these andratfagkets, we may not be successful. As our groatids in established markets slow, we will
increasingly need to focus on keeping existingsisespecially our top buyers and sellers, activeiacreasing their activity level on our
websites in order to continue to grow our busin&bg. growth of Internet users is accelerating ims@ountries and regions where we do not
have a significant presence (e.g., Brazil/Latin Aicee Russia, China and certain developing cousirievhich we do not have a meaningful (or,
in some cases, any) domestic business), and durefad establish our businesses and drive adopfiour services in such markets would
negatively impact our future growth.

Our Marketplaces business is facing increased ctitiveepressure. In particular, the competitivemdor, and the expected level of
service from, Internet ecommerce websites hasfgignily increased, due to, for example, improvedriexperience, greater ease of buying
goods, lower (or no) shipping costs, faster shigpimes and more favorable return policies. If we @nable to change our services in ways that
reflect the changing demands of the ecommerce nake, particularly the higher growth of saledixéd-price items and higher service levels
(some of which depend on services provided by rsetla our platforms), our business will suffer.

We have announced changes to our Marketplacesdassihat are intended to drive more sales and iepeller efficiency and buyer
experiences. For example, in the U.S., the U.K.@adada, we may request that PayPal place templootdg on seller funds in certain instan
(e.qg., for sellers with a limited selling history lmelow-standard performance ratings), which isnied to help improve seller performance and
increase buyer satisfaction. We have also recanifemented a new payment process in Germany asttiAun which buyers pay eBay
directly for items purchased from newly registesetlers on our localized websites in those cousitaad eBay subsequently pays the seller
subject to confirmation that the item has shippd. may expand the scope of such programs in tiieefaind introduce and implement
additional programs with
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similar aims in different businesses and geograpt8eme of the changes that we have announcededaae been controversial with, and le
dissatisfaction among, our sellers, and additichahges that we announce in the future may alseebatively received by some of our sellers.
This may not only impact the supply of items listedour websites, but because many sellers alsdrboyour sites, it may adversely impact
demand as well. Given the number of recent chatigesve have made to our policies and pricing,dlrrake our sellers some time to fully
assess and adjust to these changes, and sellemsl@styo reduce volume on our sites while makimghsassessments and adjustments or in
response to these changes. If any of these chaagss sellers to move their business (in whole gait) away from our websites or otherwise
fail to improve gross merchandise volume or the benof successful listings, our operating resutid profitability will be harmed.

We believe that the mix of sales under our tradalauction-style listing format and fixgatice listing format will continue to shift towar
our fixed-price format. Accordingly, we have elirated some of the features related to our traditianetion-style format and expect others will
continue to become less meaningful to, and usexdftequently by, our sellers, resulting in a caoeealing decrease in revenues from those
features. We also expect that the costs assoaiatkeaur seller discount programs will increaserase sellers become eligible for such
discounts. In addition, because a large percergbBayPal transactions originate on the eBay platfaeclines in growth rates in major
Marketplaces markets also adversely affect PayBadisth. The expected future growth of our PayB&|, StubHub and our other lower mar
businesses may also cause downward pressure @madiirmargins because those businesses have pwss margins than our Marketplaces
platforms.

The sluggish economy could harm our business.

Our Marketplaces, Payments and GSI ecommerce serbigsinesses are dependent on consumer purchades)r GSI business is also
impacted by the offline businesses of our GSI téiefihe economic downturn resulted in reduced bdgerand and reduced selling prices and
the slow recovery may reduce the volume of purchaseour Marketplaces platforms and the volumeasfdactions paid for using our Payment
services and the online and offline businessesinf3$I clients, any of which would adversely affeat business.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchaatgs and interest rates.

Because we conduct the majority of our businessideithe United States but report our financialitesn U.S. dollars, we face exposure
to adverse movements in currency exchange ratesnmection with its multi-currency service, Payfas exchange rates twice per day, and
may face financial exposure if it incorrectly fixé® exchange rate or if exposure reports are ddlagiven that PayPal also holds some
corporate and customer funds in non-U.S. curreniteefinancial results are affected by the tramstaof these non-U.S. currencies into U.S.
dollars. In addition, the results of operationsrzny of our internationally focused websites angosed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations as
the financial results of the applicable subsidmaee translated from the local currency into W@lars upon consolidation. If the U.S. dollar
weakens against foreign currencies, the translatidhese foreign currency denominated transactidghsesult in increased revenues, operating
expenses and net income. Similarly, if the U.Sladdtrengthens against foreign currencies, owmstedion of foreign currency denominated
transactions will result in lower net revenues,rafing expenses and net income. If the U.S. dobbatinues to strengthen against major
European currencies (e.g., the Euro and Britismgpwhether because of the ongoing sovereign deti$ in Europe or worsening economic
conditions, our revenues and operating results @vbaladversely impacted. For the year ended Deae®ih@011, foreign currency movements
relative to the U.S. dollar positively impacted netenues of $11.7 billion by approximately $20&#lion (net of a $25.9 million negative
impact from hedging activities relating to PayPaés$ revenue) compared to the prior year. As exgphaates vary, net revenues and other
operating results, when translated, may differ migtg from expectations. In particular, to the ent the U.S. dollar strengthens against the E
British pound, Korean won, Australian dollar or @dran dollar, our foreign revenues and profits W#lreduced as a result of these translation
adjustments. While from time to time we enter itansactions to hedge portions of our foreign cuyetranslation exposure, it is impossible to
predict or completely eliminate the effects of thigosure. In addition, to the extent the U.S.atdtrengthens against the Euro, the British
pound, the Australian dollar or other currencieess-border trade related to purchases of dollaounated goods (or goods from Asia-Pacific
countries whose currencies tend to follow the dplkg non-U.S. purchasers will likely decrease, trat decrease will likely not be offset by a
corresponding increase in cross-border trade imvglpurchases by U.S. buyers of goods denominatethier currencies, which would
adversely affect our business. In addition, we faqeosure to fluctuations in interest rates. Reddyilow interest rates have continued to limit
our investment income, including income we earrPagPal customer balances.
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Bill Me Later's operations depend on lending segsiprovided by an unaffiliated lender.

In November 2008, we acquired Bill Me Later, a campthat facilitates credit services offered byuaaffiliated bank. Bill Me Later is
neither a chartered financial institution nor ifdensed to make loans in any state. Accordinglly,Me Later must rely on a bank or licensed
lender to issue the Bill Me Later credit produatsl &xtend credit to customers to offer the Bill Maer service. Currently, when a consumer
makes a purchase using a Bill Me Later credit pebdhe chartered financial institution extendsddreo the consumer, funds the extension of
credit at the point of sale and advances fundedarterchant. We subsequently purchase the reces/addated to the extensions of credit made
by the chartered financial institution and, assulteof the purchase, bear the risk of loss inethent of loan defaults. Although the chartered
financial institution continues to own each custoreount, we own the related receivable and Bél Mter is responsible for all servicing
functions related to the account.

In September 2010, WebBank became the issuer @ithile Later credit products. WebBank is an inttizgd bank chartered by the State
of Utah. Any termination or interruption of WebBaskbility to lend could result in our being unatdeoriginate any new transactions for the
Bill Me Later service, which would require us toher reach a similar arrangement with another ehedtfinancial institution, which may not be
available on favorable terms, if at all, or to abtaur own bank charter, which would be a time-eonigg and costly process and would subject
us to a number of additional laws and regulaticosypliance with which would likely be burdensome.

A lawsuit has been filed against Bill Me Later, Payand eBay in the U.S. District Court for the tiern District of California, alleging
that in its relationship with the chartered finadanstitution, Bill Me Later is acting as the trlender to customers in violation of various
California laws, including the state's usury lakeTcourt dismissed the usury claims in Decembe® 200t breach of contract and other claims
remain. WebBank requested to intervene in the m&ial has been added as a party to the actionpactober 2011, the court transferred the
case to the U.S. District Court for the Districttih. We believe that these allegations are withwoerit and intend to defend ourselves
vigorously. However, this area of law is uncertaimd if the lawsuit is successful, Bill Me Later mag required to change its methods of
operations, pay substantial damages and reduce ahitsecharges and fees, which would likely adegr&ffect our business.

If our Payments business is found to be subjeaot to violation of any laws or regulations, includj those governing money transmission,
electronic funds transfers, money laundering, cetxH#grrorist financing, sanctions, banking and lendiitgcould be subject to liability, licensu
and regulatory approval and may be forced to chaitgbusiness practices.

Our Payments business is subject to various lawsegulations in the U.S. and other countries witesperates, including those
governing money transmission, electronic fundsdiens, money laundering, counter-terrorist finagecganctions, banking and lending. The
legal and regulatory requirements that apply toRayments business vary in the markets where weatgpéVhile PayPal has a compliance
program focused on compliance with applicable lamng regulations and has significantly increasedékeurces of that program in the last
several years, there can be no assurance thatliveote subject to fines or other enforcemenioastin one or more jurisdictions or be requ
to make changes to our business practices or cangaiprograms to comply in the future.

While PayPal currently allows its customers withdit cards to send payments from 190 markets, RPayMaallows customers in 110 of
those markets (including the U.S.) to receive paysién some cases with significant restrictiongl@manner in which customers can
withdraw funds. These limitations may affect Paydability to grow in these markets. Of the 190 kets whose residents can use the PayPal
service, 31 (27 countries plus four French oversleaartments) are members of the European UnidaUJoiSince 2007, PayPal has provided
localized versions of its service to customerhamEU through PayPal (Europe) S.ar.l. et Cie, S&wholly-owned subsidiary of PayPal that is
licensed and subject to regulation as a bank irembourg. Accordingly, PayPal (Europe) is subjedigmificant fines or other enforcement
action if it violates the disclosure, reportingtiamoney laundering, capitalization, funds managetneorporate governance, sanctions or other
requirements imposed on Luxembourg banks. Any foresther enforcement actions imposed by the Luwamndpregulator could adversely
affect PayPal's business. PayPal (Europe) implestienibcalized services in EU countries througpassport” notification process through the
Luxembourg regulator to regulators in other EU mendtates pursuant to EU Directives, and has cdetplbe “passport” notification process
in all EU member countries. The regulators in thementries could notify PayPal (Europe) of locahsomer protection laws that will apply to
business, in addition to Luxembourg consumer ptmtedaw, and could also seek to persuade the Lixoemy regulator to order PayPal
(Europe) to conduct its activities in the local oty through a branch office. These or similar@asi by these regulators could increase the cost
of, or delay, PayPal's plans for expanding itsfiess in EU countries. In addition, national intetptions of regulations implementing the EU
Payments Service Directive, which established a mgulatory regime for payment services provideray be inconsistent, which could make
compliance more costly and operationally diffidoltmanage.
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In Australia, PayPal serves its customers througPRl Australia Pty. Ltd., which is licensed by thestralian Prudential Regulatory
Authority as a purchased payment facility providenjch is a type of authorized depository instiati Accordingly, PayPal Australia is subject
to significant fines or other enforcement actioit ifiolates the disclosure, reporting, anti-moteyndering, capitalization, corporate governance
or other requirements imposed on Australian depositstitutions. In China, PayPal is affiliatedtiviShanghai Wangfuyi Information
Technology Ltd., which is licensed as an Interneht&nt Provider and operates a payments servigef@nChinese customers and only for
transactions denominated in Chinese currency. Eople's Bank of China (PBOC) has recently enaatgdlations to establish a new type of
license, called a Payment Settlement OrganizaB&10)) license, which will be required for non-bamlyment services. The PBOC regulations
leave unclear whether a foreign-owned company sgdPayPal can control or invest in a Payment $stthe Organization, and whether
Wangfuyi or PayPal's wholly-owned subsidiary in i@&hivould be eligible to obtain a PSO license.

To date, PayPal has obtained licenses to operateramey transmitter in 42 U.S. states, the DistficColumbia and Puerto Rico. PayPe
also licensed as an escrow agent in one U.S. Stayal is applying for money transmitter licensefive additional states to facilitate its
planned offering of payment services at the reiiht of sale. The two remaining U.S. states docootently regulate money transmitters. As a
licensed money transmitter, PayPal is subjectstrictions on its investment of customer fundsprépg requirements, bonding requirements,
and inspection by state regulatory agencies. IPRawere found to be in violation of money servilzgs or regulations, PayPal could be suk
to liability and/or additional restrictions (e.tjquidity requirements), forced to cease doing hass with residents of certain states, forced to
change its business practices, or required to mhbidditional licenses or regulatory approvals timatid impose a substantial cost on PayPal. Any
change to PayPal's business practices that ma&egihice less attractive to customers or prohitsitsse by residents of a particular jurisdiction
could also decrease the velocity of trade on eBayveebsites operated by GSl's clients that accayP& as a form of payment, which would
further harm our business. PayPal's Californialagu the California Department of Financial ligtions (DFI), recently notified PayPal that
PayPal's current practice of holding the funds dgdey U.S. customer balances as an agent on behdff customers, rather than as owner of
those funds, causes PayPal to be in violation efitiuidity rules applicable to California monegnismitter licensees. PayPal has establishe
current practice in part to maintain potential iliiity of those funds for pass-through Federal BgipInsurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance
coverage when those funds are placed in U.S. becduats. PayPal has requested the DFI to gramtieewthat would allow PayPal to continue
to hold those funds as an agent or custodian oalbehcustomers and still qualify those fundsigsid assets. If a waiver is not granted, PayPal
would have to change these arrangements to holiitias directly. This would likely disqualify tHands from pass-through FDIC insurance,
and could also result in decreased revenue to P#yPdecides to shift the funds from bank acctauto securities that bear lower interest rates.
Any potential decrease in revenue to PayPal regsuftom this change is not expected to be materkib would also result in these funds, which
are currently not reported as assets owned by PayRaur consolidated balance sheet, moving ontaonsolidated balance sheet (along with
the accompanying liabilities). For additional infaation, please see “Item 7: Management's Discosaial Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” under the caption “Off-Balarisheet Arrangements.” As of December 31, 20Eketfunds totaled approximately $2.7
billion.

In markets other than the U.S., the EU, Austrdlie,China domestic business and Brazil, PayPa&sets customers through PayPal
Private Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of PayPwlttis based in Singapore. PayPal Private Ltcegslated in Singapore as a stored value
issuer. In many of these markets, it is not clebeter PayPal's Singapore-based service is subjbcto Singaporean law or, if it were subject
to local laws, whether such local law would reqa@neayment processor like PayPal to be licensedbask or financial institution or otherwise.
In such markets, the business may rely on partiprstith local banks to process payments and cdrfdueign exchange in local currency.
Local regulators who do not have direct jurisdiotaver Singapordased PayPal Private Ltd. may use their local e¢gny) power to slow or he
payments to local merchants conducted throughatted banking partner. Such regulatory actions irtipgdocal banking partner arrangements
could impose substantial costs and involve conaldlerdelay to the provision or development of PagBevices in that market, or could prevent
PayPal from providing any services in a given markbe Reserve Bank of India has asserted thata'aydffering of payment services to
customers outside of India to send personal, nonatercial payments to recipients in India requirdisense from the Reserve Bank. For a
period of time in 2010, the Reserve Bank directedihdian affiliate of PayPal's processing ban&uspend withdrawals to the Indian bank
accounts of PayPal customers for both personabasihess customers. PayPal has ended personabnunercial payments to and from Indian
accounts and the ability of Indian sellers to speagiments they receive, and has also stopped mgfegrtain commercial payments between
Indian buyers and Indian sellers. In November 2@1® Reserve Bank of India issued guidelines téaméanks on the requirements for
processing export-related transactions for onlimgnpent gateway service providers such as PayR&udimg a limitation on the amount of
individual transactions to no more than $500 (iesezl in October 2011 to $3,000). The Reserve Bakagain impose a suspension if it is not
satisfied with PayPal's and its partner bank'sastio comply with these guidelines. In the evdratry non-compliance, PayPal could be subject
to fines from the Reserve Bank, and PayPal's patspper future business in India, both cross-boetdet domestic, could be materially and
adversely affected.

16




Even if PayPal is not currently required to beriged in some jurisdictions, future localizatiortangeted marketing of PayPal's service or
expansion of the financial products offered by RdyRhether alone, through a commercial alliancthosugh an acquisition) in those countries
could subject PayPal to additional licensure rezraints, laws and regulations and increased regylstoutiny, any of which may harm
PayPal's business. For example, PayPal expecil [tearequired to obtain licenses in Japan andsRut® expand its services in those countries.
There can be no assurance that PayPal will betalabtain such licenses. Even if PayPal were abtibtain such licenses, there would be
substantial costs involved in maintaining suchrses, and PayPal would be subject to fines or @thfercement action if it violates disclosure,
reporting, anti-money laundering, capitalizatioorporate governance or other requirements of suehdes. These factors could impose
substantial costs and involve considerable deldlg¢grovision or development of PayPal's produge&day or failure to receive such a license or
regulatory approval could require PayPal to chatgeusiness practices or features in ways thatdvadversely affect PayPal's expansion pl
and force PayPal to suspend providing productssandces to customers in one or more countries.

PayPal is also subject to various anti-money latingeand counter-terrorist financing laws and ragjohs around the world that prohibit,
among other things, its involvement in transferriing proceeds of criminal activities. PayPal isuked on compliance with these laws and
regulations and has programs designed to comply wétv and existing legal and regulatory requiremdrdbwever, any errors, failures or del
in complying with federal, state or foreign monayhdering and counter-terrorist financing laws daelsult in significant criminal and civil
lawsuits, penalties and forfeiture of significarsets or other enforcement actions. In the UnitateS, PayPal is subject to regulations that
require it to report, within required timeframesspicious activities involving transactions of $X0r more, and may be required to obtain and
keep more detailed records on the senders andeetspn certain transfers of $3,000 or more. Negufations on prepaid access programs
which take full effect in March 2012 will requirefPal to take additional steps to verify the idgnif customers who prieind a PayPal balanc
U.S. regulators have increased scrutiny of comp&aaith these obligations. Existing and new regoiet may require PayPal to revise furthe
compliance program, including the procedures isueeverify the identity of its customers and tontor international and domestic transactic

Several countries in which PayPal is regulateduifing Australia, Luxembourg and Singapore, havpl@mented new anti-money
laundering and counter-terrorist financing laws agllations, and PayPal has had to make changespamcedures in response. In November
2009, the Australian anti-money laundering and ¢euterrorist financing regulator (AUSTRAC) accaptn enforceable undertaking from
PayPal Australia pursuant to which PayPal Austradjeeed, among other things, to appoint an indegr@raiditor to assess PayPal Australia's
anti-money laundering compliance policies and procedanesissue a report identifying any unremediatdatidacies accompanied by a plan
PayPal to remedy any such deficiencies. In thereafible undertaking, AUSTRAC expressed concernRbhgPal Australia did not have syste
and controls in place to manage adequately its sntzuadering and terrorist financing risk. In Sepkeer 2010, the independent auditor
completed its review and issued its report, andPRlpustralia submitted a remediation plan. PayReltralia has invested in improvements to
its anti-money laundering and counter-terrorisafioing systems, policies and operations as pdts cémediation plan. In addition, PayPal
Australia will be required to obtain additional énfnation from customers, verify that informationdamonitor its customers' activities more
closely. As PayPal continues to localize its sevim additional jurisdictions, it could be requite® meet standards similar to or more
burdensome than those in Australia. These requineste®uld impose significant costs on PayPal, cdetsy to other planned product
improvements, make it more difficult for new custmto join its network and reduce the attractigsrngf its products.

Although there have been no definitive interpretadito date, PayPal has taken actions as thougérit&e is subject to the Electronic
Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E of the U.S. Faldeeserve Board. Under such regulations, amaner ahings, PayPal is required to proy
advance disclosure of changes to its service,llmvispecified error resolution procedures andeimburse consumers for losses from certain
transactions not authorized by the consumer. Pagddds to pass most of these losses on to thearglmerchants, but PayPal incurs losses i
merchant does not have sufficient funds in its Rhglecount. Additionally, even technical violatiasfsthese laws can result in penalties of up to
$1,000 for each non-compliant transaction or up300,000 per violation in any class action, ancceveld also be liable for plaintiffs' attorneys'
fees. In the second quarter of 2010, two putati@eseaction lawsuits (Devinda Fernando and Vadiigely. eBay Inc. and PayPal, Inc. and
Moises Zepeda v. PayPal, Inc.) were filed in th8.WDistrict Court in the Northern District of Calihia. These lawsuits contain allegations
related to violations of aspects of the Electrdfind Transfer Act and Regulation E and violatioha previous settlement agreement related to
Regulation E, and/or allege that PayPal impropleelg users' funds or otherwise improperly limitegns' accounts. These lawsuits seek dan
as well as changes to PayPal's practices amongretiedies. A determination that there have beelatwns of the Electronic Fund Transfer
Act, Regulation E or violations of other laws rélgtto PayPal's practices could expose PayPagtofiiant liability. Any changes to PayPal's
practices resulting from these lawsuits could regjRiayPal to incur significant costs and to expamdluct resources, which could delay other
planned product launches or improvements and fukltaem our business.
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Our Bill Me Later service is similarly subject tosariety of laws and regulations. Although we daé adginate loans under the Bill Me
Later service, we do purchase receivables relatéitet consumer loans extended by the bank whidinaties them. One or more jurisdictions
may conclude that the eBay company which purchidmes receivables is a lender or money transnuttéran broker, which could subject us
liability or regulation in such jurisdictions. Agscribed under the caption “Bill Me Later's opemasi depend on lending services provided by an
unaffiliated lender” above, a lawsuit was filed exga Bill Me Later in the U.S. District Court fohé Northern District of California alleging that
in its relationship with the former issuer of thi Ble Later credit products, Bill Me Later was amj as the true lender to customers in violation
of various California laws, including the statessiry law. Additionally, federal regulators could miate changes to the relationship between us
and the issuing bank of the Bill Me Later credibghucts. Any termination or interruption of the isgubank's lending services to consumers
could result in an interruption of Bill Me Laterrsi&es, as described under the caption “Bill Medrat operations depend on lending services
provided by an unaffiliated lender” above.

Given that our Payments business is subject tdaggaos in the manner described above, any detetioim that we have not properly
complied with laws and regulations or any instarineshich we are criminally indicted or found toveaviolated a criminal statute or regulation
could adversely impact our regulatory status in @nmore jurisdictions, which would harm our busise

The listing or sale by our users of pirated or ctasfeit items may harm our business.

We have received in the past, and we anticipateiviag in the future, communications alleging thattain items listed or sold through ¢
service by our users infringe third-party copyrgghtademarks and trade names, or other intelleptoperty rights. See “Item 3: Legal
Proceedings” below. Although we have sought to wamtively with the owners of intellectual propertghts to eliminate listings offering
infringing items on our websites, some rights owrfegave expressed the view that our efforts areffinmnt. Content owners and other
intellectual property rights owners have activedgexted their purported rights against online corigzg including eBay. Allegations of
infringement of intellectual property rights hawsulted in threatened and actual litigation agaisstom time to time by rights owners,
including litigation brought by luxury brand ownessch as Tiffany & Co. in the U.S.; Rolex S.A. @ty Prestige Lancaster Group GmbH in
Germany; Louis Vuitton Malletier and Christian DiGouture in France; and L'Oréal SA, Lancome ParfatrBeauté & Cie and Laboratoire
Garnier & Cie in several European countries. Thaenpiffs in these cases seek to hold eBay liabtefieged counterfeit items listed on our sites
by third parties; for “tester” and other consumerducts labeled in a manner to prevent resale andrfboxed and other allegedly
nonconforming products listed on our sites by tipiadties; for the alleged misuse of trademarksopydghts in listings or otherwise on our sites
and in connection with paid search advertisemdatslleged violations of selective distributionastmel laws or parallel import laws for listings
of authentic items; and for alleged non-complianét@ consumer protection laws. Such plaintiffs sesmkong other remedies, injunctive relief
and damages. In the aggregate, these suits caut e significant damage awards and injunctidrat tould, individually or in the aggregate,
adversely affect our business. There are approgi;a0,000 rights owners in our verified rights @wifVeRO) program, and each rights owner
has anywhere from one to several hundred brandtitBty damages for copyright or trademark violagicould range up to $30,000 per
copyright violation and $100,000 per trademarkafion in the U.S., and may be even higher in ojimsdictions. These and similar suits may
force us to modify our business practices, whichiddower our revenue, increase our costs or makevebsites less convenient to our
customers, any of which could materially harm ousibess. In addition, rights owners have aggrelssaight to reduce the applicability of
limitations to intellectual property rights suchapyright exhaustion and the first sales doctitineases such as Vernor v. Autodesk Inc. (Ninth
Circuit Court of Appeals), Wiley v. Kirtsaeng (SecbCircuit Court of Appeals) and Costco WholesabepCv. Omega S.A. (Sup. Ct.). To the
extent such doctrines are limited, the supply afdgoavailable for resale on our sites may be adiyeedfected.

In addition to litigation from rights owners, we ynbe subject to regulatory, civil or criminal preckngs and penalties if governmental
authorities believe we have aided in the sale ahterfeit goods. While we have had some early ssitedefending against such litigation,
more recent cases have been based, at least jmpaitferent legal theories than those of ead&ses, and there is no guarantee that we will
continue to be successful in defending against §tightion. Plaintiffs in recent cases have argtieat we are not entitled to safe harbors under
the Digital Millennium Copyright Act in the U.S. as a hosting provider in the European Union utiteElectronic Commerce Directive
because of the alleged active nature of our invoksmt with our sellers, and that whether or not safle harbors are available, we should be
found liable because we supposedly have not adelguaimoved listings that are counterfeit or arthantic but allegedly violate trademark or
copyright law or effectively suspended users wheehereated such listings. While we do not belidcneEuropean Court of Justice decision in
the L'Oréal case (see “Item 3: Legal Proceeding#3W) changes the standard for hosting immunityenrtide Electronic Commerce directive,
rights owners in European jurisdictions have asséttiat our degree of participation in the trarieacshould cause us to be unable to take
advantage of the hosting immunity exception. Fieablution of this issue has been left to the maticourts of countries in the European Union.
We are continuously seeking to improve and modify efforts to eliminate counterfeit and piratedritethrough ongoing business initiatives
designed to reduce bad buyer experiences
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and improve customer satisfaction and by responidingw patterns we are seeing among counterfeitetothers committing fraud on our
users. Notwithstanding these efforts, we beliews the legal climate, especially in Europe, is Imeiog more adverse to our positions, which
may require us to take actions which could lowerrenuenues, increase our costs, or make our weleie convenient to our customers, any of
which could materially harm our business. In additia public perception that counterfeit or piratedhs are commonplace on our sites, even if
factually incorrect, would damage our reputatianyér the price our sellers receive for their iteand damage our business.

Content owners and other intellectual propertytagiwners may also seek to bring legal action ajaintities that are peripherally
involved in the sale of infringing items, such ayment companies. To the extent that intellectogberty rights owners bring legal action
against PayPal based upon the use of PayPal's pagemices in a transaction involving the salinfringing items, including on our websites,
our business could be harmed. Several jurisdicti@mve adopted new laws in these areas, and ofteec®asidering imposing additional
restrictions.

In addition, new laws have been proposed reguldtiteynet companies with respect to intellectualpgrty issues. For example, SOPA,
which has been introduced in the U.S. House of &apntatives, and PIPA, which has been proposdetitiS. Senate, would give rights owr
and the government broad powers to bring lawsugitsrst websites accused of enabling or facilitatiogyright infringement, and such lawsuits
could result in, among other consequences, paypremiders such as PayPal being precluded from doirsiness with allegedly infringing sitt
as well as search engines being precluded fronmiinto, and Internet service providers being respliio block access to, such sites. In addition,
the European Commission has reopened the Intedletoperty Enforcement Directive, which could pai@lly increase our exposure to
enforcement actions from rights owners. Impleméonadf these or similar laws could require us tarie our business practices, increase our
compliance costs and harm our business.

We are subject to patent litigation.

We have repeatedly been sued for allegedly infriggither parties' patents. We are a defendanhimeber of patent suits and we have
been notified of several other potential patenputies. We expect that we will increasingly be scije patent infringement claims involving
various aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments &lds&@ments as our services continue to expantbjpesand complexity (e.g., our local,
social, mobile and digital initiatives), as we erganto new businesses, including through acqois#j and as the universe of patent owners who
may claim that we, companies that we have acquaredur customers infringe their patents and trgregate number of patents controlled by
such patent owners correspondingly increases. 8aghs may be brought directly against our compaaigd/or against our customers (whom
we may indemnify either because we are contragtedlligated to do so or as a business matter). Ndeother technology companies have seen
more of these claims from an increasing numbehiod pparties whose sole or primary business isse# such claims. These claims, whether
meritorious or not, are time consuming and costlgesolve, and could require expensive changearimethods of doing business, could req
us to enter into costly royalty or licensing agrees, or could require us to cease conductingicesfzerations.

Use of our services for illegal purposes could haum business.

We may be unable to prevent our users from sellimgwful or stolen goods or unlawful services, ellisg goods or services in an
unlawful manner, and we may be subject to allegatif civil or criminal liability for unlawful actities carried out by users through our
services. We have been subject to several lawisagied upon such allegations. In December 2004xecutive of Baazee.com, our Indian
subsidiary, was arrested in connection with a sidisting of a pornographic video clip on that wigdsWe continue to contest the charges related
to this arrest. Similarly, one of our Korean sulmigs (IAC) and one of its employees were fourithirally liable for listings (which occurred
prior to our acquisition of IAC) on IAC's websifEhe German Federal Supreme Court has ruled thatayehave a duty to take reasonable
measures to prevent prohibited DVDs from being soladur site to minors and that competitors magltle to enforce this duty. In a number of
circumstances, third parties, including governnregtilators and law enforcement officials, havegatéthat our services aid and abet certain
violations of certain laws, including antiscalpilagvs with respect to the resale of tickets, lavgarding the sale of counterfeit items, the fencing
of stolen goods, selective distribution channeldaslistance selling laws and the sale of itemsideitsf the U.S. that are regulated by U.S. ex
controls. As we seek to reduce bad buying expeeieaad improve the customer experience on our, sitedevel of interaction with buyers and
sellers may increase over time, which could in foomease our potential exposure to allegations\wilf or criminal liability for unlawful
activities carried out by users through our semvice

Although we have prohibited the listing of illegald stolen goods and certain high-risk items amleémented other protective measures,
we may be required to spend substantial resouoctedké additional protective measures or discostitertain service offerings, any of which
could harm our business. Any costs incurred asualtref potential liability relating to the alleged actual sale of unlawful goods or the unlav
sale of goods could harm our business. Certain faaturers and
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large retailers have sought new U.S. federal aaté $tgislation regarding stolen goods that cohit lour ability to allow sellers to use our sites
without confirming the source of, and their legghts to sell, the underlying goods. In additianfi time to time we have received significant
media attention relating to the listing or saléllebal goods and stolen goods using our servitbis negative publicity could damage our
reputation, diminish the value of our brand names make users reluctant to use our services.

PayPal's payment system is also susceptible tofiaig illegal or improper uses, including illegahline gambling, fraudulent sales of
goods or services, illicit sales of prescriptiondications or controlled substances, piracy of safew movies, music and other copyrighted or
trademarked goods, money laundering, terrorishftiteg, bank fraud, child pornography traffickingppibited sales of alcoholic beverages or
tobacco products, online securities fraud and eragpng, promoting, facilitating or instructing otedo engage in illegal activities. There has
been an increased focus by rights owners and W\ rgment officials on the role that payments systplay in the sale of, and payment for,
pirated digital goods on the Internet. Recent ckang law have increased the penalties for interaned providing payment services for certain
illegal activities and additional payments-relapedposals are under active consideration by govenmipolicymakers. Despite measures PayPal
has taken to detect and lessen the risk of thid &frconduct, illegal activities could still be fied using PayPal. Any resulting claims, liabilities
or loss of transaction volume could harm our bussne

If our GSI business is unable to enhance its ptatfand migrate clients to its new platform in adignand cost-effective manner, it would
be substantially harmed.

Our GSI business is in the process of enhancingiabdndling the components of its ecommerce andpays platform and migrating its
existing customers to its new platform. This projeosery expensive and time consuming and invosigsificant technical risk. Previously
planned migrations of certain clients to the neatfpkm have been delayed into 2012 and beyondielitcmigrations to the new platform
continue to be delayed, the functionality of thevratform is not accepted by GSI's existing cleot prospective clients targeted by GSI, the
new platform contains an unacceptable amount a§ddws or does not perform or operate as exjgecteGSI fails to meet client
commitments and services level agreements, GStldmikubject to substantial penalties under itseagents with its clients (including
significant financial penalties and terminationhtig for its affected clients), our relationshipshaits clients and their respective businessesdcoul
be substantially harmed, and GSI clients may se¢ériminate their contracts with GSI early base@ctal or proposed breach. Any of these
events or circumstances could materially and a@heeffect our GSI business. Even if accomplishettessfully, this development and
migration project may cost more than expected ke tanger than currently planned, which could haum GSI business.

We are subject to risks associated with informati@seminated through our service.

The law relating to the liability of online serviceompanies for information carried on or dissemeiddahrough their services remains
unsettled in many jurisdictions. Claims could bedmagainst online services companies under bothah&foreign law for defamation, libel,
invasion of privacy, negligence, copyright or tradek infringement, or other theories based on titene and content of the materials
disseminated through their services. Several Eilatsuits seeking to impose liability under a nemtif these theories have been brought
against us, as well as other online service conegain addition, domestic and foreign legislatias been proposed that would prohibit or
impose liability for the transmission over the miet of certain types of information. Our Market®@a service features a Feedback Forum, w
includes information from users regarding othersisalthough all such feedback is generated bysuaed not by us, claims of defamation or
other injury have been made in the past and coailsh&de in the future against us for not removingea posted in the Feedback Forum.

Furthermore, several court decisions arguably maveowed the scope of the immunity provided tonmé¢ service providers like us in the
U.S. under the Communications Decency Act. For etaithe Ninth Circuit has held that certain immymrovisions under the
Communications Decency Act might not apply to tkieet that a website owner materially contributethe development of unlawful content
its website. As our websites evolve, challengebecapplicability of these immunities can be expddb continue. In addition, the Paris Court of
Appeal has ruled in the Louis Vuitton Malletier a@Hristian Dior Couture cases that applicable lpvadecting passive Internet “hosts” from
liability are inapplicable to eBay given that eBastively promotes bidding on its sellers' listiregsl receives a commission on successful
transactions, and is therefore a broker. The ECisida in the L'Oreal case (see “Item 3: Legal Beatings” below) gave broad discretion to
national courts in Europe to determine if Interdnesting immunity applies to eBay. Accordingly, @atential liability to third parties for the
user-provided content on our sites, particularljuiisdictions outside the U.S. where laws govegrlimternet transactions are unsettled, may
increase. If we become liable for information po®d by our users and carried on our service injangdiction in which we operate, we could
be directly harmed and we may be forced to impldémew measures to reduce our exposure to thiditighncluding expending substantial
resources or discontinuing certain service offegjvghich would negatively affect our financial risuln addition, the increased attention
focused upon liability issues as a result of these
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lawsuits and legislative proposals could requiréouscur additional costs and harm our reputaéind our business.
Government inquiries may lead to charges or peesilti

A large number of transactions occur on our websitea daily basis. Government regulators havevedea significant number of
consumer complaints about eBay, PayPal and GSthyhihile small as a percentage of our total tretisas, are large in aggregate numbers
a result, from time to time we have been contabtedarious U.S. and foreign governmental regulatmgncies that have questions about our
operations and the steps we take to protect ous fisan fraud. PayPal has received inquiries regaris restriction and disclosure practices
from the Federal Trade Commission and regardingetlaed other business practices from the attomgp@ysral of a number of states. In
September 2006, PayPal entered into a settlemes¢mgnt with the attorneys general of a numbetadés under which it agreed to pay $1.7
million to the attorneys general, shorten and stigee its user agreement, increase educationalagagssto users about funding choices and
communicate more information regarding protecticogpams to users.

From time to time, we face inquiries from governtnegulators in various jurisdictions related tdi@us that we have taken that are
designed to improve the security of transactiorgsthe quality of the user experience on our websited we may face similar inquiries from
other government regulators in the future. For gxdafin 2008, the Australian Competition and Consu@ommission and the Reserve Bank of
Australia reviewed our policies requiring sellevyoffer PayPal as a payment alternative on mosséetions on our localized Australian website
and precluding sellers from imposing a surchargangrother fee for accepting PayPal or other paymmathods. Other regulators have
requested information concerning PayPal's limitetiof customer accounts. Similarly, Bill Me Latexstfrom time to time received customer
complaints that could result in investigations iBitd Me Later's business practices by state oefatiregulators. As a result of the recent credit
crisis, new laws have been, and additional new kwesregulations are expected to be, adoptedrtipige additional obligations and restricti
on the provision of credit, among other requireraeWe are likely to receive additional inquiriesrfr regulatory agencies in the future,
including under existing or new credit laws or riegions, which may lead to action against us. Weehasponded to all inquiries from
regulatory agencies by describing our current dadmed antifraud efforts, customer support procesiunperating procedures and disclosures of
the relevant business. If one or more of these @getlis not satisfied with our response to curcgrftiture inquiries, we could be subject to
enforcement actions, fines or other penaltiesporefd to change our operating practices in waytscitndd harm our business.

We are subject to general litigation and regulatdigputes.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispute regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordyneourse of business. The number and
significance of these disputes and inquiries haeesiased as our company has grown larger and dipe sand complexity of our businesses has
expanded (e.qg., our local, social, mobile and digititiatives). We have in the past been forcelitigate such claims. We may also become r
vulnerable to third-party claims as laws such asDigital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanham Aahd the Communications Decency Act are
interpreted by the courts as our services to us@TEnues to expand and as we expand geographinadlyurisdictions where the underlying
laws with respect to the potential liability of ord intermediaries such as ourselves are eithdeanor less favorable. We are also subject to
federal, state, local and foreign laws of genepaliaability, including laws regulating working cditions. Any claims or regulatory actions
against us, whether meritorious or not, could tretconsuming, result in costly litigation, damageaels (including statutory damages for
certain causes of action in certain jurisdictiomgynctive relief, or increased costs of doingibess through adverse judgment or settlement,
require us to change our business practices innskwEeways, require significant amounts of managsrtime, result in the diversion of
significant operational resources, or otherwiserhauar business.

Changes to our dispute resolution process coulcemee our costs and loss rate.

Beginning in 2009, we have transitioned buyerhiey.S., U.K. and Germany to a dispute resoluticesflutions”) process provided by
eBay customer support, which now serves as thegpyimntry point for buyers in these countries étlare unable to resolve their disputes with
eBay sellers. Among other things, the resolutiamegss provides that eBay will generally reimbubhsebuyer for the full amount of an item's
purchase price (including original shipping cosits)cases where the item was not received or éme ihey received was different from that
described in the listing, and the seller does movigde adequate resolution to the buyer. eBay #itmpts to recoup amounts paid to the buyer
from the seller's PayPal accounts or through atbbection methods. Our costs associated with tegwris have increased as a result of these
changes to our resolutions policies and procegzlinbecause eBay may not have the same levighaé rof recoupment against sellers as
PayPal, resulting in higher costs to operate tgnam. These changes, together with any furthengdsthat we may make to our resolutions
process in the future, may be negatively receiwedibd lead to dissatisfaction on the part of, sofmeur sellers, and may also result in an
increase in buyer fraud and associated transalctises.
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In the event of the bankruptcy or other businetarinption of a merchant that sells goods or ses/in advance of the date of their
delivery or use (e.g., airline, cruise or concieltdts, custom-made goods, or subscriptions), eBalyor PayPal could be liable to the buyers of
such goods or services, either through its buyateption program or through chargebacks on payenmis used by customers to fund their
payment through PayPal. While we have establisbserves based on assumptions and estimates theglieee are reasonable to cover such
eventualities, these reserves may be insufficiedtaur operating results could be adversely aftecte

Failure to deal effectively with bad transactiomsdacustomer disputes would increase our loss ratetearm our business.

Over the last several years, we have enhancedifer bnd seller protections offered by PayPal itag® eBay marketplaces, and in cer
countries for transactions outside of eBay marlkegs$. These changes to PayPal's buyer and seitection program could result in future
changes and fluctuations in our Payments transatigs rate. For the fiscal years ended Decemhe2@lll and 2010, our Payments transaction
losses (including both direct losses and buyerggtain payouts) totaled $246.4 million and $153illion, representing 0.21% and 0.17 % of
our net total payment volume, respectively. Begigrin 2009, we have also changed the dispute riésolprocess for transactions on eBay.c
eBay.co.uk and eBay.de, as described in greatail dbbve under the captiolhanges to our dispute resolution process coulg@se our cos
and loss rate,” which could result in an increaseur combined eBay and PayPal transaction losses.

PayPal's highly automated and liquid payment sermnakes PayPal an attractive target for fraudohfiguring its service, PayPal
continually strives to maintain the right balanée@ppropriate measures to promote both conveniandesecurity for customers. ldentity thieves
and those committing fraud using stolen credit @ardank account numbers can potentially steaklarmgounts of money from businesses such
as PayPal. We believe that several of PayPal'smuand former competitors in the electronic paytsénsiness have gone out of business or
significantly restricted their businesses largealg do losses from this type of fraud. While Payli&ds advanced anti-fraud technologies, we
expect that technically knowledgeable criminald wdintinue to attempt to circumvent PayPal's aratisfl systems using increasingly
sophisticated methods. From time to time, suchdsters may discover and exploit vulnerabilities thay not immediately be identified and
remediated, which in turn may result in one-timeréases in fraud and associated transaction ldssaddition, because users frequently use the
same passwords for different sites, a data brebahtord party site can result in a spike in traeton losses. Finally, PayPal's service could be
subject to employee fraud or other internal segimieaches, and PayPal may be required to reimloustemers for any funds stolen as a result
of such breaches. Merchants could also requesbresament, or stop using PayPal, if they are aftebly buyer fraud or other types of fraud.

PayPal incurs substantial losses due to claims broyers that merchants have not performed or bigt goods or services do not match
the merchant's description, whether those claiiisge #rom merchant fraud or from an unintentiondufe to perform by the merchant. PayPal
seeks to recover such losses from the merchanimaytnot be able to recover in full if the merchaninwilling or unable to pay. PayPal also
incurs losses from claims that the customer didanhorize the purchase, from buyer fraud, frororeeous transmissions and from customers
who have closed bank accounts or have insuffidiamds in them to satisfy payments. In additionpffses incurred by PayPal related to payment
card transactions become excessive, they couldhtialig result in PayPal losing the right to accppyment cards for payment, which would
materially and adversely affect PayPal's businesis bn and off eBay. In the event that PayPal weble to accept payment cards, the velocity
of trade on eBay and websites operated by GSéatslithat accept PayPal as a form of payment @istddecrease, in which case our business
would further suffer. The Bill Me Later servicessnilarly subject to the risk of fraudulent activiissociated with merchants, users of the Bill
Me Later service and third parties handling itsrusrmation. Our Payments business has taken uness$o detect and reduce the risk of fraud,
but these measures need to be continually impramddnay not be effective against new and contigalblving forms of fraud or in
connection with new product offerings. If these sweas do not succeed, our business will suffer.

eBay faces similar risks with respect to fraudubsettvities on its websites. eBay periodically iges complaints from users who may not
have received the goods that they had purchasednie cases, individuals have been arrested amittenh for fraudulent activities using our
websites. eBay also receives complaints from selidro have not received payment for the goodsalatyer had contracted to purchase. Non-
payment may occur because of miscommunication,useca buyer has changed his or her mind and deomtetd honor the contract to purch
the item, or because the buyer bid on the itemaiaaisly in order to harm either the seller or eBaysome European and Asian jurisdictions,
buyers may also have the right to withdraw fronale snade by a professional seller within a spetifieme period. While eBay can, in some
cases, suspend the accounts of users who failfibtheir payment or delivery obligations to othesers, eBay does not have the ability to
require users to make payment or deliver goodstterwise make users whole other than through oyetbprotection programs. The impact of
changes to our dispute resolutions program impleéeakeineginning in 2009 is discussed in more detava under the caption “Changes to our
dispute resolution process could increase our @atdoss rate.”
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Our limited eBay and PayPal buyer protection prograepresent the means by which we compensatewherbelieve that they have
been defrauded, have not received the item thgtghechased, or have received an item differemt thlat was described. However, users who
pay through PayPal may have reimbursement rigbta their credit card company or bank, which in twith seek recovery from PayPal. eBay
also periodically receives complaints from buyersaathe quality of the goods purchased. We exjpectntinue to receive communications fr
users requesting reimbursement or threateningrantencing legal action against us if no reimbursdrissmade. Our liability for these sort of
claims is only beginning to be clarified in somégdictions and may be higher in some non-U.Sslictions than it is in the U.S. Litigation
involving liability for third-party actions couldebcostly and time consuming for us, divert managgrattention, result in increased costs of
doing business, lead to adverse judgments, orwibeharm our business. In addition, affected usatdikely complain to regulatory agencies
that could take action against us, including impgdines or seeking injunctions.

Negative publicity and user sentiment generateal r@sult of fraudulent or deceptive conduct by sieérour Marketplaces, Payments and
GSi services could damage our reputation, reducalaility to attract new users or retain our cutnesers and diminish the value of our brand
names. We believe that negative user experieneesrar of the primary reasons users stop usingesuices.

From time to time, we have considered more actieelmnisms designed to combat bad buyer experi@mcemcrease buyer satisfaction,
including evaluating sellers on the basis of tirginsaction history and restricting or suspendivairtactivity as a result. For example, in the U.S.
and the U.K., we may request that PayPal holdrskitels in certain instances (e.g., for sellerwaitimited selling history or below-standard
performance ratings), which is intended to helprionp seller performance and increase buyer satisfadVe may expand the scope of such
programs in the future and introduce other progreuitts similar aims in these and other countriesr fDareased usage of these or other
mechanisms to attempt to improve buyer satisfaamrid result in dissatisfaction on the part ofess| loss of share to competing marketplaces,
reduced selection of inventory on our sites anemo#uverse effects.

Governmental regulators worldwide are also evatgadipproaches intended to reduce online fraud. Sdnie current proposals (e.g.,
two-factor authentication in France to verify ans@lentity) could increase our costs or requs¢aichange our business practices in a manner
that could harm our business.

Any factors that reduce cross-border trade couldhhaur business.

Cross-border trade has become an increasingly taposource of both revenue and profits for uss€4eorder transactions using our
websites generally provide higher revenues andsgragins than similar transactions that take phat@n a single country or market. We
generally earn higher transaction fees for croggdraransactions involving PayPal, and our Markeetps business continues to represent a
relatively straightforward way for buyers and sedleo engage in cross-border trade compared whtbr @lternatives. Cross-border trade also
represents our primary (or in some cases, onhggoree in certain markets in which Internet usedkerating and we have a limited (or no)
domestic Marketplaces business (e.g., Brazil/LAtimerica, China, Russia and various developing aes)t

The interpretation and application of specific oaél or regional laws, such as selective distrdnutthannel laws and parallel import laws,
to users in other countries (e.g., the interpretaind application of such laws to the sale of ygrearket” goods) and the potential interpretation
and application of laws of multiple jurisdictiore.g., the jurisdiction of the buyer, the sellerj/an the location of the item being sold) are
extremely complicated in the context of crassder trade, and to the extent any interpretatiompplication of such laws imposes restrictiong
or increases the costs of, purchasing, sellindiimpéng goods across national borders, our busiwesstd be harmed. Any additional factors that
increase the costs of purchasing, selling or shipgbods across national borders make it morecdiffto do so in practice, including
fluctuations in currency exchange rates, delivenyise rates, currency restrictions, export conrels, customs enforcement, court rulings and
tariffs, or that otherwise would result in a nedwetion in cross-border trade on our sites, woudlkasely affect our business.

Our business is subject to online security risksluding security breaches.

Our businesses involve the storage and transmisdiosers' proprietary information, and securitgdwhes could expose us to a risk of
or misuse of this information, litigation and pdiahliability. An increasing number of websiteaciuding several other large Internet compau
have recently disclosed breaches of their secwityne of which have involved sophisticated and lgitdrgeted attacks on portions of their si
Because the techniques used to obtain unauthaaizesks, disable or degrade service, or sabotatarsgjschange frequently and often are not
recognized until launched against a target, we beaynable to anticipate these techniques or toeémeht adequate preventative measures. If an
actual or perceived breach of our security ocquublic perception of the effectiveness of our sggumeasures could be harmed and we could
lose users. A party that is able to circumventsmaurity measures could misappropriate our or earg proprietary
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information, cause interruption in our operatiotesmage our computers or those of our users, orwite damage our reputation and business.
Any compromise of our security could result in alation of applicable privacy and other laws, sigaint legal and financial exposure, damage
to our reputation and a loss of confidence in @ausity measures, which could harm our businesta Becurity breaches may also result from
non-technical means, for example, actions by amggbemployee. GSI's clients also face similarsrisksecurity breaches, and to the extent that
such clients are harmed as a result of a secuydh, GSl's business would also be adverselytatfec

A significant number of our users authorize usititieir payment card accounts directly for aliisaction fees charged by us. For
example, PayPal's users routinely provide credd ead other financial information, and GSI custosrmeutinely provide credit card informati
and other personally identifiable information whigk maintain to facilitate the ease of future teati®ns. We rely on encryption and
authentication technology licensed from third pegtio provide the security and authentication tectifzely secure transmission of confidential
information, including customer payment card nursb@&dvances in computer capabilities, new disc@gein the field of cryptography or other
developments may result in the technology usedship protect transaction data being breached opommised.

Under payment card rules and our contracts withcaml processors, if there is a breach of paymemat information that we store, or that
is stored by PayPal's direct payment card procgssistomers, we could be liable to the payment issuing banks for their cost of issuing new
cards and related expenses. In addition, if wetddibllow payment card industry security standaede&n if customer information has not been
compromised, we could incur significant fines admur ability to give customers the option of ggiayment cards to fund their payments or
pay their fees. If we were unable to accept payroards, our businesses would be seriously damaged.

Our servers are also vulnerable to computer virysegsical or electronic break-ins and similar diigions, and we have experienced
“denial-of-service” type attacks on our system thate, in certain instances, made all or portidrsuo websites unavailable for periods of time.
For example, in December 2010, PayPal was sulgjexseries of distributed “denial of service” alméollowing PayPal's decision to
permanently restrict the account used by WikiLedks to an alleged violation of PayPal's Acceptalde Policy. We may need to expend
significant resources to protect against securigabhes or to address problems caused by breddiese issues are likely to become more
difficult as we expand the number of places wheeeoperate. Security breaches, including any bresagheur security measures or those of
parties with which we have commercial relationskg., our clients and third-party service prov&ehat result in the unauthorized release of
users' personal information, could damage our egjmut and expose us to a risk of loss or litigato possible liability. Our insurance policies
carry low coverage limits, which may not be adegquatreimburse us for losses caused by securigches.

Our users, as well as those of other prominentietecompanies, have been and will continue tabgeted by parties using fraudulent
“spoof” and “phishing” emails to misappropriate pasrds, credit card numbers, or other personatimétion or to introduce viruses or other
malware through “trojan horse” programs to our s'lseomputers. These emails appear to be legitieratéls sent by eBay, PayPal, a GSI client,
or one of our other businesses (e.g., StubHul)y @ user of one of our businesses, but direcpietis to fake websites operated by the sender
of the email or request that the recipient sendssword or other confidential information via enwidownload a program. Despite our effort
mitigate “spoof” and “phishing” emails through prad improvements and user education, “spoof” artdsiping” activities remain a serious
problem that may damage our brands, discouragefusg websites and increase our costs.

Changes in regulations or user concerns regardiriggey and protection of user data could adversdfgct our business.

We are subject to laws relating to the collectiose, retention, security and transfer of persondéwntifiable information about our users,
especially for financial information and for usérsated outside of the U.S. As an entity licensed subject to regulation as a bank in
Luxembourg, PayPal (Europe) S.A.R.L. et Cie, SCALilject to banking secrecy laws. In many casesetlaws apply not only to third-party
transactions, but also to transfers of informabetween ourselves and our subsidiaries, and betagselves, our subsidiaries and other parties
with which we have commercial relations. The intetation and application of user data protectiavslare in a state of flux, and may be
interpreted and applied inconsistently from coumérgountry. The European Union recently proposewd data laws that give customers
additional rights and provide additional restriooon data use by companies and harsher penéliasiis misused. Our current data protection
policies and practices may not be consistent wéth laws and regulations or evolving interpretatiand applications. Complying with these
varying international requirements could causeouadur substantial costs or require us to changéduosiness practices in a manner adverse to
our business.

In addition, we have and post on our websites aur privacy policies and practices concerning thiéection, use and disclosure of user
data. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us tnply with our posted privacy policies or with amgulatory requirements or orders or other
federal, state or international privacy or consupretection-related laws and
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regulations (or, in the case of our GSI business®g such failure or perceived failure on the p&GSI or GSl's clients) could result in
proceedings or actions against us by governmentaies or others (e.g., class action privacy &tign), subject us to significant penalties and
negative publicity, require us to change our bussrgractices, increase our costs and adverselst affe business. For example, the Federal
Trade Commission, or FTC, has recently enteredanta number of consent decrees with major onlimepanies, including Facebook and
Google, to settle allegations of unfair or deceptivivacy practices. The FTC's consent decreesheitletbook and Google require those
companies to implement a comprehensive privacyraragand undergo regular, independent privacy afwlithe next 20 years, among other
requirements.

Certain of our businesses, including GSI's intévaanarketing services business, utilize “behaviorarketing” (generally, the tracking of
a user's online activities) to deliver relevanttem to Internet users. The FTC has released &gbrt with principles to address consumer
privacy issues that may arise from behavioral margeand to encourage industry self-regulation. FR€ also has issued a Staff Report in
December 2010 on consumer privacy policy, propoaisgt of self-regulatory best practices and sépetey recommendations for
consideration by Congress, including institutiorfad not track” mechanisms. Any such regulationkgislation could, if enacted, prohibit the
use of certain technologies, including those treatkt individuals' activities on the Internet or Eation via mobile devices. Such laws and
regulations could restrict our ability to collectdhuse page viewing data and personal informatibich may reduce demand for our services or
require changes to our current business modelghwdduld harm our business.

Data collection, privacy and security have becongestubject of increasing public concern. If Intérred mobile users were to reduce their
use of our websites and services as a result,umindss could be harmed. As noted above, we ayesalgect to the possibility of security
breaches, which themselves may result in a vialadfthese laws.

Our revenue from advertising is subject to factoegond our control.

We derive significant revenue from advertising om websites. Revenues from online advertising ansitive to events and trends that
affect advertising expenditures, such as genew@bs in the economy and changes in consumer spgitidée effectiveness of online advertis
versus offline advertising media and the valuewelbsites provide to advertisers relative to othebsites. The economic downturn adversely
impacted our advertising revenue. In addition, ma@arch engine operators have the ability to chdirogn time to time, at their sole discretion,
the rules and search algorithms governing thermicvailability and placement of online advertisidny changes in these rules or search
algorithms could materially reduce the value thatderive from online advertising on our websitéeg directly or indirectly. For example,
retailers pay a fee to Shopping.com for online peop directed to their websites by our Shopping.e@hbsite. Rule changes made by search
engines beginning in 2008 disrupted traffic to 8aopping.com website, which in turn adversely affdclick-through traffic to retailers from
our Shopping.com website and associated fee revé&tmaly, legislators and regulators in variousgdictions, including the U.S. and the
European Union, are reviewing Internet advertisimagels and the use of user-related data and comgjdaoposals that could restrict or
otherwise impact this business model. If we expegea reduction in our advertising revenues dweztmomic, competitive, regulatory,
technological or other factors, or the renegotiatid the terms of our contracts with major adverjscompanies, or a reduction in our ability to
effectively place advertisements on our sites reragherwise unable to provide value to our adsers, our business and financial results would
suffer.

Our growth will depend on our ability to developrdwands, and these efforts may be costly.

We believe that continuing to strengthen our bramitise critical to achieving widespread accep&nf our services, and will require a
continued focus on active marketing efforts acadkef our brands. We will need to continue to spenbstantial amounts of money on, and
devote substantial resources to, advertising, ntiakeand other efforts to create and maintain édagalty among users. Since 2005, we have
significantly increased the number of brands wesagporting, adding Shopping.com, our classifiethsites (including Den Bla Avis, BilBasen,
Alamaula and Rent.com), StubHub, Bill Me Later, Gked, Milo, WHERE, Red-Laser, Zong and GSI, amotigecs. Each of these brands
requires its own resources, increasing the costsiobranding efforts. Brand promotion activitieaymot yield increased revenues, and even if
they do, any increased revenues may not offsetxpenses incurred in building our brands. Also,anagarch engine operators that we use to
advertise our brands have frequently changing thigisgovern the pricing, availability and placemefonline advertisements (e.g., paid search,
keywords), and changes to these rules could nedpt@ifect our ability to use online advertisinggimmote our brands in a cost-effective
manner. If we fail to promote and maintain our lisror if we incur substantial expenses in an uressful attempt to promote and maintain our
brands, our business would be harmed.
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New and existing regulations could harm our busines

We are subject to the same foreign and domestis &srother companies conducting business on aribeoffiternet. It is not always clear
how existing laws governing issues such as propamtyership, copyrights, trademarks and other iattllal property issues, parallel imports and
distribution controls, taxation, libel and defanoati obscenity and personal privacy apply to orfinsinesses such as ours. The majority of these
laws were adopted prior to the advent of the Irgeamd related technologies and, as a result, toamemplate or address the unique issues of
the Internet and related technologies. Those laasdo reference the Internet, such as the U.StaDidillennium Copyright Act, the U.S.
“CAN-SPAM” Act and the European Union's Directivais Distance Selling and Electronic Commerce, amegoaterpreted by the courts, but
their applicability and scope remain uncertain.olis activities and the types of goods and servisésd on our websites expand, including
through acquisitions such as Bill Me Later and Stub, regulatory agencies or courts may claim odhbat we or our users are subject to
licensure or prohibited from conducting our busgigstheir jurisdiction, either generally or withspect to certain actions (e.g., the sale of real
estate, event tickets, cultural goods, boats atmhzabiles). Recent financial and political eventsynncrease the level of regulatory scrutiny on
large companies in general, and financial servio@spanies in particular, and regulatory agencieg view matters or interpret laws and
regulations differently than they have in the @asd in a manner adverse to our businesses.

Our success and increased visibility has driveneseristing businesses that perceive our businesglnmbe a threat to their business to
raise concerns about our business models to potikgrns and regulators. These established businasddhieir trade association groups employ
significant resources in their efforts to shapel#gal and regulatory regimes in countries wherenaaxe significant operations. They may em|
these resources in an effort to change the leghtegulatory regimes in ways intended to reduceeffextiveness of our businesses and the
ability of users to use our products and servilteparticular, these established businesses hasedraoncerns relating to pricing, parallel
imports, professional seller obligations, selectiigribution networks, stolen goods, copyrightademarks and other intellectual property rights
and the liability of the provider of an Internetnketplace for the conduct of its users relatedhtisé and other issues. Changing the legal or
regulatory regimes in a manner that would increasdiability for third-party listings could nega#ly impact our business.

Over the last few years some large retailers aei ttade associations have sought legislationnaoraber of states and the U.S. Congress
that would make eBay liable for the sale of stglemperty or would ban certain categories of goedmfsale on our platform, including gift
cards and health and beauty products. While no kggslation has passed to date, the proponentincento seek passage of such legislation,
and if any of these laws are adopted they coulcht@ur business.

Numerous states and foreign jurisdictions, inclgdime State of California, where our headquartezdacated, have regulations regarding
“auctions” and the handling of property by “secoandti dealers” or “pawnbrokers.” Several states anaesforeign jurisdictions, including
France, have attempted, and may attempt in thegfutol impose such regulations upon us or our ugétsmpted enforcement of these laws
against some of our users appears to be incredsikgance, we have been sued by Conseil des Vghte§rench auction regulatory authority,
which has alleged that sales on our French websitstitute illegal auctions that cannot be perfatmwéhout its consent. Although we have w
this lawsuit in the lower court, this decision &g appealed. A lawsuit alleging similar claims h&en brought against us by two associations
of French antique dealers, and is now pending peapafter we won this lawsuit in the first instan@Ve intend to vigorously defend against
these lawsuits. However, these and other regulatodylicensure claims and enforcement actions a@ddlt in costly litigation and, if
unsuccessful, we could be required to change tlyawesor our users do business in ways that increases or reduce revenues (for example, by
forcing us to prohibit listings of certain itemsresstrict certain listing formats in some locatipn&/e could also be subject to fines or other
penalties, and any of these outcomes could harrbuginess.

A number of the lawsuits against us relating tderaark issues seek to have our websites subjectfévorable local laws. For example,
“trademark exhaustion” principles provide trademawkners with certain rights to control the saladifranded authentic product until it has been
placed on the market by the trademark holder dn thieé holder's consent. The application of “traddnexhaustion” principles is largely
unsettled in the context of the Internet, andatiBmark owners are able to force us to prohiliibtis of certain items in one or more locations,
our business could be harmed.

As we expand and localize our international adésitwe become obligated to comply with the lawthefcountries or markets in which
we operate. In addition, because our servicesa@mesaible worldwide and we facilitate sales of goand provide services to users worldwide,
one or more jurisdictions may claim that we or osers are required to comply with their laws basethe location of our servers or one or n
of our users, or the location of the product oviger being sold or provided in an ecommerce traimacFor example, in the Louis Vuitton
Malletier litigation, we were found liable in Framaunder French law, for transactions on some ofv@bsites worldwide that did not involve
French buyers or sellers (see “Item 3: Legal Prdicgs” below). Laws regulating Internet and econteerompanies outside of the U.S. may be
less favorable than those in the U.S., giving greaghts to consumers, content owners, competitmars and other third parties. Compliance
may be more costly or may require us to changéuaosiness practices or restrict our service offexjrmgnd the
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imposition of any regulations on us or our usery tm&m our business. In addition, we may be sultfeoverlapping legal or regulatory regimes
that impose conflicting requirements on us (ergcrboss-border trade). Our alleged failure to comth foreign laws could subject us to
penalties ranging from criminal prosecution to #figant fines to bans on our services, in additiothe significant costs we may incur in
defending against such actions.

Following the global financial crisis, U.S. fedelalvmakers enacted legislation in 2010 overhauliregfederal government's oversight of
consumer financial products and systemic risk @hS. financial system. Although the full effe€tloe new legislation will be dependent on
regulations to be adopted by a number of diffeegg@ncies (including the recently created Consurimari€ial Protection Bureau), we expect the
general effect of the financial reform law will terequire PayPal and Bill Me Later to make addiildisclosures to their users and to impose
new restrictions on certain of their activities.€Be new obligations will impose new compliance megoents and obligations on us, increase our
costs and may result in increased litigation, thechto make expensive product changes and othersadimpacts on our business. In addition,
we also expect that the continued implementatioth@ffinancial reform law enacted in 2010 will acsady impact some significant traditional
revenue streams for banks. For example, in Jung,20& Federal Reserve Board issued a final rydpiog debit card interchange fees. As a
result of this and other regulations implementing financial reform law, banks may need to revisgrtbusiness models to remain profitable,
which may lead them to charge more for serviceskvhiere previously provided for free or at lowestcdny resulting increases in service fees
required for PayPal to process transactions (gegvice fees for automated clearing house trarsegtiwould increase our costs and could
adversely affect our business. In addition, in 3ayp2012, the Consumer Financial Protection Bufgsalized new regulations, required by the
Dodd+rank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Which will require PayPal, starting in 2013 pimvide additional disclosures, er
resolution rights and cancellation rights to U.@&sumers who make international payments. Theseregwirements could increase our costs of
processing international payments and could adiyeadfect our business.

Changes to payment card networks or bank feess rolepractices could harm PayPal's business.

PayPal does not directly access payment card nietwsuch as Visa and MasterCard, which enable Paydaeptance of credit cards and
debit cards (including some types of prepaid cais)a result, PayPal must rely on banks or otgnment processors to process transactions,
and must pay fees for this service. From timerteetipayment card networks have increased, and meagase in the future, the interchange fees
and assessments that they charge for each trassasing one of their cards. PayPal's payment marcessors have the right to pass any
increases in interchange fees and assessment®ay®al as well as increase their own fees forgagzing. Changes in interchange fees and
assessments could increase PayPal's operatingacwbteduce its profit margins. In addition, in sojurisdictions, governments have required
Visa and MasterCard to reduce interchange fedsawe opened investigations as to whether Visa @téi@ard's interchange fees and practices
violate antitrust law. In the United States, theaficial reform law enacted in 2010 authorizes tdeFal Reserve Board to regulate debit card
interchange rates and debit card network exclyspribvisions, and in June 2011, the Federal Red®oeed issued a final rule capping debit ¢
interchange fees at significantly lower rates thiésa or MasterCard previously charged. Any mataedlction in credit or debit card
interchange rates in the United States or otheketsaicould jeopardize PayPal's competitive posiigainst traditional credit and debit card
processors. While the regulations adopted by thlikeia Reserve Board in June 2011 do not treat PagPa“payment card network,” future
changes to those regulations or to PayPal's bissgmgd potentially cause PayPal to be treatedpasyment card network, which could subject
PayPal to additional regulation and require Pay®ahange its business practices, which could redayPal's revenue and adversely affect
PayPal's business.

PayPal is required by its processors to comply withment card network operating rules, and Pay&akblgreed to reimburse its proces
for any fines they are assessed by payment canbriet as a result of any rule violations by Pay®dPayPal's customers. The payment card
networks set and interpret the card rules. Paymesk networks could adopt new operating rules -ontexpret existing rules that PayPal or its
processors might find difficult or even impossitbefollow, or costly to implement. As a result, Pay could lose its ability to give customers the
option of using payment cards to fund their paymeat could lose its ability to give customers theice of currency in which they would like
their card to be charged, which would reduce PagPaenues from cross-border trade. If PayPal weable to accept payment cards, its
business would be seriously damaged. In additteyelocity of trade on eBay and websites operbye@SI's clients that accept PayPal as a
form of payment could decrease and our businessdviorther suffer.

PayPal is also required to comply with payment cetdvorks' special operating rules for Internetrpagt services. PayPal and its payn
card processors have implemented specific buspresgsses for merchant customers in order to comipptythese rules, but any failure to
comply could result in fines, the amount of whichukd be within the payment card networks' discretidayPal also could be subject to fines
from payment card networks if it fails to detedttinerchants are engaging in activities that dggal or that are considered “high risk,”
primarily the sale of certain types of digital cent. For “high risk” merchants, PayPal must eig@vent such merchants from using PayPal or
register such merchants with payment
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card networks and conduct additional monitoringhweéspect to such merchants. PayPal has incumed fiom its payment card processors
relating to PayPal's failure to detect the usas$eérvice by “high risk” merchants. The amounthefse fines has not been material, but did
increase in 2011 compared to prior years. Any &t fines in the future would likely be for lamg@mounts, could become material and could
result in a termination of PayPal's ability to guiggayment cards or changes in PayPal's processdistering new customers, which would
seriously damage PayPal's business.

Similarly, consumers of the websites operated bi)/SGHents typically pay for purchases by paymeard or similar payment method.
Accordingly, our GSI ecommerce services businesssaisks similar to the risks described abovdfyPal.

Bill Me Later's operations expose us to additiorisks.

Risks associated with our reliance on an unaféitidender in providing the Bill Me Later service aliscussed in detail under the caption
“Bill Me Later's operations depend on lending seegi provided by an unaffiliated lender” above.

The Bill Me Later service relies on thigghrty merchant processors and payment gatewayedtess transactions. For the fiscal years €
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, approxlynd®% and 67%, respectively, of all transactiofume by dollar amount through the
Bill Me Later service was settled through the fiéieis of a single vendor. Any disruption to thelsied party payment processing and gateway
services would adversely affect the Bill Me Latensce.

The Bill Me Later service is offered to a wide reraf consumers, and the financial success of tiggless depends on the ability of the
issuing bank of the Bill Me Later credit produatshanage credit risk related to those products.|@haer extends credit using Bill Me Later's
proprietary segmentation and credit scoring algorg and other analytical techniques designed ttyzeéhe credit risk of specific customers
based on their past purchasing and payment historwyell as their credit scores. Based on thesepmeaice criteria, the lender may extend or
increase lines of credit to consumers at the pafistle. These algorithms and techniques may rotrately predict the creditworthiness of a
consumer due to inaccurate assumptions aboutiayartconsumer or the economic environment, anathgr factors. The accuracy of the
predictions and the ability of the lender and Bik Later to manage credit risk related to the Blid Later service may also be affected by legal
or regulatory changes (e.g., bankruptcy laws amdmim payment regulations), competitors' actiohgnges in consumer behavior and other
factors. The lender may incorrectly interpret tlagadproduced by these algorithms in setting itditpolicies, which may impact the financial
performance of the Bill Me Later service. In addaliti economic and financial conditions in the U.&ymffect consumer confidence levels and
reduce consumers' ability or willingness to uselityéncluding the credit extended by the lendecansumers who use the Bill Me Later service,
which could impair the growth and profitability tifis business.

We anticipate that the volume of credit extended\BbBank (the financial institution issuing thelBile Later credit products) will
increase as we continue to enable qualified buyérsa PayPal account to use Bill Me Later as anpayt funding option for transactions on
eBay.com and on certain merchant websites thapa&@y/Pal. We purchase the receivables relatitigetse consumer loans extended by the
issuing bank, and therefore bear the risk of Ibd® other businesses with significant exposurm$ses from consumer credit, the Bill Me Later
service faces the risk that account holders withdk on their payment obligations, making the reabkles uncollectible and creating the risk of
potential charge-offs. The rate at which receivallere charged off as uncollectible, or the netghaff rate, was approximately 4.46% and
7.71%, respectively, for the fiscal years endeddbawmer 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010. The nonpayateramong Bill Me Later users may
increase due to, among other things, worseningaunanconditions, such as a recession in the Urfsl hégh unemployment rates. Consumers
who miss payments on their obligations often fait¢pay them, and consumers who file for protectioder the bankruptcy laws generally do
not repay their credit.

We currently fund the purchase of receivables eélad Bill Me Later accounts through the sale ahotercial paper, our cash balances
free cash flow generated from our portfolio of mesises. Effective September 1, 2010, we have futmegurchase of receivables generated
through new Bill Me Later accounts using funds frour international subsidiaries, and this fundisidgicilitated through our Luxembourg-based
bank. A downgrade in our credit ratings, particiylaur short-term credit ratings, would likely remuthe amount of commercial paper we could
issue (or, in certain circumstances, could preusrftom making commercial paper borrowings), inseeaur commercial paper borrowing costs,
or both. If we are unable to fund our purchasesoéivables related to the Bill Me Later businessqaitely or in a cost-effective manner, the
growth and profitability of this business would &ignificantly and adversely affected.

Additionally, in providing the Bill Me Later servi; we face other risks similar to those faced byFRahdescribed elsewhere in these Risk
Factors, including under the captions “Governmequiries may lead to charges or penalties” anaulif Payments business is found to be
subject to or in violation of any laws or regulaiéy including those governing money transmissitetteonic funds transfer, money laundering,
counter-terrorist financing, banking and lendingiauld be subject
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to liability, licensure and regulatory approval andy be forced to change its business practices.”

Changes in PayPal's funding mix could adverselgcafPayPal's results.

PayPal pays significant transaction fees when austs fund payment transactions using credit céodser fees when customers fund
payments with debit cards, nominal fees when custsriund payment transactions by electronic traraffunds from bank accounts, and no
fees when customers fund payment transactions &mexisting PayPal account balance or through thé&/B Later service, or use buyer credit
issued by GE Money Bank. Customers fund a sigmifigartion of PayPal's payment volume using cradd debit cards, and PayPal's financial
success will remain highly sensitive to changeth@rate at which its senders fund payments usieditcand debit cards. Customers may prefer
funding payment transactions using credit card$edit cards rather than bank account transfera farmber of reasons, including the ability to
dispute and reverse charges directly with theimpayt card provider if merchandise is not delivese not as described, the ability to earn
frequent flier miles, cash rebates, or other inwestoffered by payment card issuers, the abitityéfer payment, or a reluctance to provide bank
account information to PayPal. In addition, som@ayPal's offerings, including the ability for buy¢o make a limited number of payments
without opening a PayPal account, have a higherabpayment card funding than PayPal's basic mtooftering.

PayPal's failure to manage customer funds propeoyld harm its business.

PayPal's ability to manage and account accuratelguistomer funds requires a high level of inteomadtrols. In some of the markets that
PayPal serves and currencies that PayPal offey®dPhas a limited operating history and limitednagement experience in managing these
internal controls. As PayPal's business continaggdw, it must continue to strengthen its intecwitrols accordingly. PayPal's success req
significant public confidence in its ability to hdle large and growing transaction volumes and artsoofncustomer funds. Any failure to
maintain necessary controls or to manage custonmeisfaccurately could severely diminish customeraiPayPal's products.

Systems failures and resulting interruptions in dvailability of our websites or services could imaour business.

We have experienced system failures from timente tiand any interruption in the availability of awebsites will reduce our current
revenues and profits, could harm our future reveraual profits and could subject us to regulatorytsty. Our eBay.com website has been
interrupted for periods of up to 22 hours. In Nob&m2009, technical systems issues resulted in.eBayusers being unable to search for listed
items for a period of several hours. Our PayPalsitethas suffered intermittent unavailability faripds as long as five days, including
unavailability for approximately three hours affagtpayments primarily on our ebay.co.uk site iny\2811. Other of our websites (e.g.,
StubHub, Milo and others), as well as websites 8f Gients and hosted services offered by GSleradtive marketing services business, have
experienced intermittent unavailability from timetime. Any unscheduled interruption in our sersicesults in an immediate, and possibly
substantial, loss of revenues, as well as poteseialice credits or other payments by GSI to ient$. Frequent or persistent interruptions in our
services could cause current or potential usebglieve that our systems are unreliable, leadiegitto switch to our competitors or to avoid our
sites, and could permanently harm our reputatiahtaands. Reliability is particularly critical férayPal, especially as it seeks to expand its
Merchant Services business and faces increasedtetipes on the part of users and merchants ragatte full-time availability of PayPal's
services. Because PayPal is a regulated finamgttution, frequent or persistent site interrupicould lead to fines, penalties, or mandatory
and costly changes to PayPal's business practindgjltimately could cause PayPal to lose exidtoepnses it needs to operate or prevent it from
obtaining additional licenses that it needs to exb#&inally, because our customers may use ourygtedor critical transactions, any system
failures could result in damage to our customarsinesses. These customers could seek significampensation from us for their losses. Eve
unsuccessful, this type of claim likely would be¢-consuming and costly for us to address.

Although our systems have been designed aroundtindstandard architectures to reduce downtime in tleateof outages or catastropl
occurrences, they remain vulnerable to damageterruption from earthquakes, floods, fires, povess| telecommunication failures, terrorist
attacks, cyber attacks, computer viruses, compigeial-ofservice attacks, human error, hardware or softaafects or malfunctions (includir
defects or malfunctions of components of our systtmat are supplied by third-party service prowéjleand similar events or disruptions. Some
of our systems, including our Shopping.com welesité the systems related to the Bill Me Later busspare not fully redundant, and our
disaster recovery planning is not sufficient fdrealentualities. Our systems are also subject¢albins, sabotage, and intentional acts of
vandalism. Despite any precautions we may takeptiearrence of a natural disaster, a decision lyyo&our third-party hosting providers to
close a facility we use without adequate noticefiftancial or other reasons, or other unanticipgedblems at our hosting facilities could cause
system interruptions and delays, and result in ddgsitical data and lengthy interruptions in @@rvices. We do not carry business interruption
insurance sufficient to compensate us for lossatsrttay result from interruptions in our service
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as a result of system failures.
If we are unable to cost-effectively upgrade angbexl our websites and platforms, our business wsutfér.

We must constantly add new hardware, update saftemad add new engineering personnel to accommtuatacreased use of our
websites and platforms, and the new products aatdres we regularly introduce. As our PayPal bissirmentinues to grow, we are focused on
updating our PayPal platform to provide increasedes improved performance and additional builteinctionality addressing regulatory
compliance matters (e.g., anti-money laundering)s Tipgrade process is expensive and time-consymirtgthe increased complexity of our
websites and the need to support multiple platfameur portfolio of brands grows increases thé @badditional enhancements. Failure to
upgrade our technology, features, transaction gEirg systems, security infrastructure, or netwofilastructure in a timely and cost-effective
manner to accommodate increased traffic or traisaeblume or changes to our site functionality Iddoerm our business. Adverse
consequences could include unanticipated systempdisns, slower response times, degradation ieléeof customer support, impaired quality
of users' experiences of our services, impaireditguat services for third-party application devpkrs using our externally accessible application
programming interfaces and delays in reporting eateufinancial information, and could result in user dissatisfaction and the loss of exis
users on our websites. We may be unable to effdgtiyograde and expand our systems in a timely eramnsmoothly integrate any newly
developed or purchased technologies or businesgie®w existing systems, and any failure to d@sold result in problems on our sites.
Further, steps to increase the reliability and nelduncy of our systems are expensive, reduce owginsaand may not be successful in reducing
the frequency or duration of unscheduled downtime.

Risks associated with our ongoing efforts to enbaartd unbundle the components of GSI's ecommertpaments platform and to
migrate GSl's existing customers to its new platfare discussed in detail under the caption “If @& business is unable to enhance its
platform and migrate clients to its new platformaitimely and cost-effective manner, it would bbstantially harmed” above.

There are many risks associated with our internelcoperations.

Our international expansion has been rapid andm@mational business, especially in Germany, Kamed the U.K., has also become
critical to our revenues and profits. Net revenogiside the U.S. accounted for approximately 53% %4 of our net revenues in the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, @&3p@ctively.

Expansion into international markets, such as atnyénto Turkey in May 2011 upon the completiononfr acquisition of additional shar
in GittiGidiyor and PayPal's entry into emergingrkeds, requires management attention and resoaraksequires us to localize our services to
conform to local cultures, standards and policlége commercial, financial, Internet, and transpatainfrastructure in lesser-developed
countries may make it more difficult for us to riepte our business models. In many countries, wepete with local companies that understand
the local market better than we do, and we mayaotfit from first-tomarket advantages. We may not be successful imelipginto particula
international markets or in generating revenuesfforeign operations. For example, in 2002 we witldour eBay marketplace offering from
the Japanese market, and in 2007 we contributebuminess in China to a joint venture with a Id€hinese company. Even if we are successful
in developing new markets, we often expect thescokbperating new sites to exceed our net revefiaesthose sites for at least 12 months in
most countries.

As we continue to expand our businesses interratignncluding through acquisitions, we are in@iegly subject to risks of doing
business internationally, including the following:

e strong local competitor

« regulatory requirements, including regulatiorir@ernet and mobile services, auctioneering, msifnal selling, distance selling,
privacy and data protection, banking and moneystratting, that may limit or prevent the offeringadr services in some
jurisdictions, prevent enforceable agreements batveellers and buyers, prohibit the listing of @ertategories of goods, requ
product changes, require special licensure, subgtd various taxes, penalties or audits, or Ilthettransfer of information between
us and our affiliates;

e greater liability or legal uncertainty regardiogr liability for the listings and other conterbpided by our users, including
uncertainty as a result of legal systems thatese tleveloped with respect to the Internet, urlioga laws, conflicting court
decisions and lack of clear precedent or applickivie

< cultural ambivalence towards, or naoceeptance of, trading or payments over the Intemnthrough mobile device

« laws and business practices that favor local cortepgtor prohibit or limit foreign ownership of ¢ain businesse

- difficulties in integrating with local payment priders, including banks, credit and debit card neks@nc

30




electronic fund transfer systems;

« differing levels of retail distribution, shippingnd Internet and mobile infrastructur

- different employee/employer relationships and ldbws, and the existence of workers' councils abdid unions

« difficulties in staffing and managing foreign opioas;

e challenges associated with joint venture relatiggshnd minority investments, including dependemc®ur joint venture partne

« difficulties in implementing and maintaining adetpiaternal control:

* longer payment cycles, different accounting pradiand greater problems in collecting accountsvak

« potentially adverse tax consequences, includingl ltaxation of our fees or of transactions on oabsites

¢ higher Internet service provider co

« different and more stringent user protection, getdection, privacy and other lav

» seasonal reductions in business acti

« expenses associated with localizing our produstduding offering customers the ability to transhgsiness in the local curren

« foreign exchange rate fluctuatio

e our ability to repatriate funds from abroad withadiverse tax consequenc

« the possibility that foreign governments may imposgency controls or other restrictions on theatgption of funds

< volatility in a specific country's or region'sljtical, economic or military conditions (e.g., 8outh Korea relating to its disputes with
North Korea);

« challenges associated with maintaining relatiorskifth local law enforcement and related agen

« potentially higher incidence of fraud and corruptend higher credit and transaction loss risks

« differing intellectual property law

Some of these factors may cause our internatiarss ©f doing business to exceed our comparablesdirrcosts. As we expand our
international operations and have additional pagiof our international revenues denominated iaifpr currencies, we also could become
subject to increased difficulties in collecting agots receivable and repatriating money withoueask tax consequences, as well as increased
risks relating to foreign currency exchange ratetfiations. The impact of currency exchange raigdhations on our business is discussed in
more detail under the caption “We are exposedutctdiations in currency exchange rates and inteaéss” above.

In addition, we conduct certain functions, incluglpproduct development, customer support and otheradions, in regions outside the
U.S., particularly in India and China. We are sabje both U.S. and local laws and regulations iapple to our offshore activities, and any
factors which reduce the anticipated benefits aatet with providing these functions outside of thé., including cost efficiencies and
productivity improvements, could adversely affeat business.

We maintain a portion of Shopping.com's researchdmvelopment facilities and personnel in Israeti have acquired other Israeli
companies. Political, economic and military coratis in Israel affect those operations. The futdneeace efforts between Israel and its
neighboring countries remains uncertain. Incredwseilities or terrorism within Israel or armed lilitles between Israel and neighboring
countries or other entities could make it moreidlifit for us to continue our operations in Isragich could increase our costs. In addition, n
of our employees in Israel could be required teean the military for extended periods of time eneémergency circumstances. Our Israeli
operations could be disrupted by the absence ofm@es due to military service, which could advirséfect our business.

Acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic investtaeould result in operating difficulties, dilutipand other harmful consequences.

We have acquired a significant number of busingdsebnologies, services and products, includingg G®nmerce, Inc. (which provides
ecommerce and interactive marketing services), Miag@n open source ecommerce platform provided)zomg (which provides payments
through mobile carrier billing). We expect to conté to evaluate and consider a wide array of piatesitategic transactions as part of our
overall business strategy, including business coatlins, acquisitions and dispositions of businggsehnologies, services, products and other
assets, as well as strategic investments andyjeirtres. At any given time we may be engagedsaudisions or negotiations with respect to one
or more of these types of transactions. Any ofehesnsactions could be material to our finanadaldition and results of operations.
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These transactions involve significant challengesrisks. Some of the areas where we may facecdifiies include:

« the need to integrate the operations, systematufling accounting, management, information, hunesource and other
administrative systems), technologies, productsmardonnel of each acquired company, which isfigseinherently risky process;
the inefficiencies and lack of control that mayule#f such integration is delayed or not implenmeshtand unforeseen difficulties and
expenditures that may arise in connection withgragon;

< diversion of management time, as well as a siifocus from operating the businesses to isselased to integration and
administration, particularly given the number, stzel varying scope of our recent acquisitions;

< declining employee morale and retention isseeslting from changes in, or acceleration of, conspéion, or changes in
management, reporting relationships, future praspec the direction of the business;

« the need to implement controls, procedures atidips appropriate for a larger public compang@npanies that prior to acquisition
had lacked such controls, procedures and policies;

»  risks associated with our expansion into newrimtional markets and doing business internatipriatluding those described under
the risk factor caption "There are many risks aisged with our international operations" above;

< difficulties in entering new markets where wesdao or limited direct prior experience or wheoenpetitors may have stronger
market positions;

¢ inthe case of foreign acquisitions, the neehtegrate operations across different cultureslanduages and to address the particular
economic, currency, political and regulatory rislssociated with specific countries;

« the potential loss of key customers, vendorsathdr business partners of the companies we actpliowing and continuing after
announcement of our acquisition plans;

e in some cases, the need to transition operati@esswand customers onto our existing or new platpan:

< liability for activities of the acquired compabgfore the acquisition, including intellectual peoty and other litigation claims or
disputes, violations of laws, rules and regulatjamnmercial disputes, tax liabilities and otheowmn and unknown liabilities.

It may take us longer than expected to fully reatlze anticipated benefits, such as increased vevand enhanced efficiencies, of any ¢
of our acquisitions, or those benefits may ultimabe smaller than anticipated, or may not be redliat all, which could adversely affect our
business and operating results. Future acquisititasalso require us to issue additional equityigges, spend our cash, or incur debt (and
increased interest expense), liabilities and amatitn expenses related to intangible assets ¢ewffs of goodwill, which could adversely
affect our results of operations and dilute thenemoic and voting rights of our stockholders.

In addition, we have made certain investmentsuutiolg through joint ventures, in which we have aaonity equity interest and lack
management and operational control. The contro|bingt venture partner in a joint venture investineray have business interests, strategies or
goals that are inconsistent with ours, and busidesssions or other actions or omissions of thearedlimg joint venture partner or the joint
venture company may result in harm to our reputatioadversely affect the value of our investmarthe joint venture. Our strategic
investments may expose us to additional risks.example, GSI's minority interest in Intershop Cominations AG is governed by German
law, which could subject us to liability for cemadisadvantages to Intershop if we were deemee ia bontrol of Intershop under German law.
We have also been sued by craigslist, which hagedl that we improperly misused confidential infation from craigslist that we received as a
minority investor.

Our acquisition of GSI Commerce, Inc. exposes aslthtional risks.

Our GSI business faces certain risks and challengeshared by our other businesses, includingetidescribed under the risk factor
captions "If our GSI business is unable to enhatsagglatform and migrate clients to that new platidn a timely and cost-effective manner, it
would be substantially harmed" and "Changes inlegiguns or user concerns regarding privacy andegtan of user data could adversely affect
our business."

Competition for GSl's existing and potential clieig intense, and our GSI business may not betalsldd new clients or keep existing
clients on favorable terms, or at all. For exampalehange in the management of a GSI client callergely affect our relationship with that
client. In addition, many of GSl's client contractsitain service level commitments. If our GSI besis is unable to meet these commitments, its
relationships with its clients could be damagedi @ient rights to terminate their contracts witBI@&nd/or financial penalty provisions payable
by GSI may be triggered. If any existing GSI cleentere to exit the business we provide serviceBd@cquired, declare bankruptcy, suffer o
financial difficulties, fail to pay amounts owed &SI and/or terminate or modify their relationshigigh GSI in a manner unfavorable to us (in
particular with respect to the large merchantstamadids that GSI serves), our GSI business coulttiisersely affected.
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A portion of GSI's ecommerce services revenue livelé from the value of ecommerce transactionsfibat through GSI's ecommerce
services business. Accordingly, growth in GSl'sneg®rce services revenue depends upon the contgroadh of the online businesses of its
clients. GSI's ecommerce services business mayhstantially impacted by any adverse conditionthéoffline businesses of a GSI client that
negatively impact that client's online businesges. impairment of the offline business of GSI cigrnwhether due to financial difficulties,
impairment of client brands, reduction in marketéeftprts, reduction in the number of client restibres or otherwise, could negatively affect
consumer traffic and sales through GSl's cliengdsites, which would result in lower revenues gateet by our GSI business. Our GSI business
also relies on its clients' ability to accuratadydcast product demand and select and buy thetioyefor their corresponding online businesses.
Under such arrangements, the client establisheiipt@rices and pays GSI service fees based aitharfixed or variable percentage of
revenues, or on the activity performed. As a re#uSl's clients fail to accurately forecast puotidemand or optimize or maintain access to
inventory, the client's ecommerce business (antlirim GSl's service fees) could be adversely &ftec

Our GSI business holds inventory on behalf of isnremerce services customers. If GSI is unablefextfely manage and handle this
inventory, this may result in unexpected costs tioatd adversely affect our GSI business. Any tbéfuch inventory, or damage or interruption
to such inventory, including as a result of eartiigs, floods, fire, power loss, labor disputesotést attacks and similar events and disruptions,
could result in losses related to such inventory @isruptions to GSlI's customers' businesses, wduakd in turn adversely affect our GSI
business.

GSl's interactive marketing services businesssan email marketing to drive consumer traffith® websites operated by its clients.
Email could become a less effective means of conirating with and marketing to consumers for a \grad reasons, including the following:
problems with technology that make GSl's email camications more difficult to deliver and for consemrs to read (e.g., the inability of smart
phones or similar communication devices to adedydisplay email); consumers may disregard markeémails due to the large volume of
such emails they receive; the inability of filteéeseffectively screen for unwanted emails, resglimincreased levels of junk mail, or “SPAM,”
which may overwhelm consumer's email accountseesed use of social networking sites, which maylré@sdecreased use of email as a
primary means of communication; continued secwitycerns regarding Internet usage in general frous®s, worms or similar problems; and
increased governmental regulation or restrictiviicies adopted by Internet service providers thakenit more difficult or costly to utilize email
for marketing communications. If any of our GSliges were to end up on SPAM lists or lists of et that have been involved in sending
unwanted, unsolicited emails, their ability to @ettcustomers through email could be significarghtricted. If any of the foregoing were to
occur, the demand for GSl's email marketing sohgticould decrease and our GSI business could beekdaiGSl's interactive marketing servi
business also utilizes mobile messaging as a nefassnmunicating with consumers, which carriessisknilar to the risks described above for
email marketing.

Our GSI business has relationships with searchnesgcomparison shopping sites, affiliate marketarne advertising networks and
other websites to provide content, advertising leasmand other links to its clients' ecommerce kassas. Our GSI business relies on these
relationships as significant sources of trafficlients' ecommerce businesses. If we are unabtetotain these relationships or enter into new
relationships on acceptable terms, our abilityttcaat new customers could be harmed.

Immediately following our acquisition of GSI, eBagld 100% of GSI's sports merchandise busines§@¥dof its RueLalLa and
ShopRunner businesses (which we refer to colldgta® the divested entities), to Kynetic LLC, whigk refer to as Kynetic. Kynetic is
primarily owned by GSl's former Chairman, Presideamd Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Michael Rubin.dbBaof the divested entities was a direct
or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of GSI Commerbeconnection with (and as a result of) the diiese to Kynetic, our GSI business
maintains certain commercial and financial relagtips with the divested entities which expose ité¢dain risks of the businesses of Kynetic
the divested entities.

As part of the Kynetic divestiture, we loaned Kyioetnd the divested entities $467 million, whiclsésured by certain assets of the
divested entities. Kynetic and the divested eitiility to repay this obligation is dependentioa financial performance of Kynetic and the
divested entities. If Kynetic is unable to repaig thbligation, our results of operations and firiahcondition could be harmed.

Finally, our GSI business is also party to certaiquisition agreements relating to entities puretdsy GSI prior to our acquisition, and
which relate to businesses owned by the divestttiesn Kynetic has agreed to indemnify GSI fortaér liabilities incurred by GSI under these
acquisition agreements. If such liabilities weralimed and Kynetic was not able or willing to mistindemnification obligations, GSI would be
liable for them and its business could be harmed.
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Our business and users may be subject to salemn@dother taxes.

The application of indirect taxes (such as salesum® tax, value-added tax (VAT), goods and sesviae, business tax and gross receipt
tax) to ecommerce businesses such as eBay and tsens is a complex and evolving issue. Many efftindamental statutes and regulations
that impose these taxes were established befordity@ion and growth of the Internet and ecommeércmany cases, it is not clear how exist
statutes apply to the Internet or ecommerce. litiadd some jurisdictions have implemented or nmaplement laws specifically addressing the
Internet or some aspect of ecommerce. For exaripdeState of New York has passed legislation thatires any out-of-state seller of tangible
personal property to collect and remit New York teseif the seller engages affiliates above cerfimiancial thresholds in New York to perform
certain business promotion activities. Several enence companies are challenging this new law. e 3011, California enacted legislation
(ABx1 28) that requires certain out-of-state retlto collect and remit California use tax on ta@asales to California purchasers when the
retailer has a relationship with a person in Catifa that refers customers to the retailer. In Seyier 2011, the California Governor signed into
law AB 155, which supersedes ABx1 28 and delaysntiptementation of such collection and remittaneguirements until September 2012 or
January 2013 (depending on whether or not the CoBgress enacts legislation in this area). The @ealifornia law is similar to the law passed
in New York, but provides exclusions for certaimnfis of Internet marketing and is limited to reteslevho exceed prescribed sales volume
thresholds. However, if our sellers who are natadly required to collect California sales or usebigieve that their use of our websites requires
them to collect California use tax, they may etedimit their use of our websites rather than edilthe tax, which would harm our business.
North Carolina, Rhode Island, Illinois, Arkansasl&outh Dakota have also enacted similar lawsaelat affiliates, and a number of other st
appear to be considering similar legislation. Temion of such legislation by states where eBaydignificant operations that perform certain
business promotion activities could result in atasecollection responsibility for certain of owelkers. This collection responsibility and the
additional costs associated with complex use téeaton, remittance and audit requirements woultkenselling on our websites less attractive
for small business retailers, and would harm owiress.

The State of Colorado has enacted legislationtttkats a different approach by imposing a set otas@otice and reporting requirements
(but not the actual tax collection responsibility) certain retailers with no physical presenceao@do. The law is designed to aid Colorado in
collecting use tax from Colorado residents who pase taxable items from out-of-state retailers. rEgeilation promulgated by the Colorado
Department of Revenue excludes from these repoafitigations businesses that sell $100,000 orifgsshe state in a calendar year, thus
limiting the impact on our sellers. The law hasrbeballenged in Federal Court by a number of otdtafe retailers and a Federal District Court
has issued an injunction blocking enforcement efrgulations pending a resolution of the casealikha has enacted a similar law. While the
recent laws in New York, North Carolina, Rhode figlalllinois, Arkansas, South Dakota, Oklahoma @uadbrado do not specifically apply to
our business, the proliferation of such state latia, to expand sales and use tax collectiomberhet sales, could adversely affect some of our
sellers and indirectly harm our business.

In conjunction with the Streamlined Sales Tax Ribje- an ongoing, multi-year effort by U.S. stategddocal governments to require
collection and remittance of remote sales tax Byoftstate sellers — S. 1452 and H.R. 2701, U.8a&eand U.S. House versions of the Main
Street Fairness Act, have been introduced in tl2d"Cbngress. These measures would allow states thetaagain simplification and other
standards to require out-of-state sellers to coded remit sales taxes on goods purchased bwia-stsidents. Sellers meeting an as yet
undefined small seller exception would be exclufteth the requirements of the Act. Other legislatiotnoduced in the US Congress, including
H.R. 3179 and S. 1832, would grant states the atyho require out-of-state retailers to collendaremit sales taxes without requiring the state
to join the Streamlined Sales Tax Project. The #dof remote sales tax collection legislationttfagks a robust small business exemption
would result in the imposition of sales taxes additonal costs associated with complex sales tdbection, remittance and audit compliance
requirements on our sellers. This would make sgkin our websites less attractive for small retgjland would harm our business.

From time to time, some taxing authorities havefieat us that they believe we owe them certain sake May 2008, the City of Chicago
notified both eBay and StubHub that they are lidbfea city amusement tax on tickets to eventshit@go, irrespective of the location of the
buyer or seller, and filed suit to enforce collentbf taxes it claims are due. In March 2009, thercruled that StubHub is not required to collect
and remit the city amusement tax. The City of Caceequested reconsideration of this ruling andBub sought clarification of the ruling
relative to the remaining counts as well. In Aug2@09, the court entered a final order dismissireggdase against StubHub. In December 2009,
the court also dismissed the case against eBayCithef Chicago appealed both matters to the Seav€ircuit Court of Appeals. The Seventh
Circuit has issued an opinion in the StubHub matgscting the federal arguments advanced by Stbhkdthal certifying the state law arguments
to the lllinois State Supreme Court. In October2akhe lllinois Supreme Court ruled that state mipailities may not require electronic
intermediaries such as StubHub to collect and ramiisement taxes on resold tickets. The City of&jo has requested a rehearing before the
lllinois Supreme Court and the court has not y&dwn that request. The
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application of similar existing or future laws cdwdversely affect our business.

Several proposals have been made at the U.S astdti®cal level that would impose additional tasaghe sale of goods and services over
the Internet. These proposals, if adopted, coutdtsuntially impair the growth of ecommerce andloands, and could diminish our opportunity
to derive financial benefit from our activities. §b.S. federal government's moratorium on state@eal taxation of Internet access or multiple
or discriminatory taxes on ecommerce has been d&tethrough November 2014. This moratorium doegpratibit federal, state, or local
authorities from collecting taxes on our incomdrom collecting certain taxes that were in effecbpto the enactment of the moratorium anc
one of its extensions.

Similar issues exist outside of the U.S., whereayglication of VAT or other indirect taxes on eauogrce providers such as eBay is
uncertain and evolving. While we attempt to comiplyhose jurisdictions where it is clear that aigue, certain of our subsidiaries have, from
time to time, received claims relating to the aggghiility of indirect taxes to our fees. Shouldlstixes become applicable, our business cou
harmed. We collect and remit indirect taxes inaarjurisdictions. However, tax authorities mayseaguestions about our obligation to collect
and remit such taxes, as well as the proper cdionlaf such taxes. For example, a Korean tax aiithis currently asserting that certain
coupons and incentives available on our sites shooll be deducted when computing taxes on our &ssuld any new taxes become applicable
to our fees or if the taxes we pay are found tddfecient, our business could be harmed.

We do not collect taxes on the goods or servickbktspusers of our services. One or more statéseofederal government or foreign
countries may seek to impose a tax collection, mémpor record-keeping obligation on companieg #regage in or facilitate ecommerce. Such
an obligation could be imposed by legislation iuketh to improve tax compliance (and legislationuohseffect has been discussed in the U.S.
Congress, several states and a number of foreigatijctions) or if an eBay company was ever deetoduk the legal agent of the users of our
services by a jurisdiction in which eBay operatasluly 2008, the Housing and Economic Recovery@#@&008 (H.R. 3221) was signed into
law. This law contains provisions that require camps that provide payments over electronic meansérs to report to the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) information on payments received éitain customers. The legislation, effective foympants received after December 31, 2010,
requires PayPal and other electronic payments geos;j as well as potentially StubHub and similanpanies, to report to the IRS on customers
subject to U.S. income tax who receive more thah@®2 in payments and more than 200 payments @ag o request tax ID numbers from
U.S. taxpayers and track payments by tax ID nundoed,to withhold a proportion of payments and fohwsuch withholding to the IRS if
customers who receive more than 200 payments dprowide correct and complete information. We hlaad to modify our software to meet
these requirements and expect increased operatios& and changes to our user experience in cbonadth complying with these reporting
obligations. The IRS regulations may also requg¢aucollect a certification of non-U.S. taxpayttss from international merchants. These
requirements may decrease seller activity on das sind harm our business. Any failure by us totiemse new requirements could result in
substantial monetary penalties and other sanctindscould harm our business.

One or more other jurisdictions may also seek toase tax collection or reporting obligations basedhe location of the product or
service being sold or provided in an ecommercestetion, regardless of where the respective usereeated. Imposition of a discriminatory
record keeping or tax collecting requirement caléddrease seller activity on our sites and wouldnhaur business. Foreign authorities may also
require eBay to help ensure compliance by our usithslocal laws regulating professional sellergliding tax requirements. In addition, we
have periodically received requests from tax alitiesrin many jurisdictions for information regamdithe transactions of large classes of sellers
on our sites, and in some cases we have beenyleddidated to provide this data. The impositioraaf/ requirements on us to disclose
transaction records for all or a class of sellerak or other regulatory authorities or to fil& farms on behalf of any sellers, especially
requirements that are imposed on us but not omaltiege means of ecommerce, and any use of thased®to investigate, collect taxes from, or
prosecute sellers, could decrease seller activityur sites and harm our business.

We pay input VAT on applicable taxable purchasdbiwithe various countries in which we operatemiost cases, we are entitled to
reclaim this input VAT from the various countri¢towever, because of our unique business mode§ghbcation of the laws and rules that
allow such reclamation is sometimes uncertain. éceasful assertion by one or more countries thaneeot entitled to reclaim VAT could
harm our business.

We continue to work with the relevant tax authestand legislators to clarify eBay's obligationdemnew and emerging laws and
regulations. Passage of new legislation and th@sitipn of additional tax or tax-related reportmgguirements could harm our users and our
business. There have been, and will continue teltestantial ongoing costs associated with comglwiith the various indirect tax requireme
in the numerous markets in which eBay conductsilbcanduct business.
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Our tickets business is subject to regulatory, cetitipe, and other risks that could harm this besis.

Our tickets business, which includes our StubHudir®ss, is subject to numerous risks. Many jurtgatis have laws and regulations
covering the resale of event tickets. Some jurismtis prohibit the resale of event tickets at iabove the face value of the tickets or at all, or
highly regulate the resale of tickets, and new land regulations or changes to existing laws agdlations imposing these or other restrictions
may be adopted that could limit or inhibit our #lito operate, or our users' ability to continaause, our tickets business. For example, the
unauthorized resale of football (soccer) ticketdiégal in the U.K., where we recently launched 8tubHub site. Regulatory agencies or courts
may claim or hold that we are responsible for einguthat our users comply with these laws and rgpns or that we or our users are either
subject to licensure or prohibited from resellinvgmt tickets in their jurisdictions. In October 20@wo plaintiffs filed a purported class action
lawsuit in North Carolina Superior Court allegirtat StubHub sold (and facilitated and participatethe sale) of concert tickets to plaintiffs
with the knowledge that the tickets were resoldiofation of North Carolina's maximum ticket resaléce law (which has been subsequently
amended). In February 2011, the trial court graptadhtiffs' motion for summary judgment, conclugithat immunity under the
Communications Decency Act did not apply. The tcalirt further held that StubHub violated the NdZdwrolina unfair and deceptive trade
practices statute as it pertains to the two nanh&dtfs, and certified its decision for immediappeal to the North Carolina Court of Appeals.
StubHub has appealed this decision.

Some event organizers and professional sports thamesexpressed concern about the resale of themt &ickets on our sites. Suits
alleging a variety of causes of actions have inpdigt, and may in the future, be filed against Butband eBay by venue owners, competitors,
ticket buyers and unsuccessful ticket buyers. Sitigation could result in damage awards, coulduiegjus to change our business practices in
ways that may be harmful to our business, or cothlérwise negatively affect our tickets business.

Our tickets business is subject to seasonal fltictusand the general economic and business condithat impact the sporting events and
live entertainment industries. The economic dowmtessulted in a decrease in ticket prices soldwrsites and negatively impacted revenue and
profits. In addition, a work stoppage, strike atkout by a professional sports league (for exanthkerecently ended National Basketball
Association lockout) that results in the canceatliatdf all or a portion of the games in a leagueassn would harm our tickets business. In
addition, a portion of the tickets inventory solddellers on StubHub is held by StubHub in digiteim. Systems failures, security breaches,
or other disruptions that result in the loss oftstickets inventory could materially harm our titkbusiness.

Our tickets business also faces significant cortipatfrom a number of sources, including ticketsggvice companies (such as Live
Nation Entertainment (formerly Ticketmaster), ABGymcas-Spectacor and Tickets.com), event organizers (aggirofessional sports teams
and leagues), ticket brokers and other online dflid®ticket resellers, such as TicketsNow (whistowned by Live Nation Entertainment) and
RazorGator. In addition, some ticketing service panies and event organizers have begun to issun tsleets through various forms of
electronic ticketing systems that are designee@strict or prohibit the transferability of such avéckets. Ticketing service companies have also
begun to use market-based pricing strategies cardimpricing to charge much higher prices than thisjorically have for premium tickets.
Besides charging higher prices, these ticketingicercompanies have also imposed additional réistnis on transferability for these types of
tickets, such as requiring customers to pick updhekets at will-call with the purchasing crechird. To the extent that event tickets issued in
this manner cannot be resold on our websites, tired@xtent that we are otherwise unable to compitethese competitors, our tickets business
would be harmed. Pursuant to commercial arrangesn8iibHub provides certain of its partners witlegnated resale transactions, which
consumers may prefer due to, among other factbmgst instant delivery and lower fraud concernseSéhintegrations are largely deal-
dependent, and these arrangements may not be rémewavorable terms, or at all.

We depend on key personnel.

Our future performance depends substantially orcéimtinued services of our senior management dmel &ey personnel and our ability
retain and motivate them. We do not have long-tenmployment agreements with any of our key persoanéldo not maintain any “key person”
life insurance policies, and some members of oniosenanagement team have fully vested the vasbritypf their in-the-money equity
incentives. The loss of the services of any ofexacutive officers or other key employees couldrhaur business. We are currently seeking to
fill the position of President, PayPal on our semmnagement team, as well as other key managepusitions at PayPal.

Our businesses all depend on attracting and ratakey personnel. Our future success will dependwrability to attract, train, retain and
motivate highly skilled technical, managerial, metikg and customer support personnel. Competitiohfese personnel is intense, and we may
be unable to successfully attract, integrate, @imesufficiently qualified personnel. In making ployment decisions, particularly in the Internet
and high-technology industries, job candidatesrofensider the
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value of the equity awards they would receive inr@xtion with their employment. Fluctuations in stock price may make it more difficult to
retain and motivate employees whose stock optidkesprices are substantially above current mapkiees. Similarly, decreases in the number
of unvested in-theroney stock options held by existing employees,tidrebecause our stock price has declined, opliame vested, or becat
the size of follow-on option grants has declinedymake it more difficult to retain and motivate @oyees.

Problems with or price increases by third partigsonprovide services to us or to our users coulchhaur business.

A number of parties provide services to us or tousers that benefit us. Such services includerselbls that automate and manage
listings, merchant tools that manage listings amerface with inventory management software, storg$ that help our users list items, caching
services that make our sites load faster and sigpmioviders that deliver goods sold on our platfoamong others. In some cases we have
contractual agreements with these companies thatus a direct financial interest in their succegs|e in other cases we have none. PayPal is
dependent on the processing companies and bartkgthBayPal to the payment card and bank cleamgtgvorks. Similarly, Bill Me Later reli¢
on an unaffiliated lender in providing the Bill Meater service and also relies heavily on thirdiparto operate its services, including merchant
processors and payment gateways to process tramsadtinancial or regulatory issues, labor isqees., strikes or work stoppages) or other
problems that prevent these companies from progidervices to us or our users could reduce the eugidistings on our websites or make
completing transactions or payments on our website® difficult, thereby harming our business.

In addition, price increases by, or service teriiame, disruptions or interruptions at, compankest provide services to our users and
clients (such as postal and delivery services)dcaldo reduce the number of listings on our webgitemake it more difficult for our sellers to
complete transactions or for us to timely fulfiidaship products sold on the websites operated®iis@lients, thereby harming our business.
The U.S. Postal Service has announced that itrisidering closing thousands of local post officed anding Saturday mail delivery. While we
continue to work with global carriers to offer aallers a variety of shipping options and to enkama shipping experience, these closures ¢
require certain sellers to utilize alternatives ethcould be more expensive or inconvenient, whahlatin turn decrease the velocity of trade on
our site, thereby harming our business. In additmy security breach at a company providing sessto our users could also adversely affect
our customers and harm our business.

In addition, we have outsourced certain functianghird-party providers, including customer supgortl product development functions,
which are critical to our operations. If our seesjaroviders do not perform satisfactorily, our @giems could be disrupted, which could result in
user dissatisfaction and adversely affect our lmssinreputation and operating results.

Although we generally have been able to renew terekthe terms of contractual arrangements witlf, mecessary replace, third parties
who provide services to us on acceptable termse tten be no assurance that we will continue talbbe to do so in the future. If any third
parties were to stop providing services to us aeptable terms, including as a result of bankruptey to poor economic conditions, we may be
unable to procure alternatives from other thirdiparin a timely and efficient manner and on acaklgt terms, or at all. In addition, there can be
no assurance that third parties who provide sesuvilb@ctly to our users will continue to do so @ceptable terms, or at all.

Customer complaints or negative publicity about customer support or anti-fraud measures could dishi use of our services.

Customer complaints or negative publicity about customer support could severely diminish consuwoafidence in and use of our
services. Measures that we sometimes take to camskatof fraud and breaches of privacy and sechadwe the potential to damage relations
with our customers or decrease activity on ousdiemaking our sites more difficult to use or riesing the activities of certain users. These
measures heighten the need for prompt and acoturatemer support to resolve irregularities anduisp. Effective customer support requires
significant personnel expense, and if not managedeply, this expense could significantly impact puofitability. Failure to manage or train
our own or outsourced customer support represgetaproperly could compromise our ability to hantlistomer complaints effectively.
Negative publicity about, or negative experiencéh veustomer support for any of our businesses$dccause our reputation to suffer or aff
consumer confidence in our brands individually ®aavhole. Because PayPal is providing a finarsgalice and operating in a more regulated
environment, PayPal must provide both telephoneeanail customer support and resolve certain custamacts within shorter time frames.
As part of PayPal's program to reduce fraud loasésprevent money laundering, PayPal may tempygnagdtrict the ability of customers to
withdraw their funds if those funds or the custosaccount activity are identified by PayPal's risdels as suspicious. PayPal has in the past
received negative publicity with respect to itstoaser support and account restrictions, and has tieesubject of purported class action
lawsuits and state attorney general inquiries alggamong other things, failure to resolve accaoastrictions promptly. In the second quarter of
2010, two putative class-action lawsuits (Devingéangndo and Vadim Tsigel v. eBay Inc. and PayRal; nd Moises Zepeda v. PayPal, Inc.)
were
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filed in the U.S. District Court in the Northerndbiict of California. These lawsuits contain allégas that PayPal improperly held users' funds
or otherwise improperly limited user's accountseSethlawsuits seek damages as well as changesPalRgyractices among other remedies. A
determination that there have been violationswtleelating to PayPal's practices could expose &aprsignificant liability. Any changes to
PayPal's practices resulting from these lawsuitsdcrequire PayPal to incur significant costs améxpend product resources, which could d
other planned product launches or improvementdiatider harm our business. If PayPal is unablertwige quality customer support operati
in a cost-effective manner, PayPal's users may hagative experiences, PayPal may receive additr@uative publicity, its ability to attract
new customers may be damaged and it could becobjecsto additional litigation. As a result, curtemd future revenues could suffer, losses
could be incurred and its operating margins mayeiese.

Our industries are intensely competitive.
Marketplaces

Our Marketplaces businesses currently or potent@mpete with a large number of companies progigiarticular categories of goods
and/or broader ranges of goods. The Internet pesvictw, rapidly evolving and intensely competittb@nnels for the sale of all types of goods.
We expect competition to intensify in the futurdeTbarriers to entry into these channels can lagively low, and current offline and new
competitors, including small businesses who wartréate and promote their own stores, can easihyclaonline sites at nominal cost using
commercially available software or partnering wathy one of a number of successful ecommerce compadioreover, online and offline
businesses increasingly are competing with eactro@onsumers who purchase or sell goods and serthicough our Marketplaces businesses
have more and more alternatives.

Our competitors include the vast majority of tramiill department, warehouse, discount and genezadirandise stores (as well as the
online operations of these traditional retailecsiijne retailers, online classified services arfttoshopping channels such as offline and online
home shopping networks. In the U.S., these incl¥éé-Mart, Target, Sears, Macy's, JC Penney, Cofffice Depot, Staples, OfficeMax,
Sam's Club, Amazon.com (which continues to expatanew geographies and lines of business), Buy @wned by Rakuten), AOL.com,
Yahoo! Shopping, MSN, QVC and Home Shopping Netwarkong others.

A number of companies offer a variety of servides provide channels for buyers to find and buspngdrom sellers of all sizes, including
online aggregation and classifieds websites suahnagslist (in which we own a minority equity sé§kGoogle Merchant Center, Oodle.com
a number of international websites operated byt&tbd ASA. In certain markets, our fixed-priceifigtand traditional auction-style listing
formats are increasingly being challenged by otbemats, such as classifieds. Our classifieds websincluding Den Bl& Avis, BilBasen, eBay
Rent.com, offer classifieds listings in the U.Sd anvariety of local international markets. In mangrkets in which they operate, including in
U.S., our classified platforms compete against nestablished online and offline classifieds platfer

Our online shopping comparison site, Shopping.ammpetes with sites such as Bing Shopping, Buy.ongle Product Search,
Nextag.com, Pricegrabber.com, Shopzilla and YaRwotuct Search, which offer shopping search endhesallow consumers to search
Internet for specified products. Recent legal depelents may affect the utility of shopping compamisites if manufacturers limit variation in
product pricing. In addition, sellers are incregyjrutilizing multiple sales channels, includingetacquisition of new customers by paying for
searchrelated advertisements on search engine sitesasuBing, Google and Yahoo!. We use product seargmes and paid search advertis
to help users find our sites, but these services ladve the potential to divert users to othemendihopping destinations.

We also compete with many local, regional and matiepecialty retailers and exchanges in eacheofrthjor categories of products
offered on our site. For example, category-specifimpetitors to offerings in our “Consumer Electosn Computers, Cell Phones, Digital
Imaging and Video Games” categories include, anathgrs, Abt Electronics, Amazon.com, Apple, B&H Rhdest Buy, Buy.com, CNET,
Computer Discount Warehouse, Crutchfield, Dell ctenics Boutique, Fry's Electronics, Gamestop, le&wWwackard, J&R Music and Compt
World, Lenovo, MicroWarehouse, Overstock.com, P@i@&ztion, PCMall.com, Radio Shack, Ritz CamerayS®ech Depot, Tiger Direct,
uBid, major wireless carriers, and a variety ofimmland offline computer, consumer electronics tpg@phy and video game retailers.

Our international Marketplaces websites competa giihilar online and offline channels in each dittvertical categories in most
countries. In addition, they compete with generdine ecommerce sites such as: Amazon, Quelle ardil®Germany; Leboncoin.fr and
PriceMinister (owned by Rakuten) in France; TaoimaGhina; Tradus (owned by Naspers) in Poland; YaKono in Taiwan; Lotte, Naver and
11th Street in South Korea; Trading Post, OZtiod Anssie Bidder in Australia; and Amazon and Plajmgowned by Rakuten) in the United
Kingdom and other countries. In some of these
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countries, there are online sites that have mugfetacustomer bases and greater brand recogniitionwe do, as well as competitors that may
have a better understanding of local culture amdraerce than we do. As our businesses in less-desgloountries grow, we increasingly may
compete with domestic competitors which have achger we do not possess, such as a greater abitifyerate under local regulatory
authorities.

The principal competitive factors for Marketpladgeslude the following:

< ability to attract and retain buyers and sel

< volume of transactions and price and selectionoofdg
e trustin the seller and the transact

e customer service; a

e brand recognitiol

With respect to our online competition, additionampetitive factors include:

e community cohesion, interaction and s
* website ease-afse and accessibilit

« system reliability

« reliability of delivery and paymer

* level of service fees; a

e quality of search tool

We may be unable to compete successfully agaimsgruand future competitors. Some current andmiaiecompetitors have longer
operating histories, larger customer bases andegrbeand recognition in other business and Intesaetors than we do. Other online ecomm
sites may be acquired by, receive investments farenter into other commercial relationships withll-established and well-financed
companies. As a result, some of our competitorh wiiher revenue sources may be able to devote resoeirces to marketing and promotional
campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing poligielsdevote substantially more resources to webaiesgstems development than we can.
Some of our competitors may offer or continue teofree shipping, favorable return policies oresttransactionmelated services which impro
the user experience on their sites and which cbelonpractical or inefficient for eBay sellers taizh. New technologies may increase the
competitive pressures by enabling our competitwistfer more efficient or lower-cost services.

In addition, certain established retailers may enage manufacturers to limit or cease distributbtheir products to dealers who sell
through online channels such as eBay, or may atteangse existing or future government regulatimprohibit or limit online commerce in
certain categories of goods or services. For exammpanufacturers may attempt to enforce minimuralegsrice maintenance arrangements to
prevent distributors from selling on our website®o the Internet generally, or at prices that wilaunbke our site attractive relative to other
alternatives. The adoption by manufacturers ofgiedi, or the adoption of new laws or regulationmterpretations of existing laws or
regulations by government authorities, in each déisesouraging the sales of goods or services dweehiternet, could force eBay users to stop
selling certain products on our websites. Increasedpetition or anti-Internet distribution policiesregulations may result in reduced operating
margins, loss of market share and diminished vafumir brands. As we respond to changes in the etitiyee environment, we may, from time
to time, make pricing, service or marketing decisior acquisitions that may be controversial wittl kead to dissatisfaction among some of our
sellers, which could reduce activity on our welssaad harm our profitability.

Although we have established Internet traffic agements with several large online services andcheargine companies, these
arrangements may not be renewed on favorable teritiiese companies may decide to promote compestwices. Even if these arrangem:
are renewed, they may not result in increased uskger sites. In addition, companies that contisgr access to transactions through network
access, Internet browsers, mobile networks or Beamgines could promote our competitors, channekntior potential users to their vertically
integrated electronic commerce sites or their athers’ sites, attempt to restrict access to dassor charge us substantial fees for inclusion.
Search engines are increasingly becoming a stgsting for online shopping, and as the costs ofafirey an online store continue to decline,
online sellers may increasingly sell goods thromglhitiple channels, which could reduce the numbenaaiue of transactions these sellers
conduct through our sites.
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PayPal

The markets for PayPal's product are intensely etitigee and are subject to rapid technological gemncluding but not limited to:
mobile payments, electronic funds transfer netwathsting to allow Internet access, cross-bordeesg to networks, creation of new networks,
expansion of prepaid cards and bill pay networlkyFl competes with existing online and offline payt methods, including, among others:

payment card merchant processors that offer fi®evices to online merchants and multi-channethents, including American
Express, Chase Paymentech, First Data, Wells Fe¥gddPay, Barclays Merchant Services, Global Paysdnc. and Square, and
payment gateways, including CyberSource and Autbanet (both owned by Visa);

money remitters such as MoneyGram, Western Unidoh#& Payments, Inc. and Euror

bill payment services, including CheckFree, a glibsy of Fiserv

processors that provide online merchants thigyato offer their customers the option of payifoy purchases from their bank account
or paying on credit, including the newly-announ€darXchange joint venture among Wells Fargo, Bafnkmerica and JP Morgan
Chase, Acculynk, Moneta, eBillMe, Dwolla, TeleChgaksubsidiary of First Data, iDEAL in the Nethewds and Sofortuberweisung
in Germany;

providers of “digital wallet” services that offeustomers the ability to pay online or on mobiéices through a variety of payment
methods, including the new V.me announced by \Asaerican Express's newly-launched Serve and Godfglket;

providers of traditional payment methods, partidylaredit cards, checks, money orders and Autoth@learing House transactio
issuers of stored value targeted at online paymardsiding VisaBuxx, NetSpend, Green Dot, PayNeaidvid UKast

mobile payments, including ISIS, Buyster, Mpass,Mithey and Crand

Amazon Payments, which offers merchants thetald accept credit card- and bank-funded paymé&ote Amazon's base of online
and mobile customers on the merchant's own website;

Google Checkout (recently integrated into the@e Wallet service), which enables the online arwbile payment of merchants
using credit cards;

AliPay, an online payment services provider whiglemtes primarily in China but has announced plarxpand internationall
Other providers of online account-based paymesutsh as Skrill and ClickandBuy (primarily in te&)), Paymate and Visa PayClick
in Australia,

payment services targeting users of social netsvand online gaming, including Facebook and Héslits, PlaySpan (which Visa has
acquired) and Boku;

payment services enabling banks to offer theiine banking customers the ability to send anéikecpayments through their bank
account, including ZashPay from Fiserv and Popmdrmy CashEdge, both of which have announced cotithon agreements with
Visa (Fiserv recently acquired CashEdge); and

online shopping services that provide specidrsflinked to a specific payment provider, suciesa's RightCliq, MasterCard
MarketPlace, TrialPay and Tapjoy.

Some of these competitors have longer operatirtgrigs, significantly greater financial, technicalarketing, customer service and other
resources, greater name recognition, or a largex bhcustomers in affiliated businesses than HaiagPal's competitors may respond to new
or emerging technologies and changes in custorgeiresments faster and more effectively than Pay®aine of these competitors may also be
subject to less burdensome licensing, anti-mongydaring, counter-terrorist financing and othertatpry requirements than PayPal, which is
subject to additional regulations based on, amdhgrdactors, its licensure as a bank in Luxembotlihggy may devote greater resources to the
development, promotion, and sale of products andcgs than PayPal, and they may offer lower pri€es example, Google Checkout has in
the past offered free payments processing on tcéinga in an amount proportionate to certain adsie spending with Google. Competing
services tied to established banks and other finhimstitutions may offer greater liquidity andgemder greater consumer confidence in the
safety and efficacy of their services than PayPahddition, in certain countries, such as Germ&tstherlands and Australia, electronic funds
transfer is a leading method of payment for botfmerand offline transactions. As in the U.S., bi&hed banks and other financial institutions
that do not currently offer online payments coulicgly and easily develop such a service.

The principal competitive factors for PayPal inadutie following:

ability to attract and retain both buyers and selleith relatively low marketing expen
ability to show that sellers will achieve incremergales by offering PayP
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e security of transactions and the ability for buyersise PayPal without sharing their financial infation with the selle

* low fees and simplicity of fee structu

< ability to develop services across multiple comraaricannels, including mobile payments and paymnedrttse physical point of sa
e trustin PayPal's dispute resolution and buyersatigr protection progran

e customer service; a

e brand recognitiol

With respect to our online competition, additionampetitive factors include:

* website ease-afse and accessibilit

« system reliability

« data security; ar

< quality of developer tools such as our Applicatiftmegramming Interfaces and Software Developmergs

Some of PayPal's competitors, such as Wells F&iget, Data, American Express and Royal Bank oftl&ad, also provide processing or
foreign exchange services to PayPal. If PayPal weseek to expand the financial products thafférs, either alone or through a commercial
alliance or an acquisition, these processing aneldo exchange relationships could be negativelcefd, or these competitors and other
processors could make it more difficult for Payt@adieliver its services.

GSl
Our GSI business segment has two main businessmsneerce services and interactive marketing sesvice
Ecommerce Services

The market for the development and operation ofrenerce services that enable companies to operatereerce businesses and integrate
their ecommerce businesses into their multicharetall offerings is continuously evolving and insefy competitive. In our ecommerce services
business, we face competition from in-house ecoroengolutions, technology and service providers Wwhkigoply one or more components of an
ecommerce solution, and other providers of integt@commerce solutions. Many of our prospectivenegerce services clients evaluate
managing all or some aspects of an ecommerce apexgith internal resources. As a result, we oftempete with in-house solutions promoted
and supported by internal information technologffst merchandising groups, and other internal @@te constituencies as well as with
technology and service providers that supply on@are components of an ecommerce solution thavgllmspective clients to develop and
operate their ecommerce business in-house. Thigogrbproviders may include the prospective cliesglf and companies that offer: Web
platforms (e.g., Art Technology Group (which is @drby Oracle), IBM, Demandware and Microsoft); ous¢r care/call center services (e.g.,
West Communications, Sykes Enterprises, and Cogsgrfylfilment and logistics (e.g., PFS Web, Itrae, DHL, and UPS); and systems
integrators and technology providers (e.g., AccenteDS, Sapient, Infosys, Oracle and IBM).

We believe that we compete with ecommerce serdoametitors primarily on the basis of the following

« offering the choice of a complete integratedi8oh or a componerttased solutiol
e promoting the client's brand and business, ratien bur owr

« providing scale and operating leverage with anrpnitee focus

« establishing a commitment to invest in and enhanceplatform; an

< aligning our financial interests with those of alients

Interactive Marketing Services

The market for interactive marketing services istocwously evolving and intensely competitive. r interactive marketing services
business, we face competition from other providdisteractive marketing services, other providafrgraditional marketing services and in-
house marketing departments, as our prospectieesictive marketing services clients evaluate manatiieir marketing services with internal
resources as well as through interactive marketgencies. As a result, we often compete with inse@olutions promoted and supported by
internal marketing departments as well as withiserpgroviders that supply one or more interactivalating services. This group of providers
may include the prospective client itself and comeathat offer: email management and data agdoeg@.g., Experian, Harte-Hanks and
Epsilon); online marketing and design servicesi@ignarketing services agencies such as Omnicooui\WPP Group, Publicis and
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the Interpublic Group of Companies); and otherrextéve marketing services (e.g., Google, LinkSHarened by Rakuten), TradeDoubler, and
ValueClick). Low barriers to entry in the interagtimarketing industry could also increase the nurobeompetitors our interactive marketing
services business may face.

We believe that we compete with interactive marigetervices competitors primarily on the basisheffollowing:

« offering digital marketing solutions that argeigrated with our ecommerce services platform, tvlaie believe provides a more
strategic, cohesive and optimized approach to grgwcommerce businesses; and

« providing services that utilize proprietary taology to promote stronger customer engagemengdedito increase clients' return on
investment.

Our ecommerce services and interactive marketingcss businesses have competitors with longeratiper histories, larger customer
bases, greater brand recognition and greater fiakmcarketing and other resources. Those compstitay be able to secure components of
their technology and services on more favorabl@sesind devote more resources to technology developand marketing than our ecommerce
services and interactive marketing services busifnasaddition, as we expand our ecommerce seraicdsnteractive marketing services
businesses internationally, we will face increaseahpetition from local companies which may haveeater understanding of, and focus on, the
local customer.

We are subject to regulatory activity and antitrlisgation under competition laws.

We receive scrutiny from various government agenaigder U.S. and foreign competition laws. Somisglictions also provide private
rights of action for competitors or consumers teeatsclaims of anti-competitive conduct. Other camips and government agencies have in the
past and may in the future allege that our actidolsite the antitrust or competition laws of thesUor other countries, or otherwise constitute
unfair competition. Contractual agreements withdygysellers, or other companies could give risedgalatory action or antitrust litigation.

Also, our unilateral business practices could gise to regulatory action or antitrust litigatidome regulators, particularly those outside of the
U.S., may perceive our business to have so muckahpower that otherwise uncontroversial busineastjtes could be deemed
anticompetitive. For example, in the U.S., we hbgen sued by a plaintiff representing a putatiessbf sellers who alleges that we have
illegally monopolized a market for online auctiohsKorea, the national competition authority hageistigated allegations that we have engaged
in illegal exclusive conduct and rendered a denisigainst us in October 2010. The case is on apiperlgh two administrative lawsuits, and a
further investigation has now been concluded bySbeul prosecutor's office, which has chosen nbtity any charges. The competition
authorities in Germany and Australia have condugtedstigations (now completed) of various actitalen by our businesses. Such claims and
investigations, even if without foundation, typigedre very expensive to defend, involve negatiubligity and substantial diversion of
management time and effort, and could result iniégant judgments against us.

In several jurisdictions, we have taken actionsgiesd to improve the security of transactions dmaduality of the user experience on our
websites. Beginning in June 2008, we have requisads in the U.K. to offer PayPal as a paymentradtere on most transactions on our
localized U.K. website, and since October 2008 hare required sellers on eBay.com to accept omeooe accepted payment methods
(currently PayPal, credit or debit cards procesbealigh Internet merchant accounts, ProPay, Monadrs and Paymate) and no longer allow
any forms of paper payment, including checks andeymrders, to be listed by sellers in the U.Snfiost categories of items. While these
initiatives are intended to improve and make saterusers' buying experience and/or increase actvi our sites, certain users may be
negatively affected by or react negatively to thelsenges, and may allege that we have (and aréngbusarket power. We currently face
inquiries from government regulators in variousgdictions related to such actions. For exampl@0@8, both the Australian Competition and
Consumer Commission and the Reserve Bank of Aistviewed our policies requiring sellers to ofRayPal as a payment alternative on r
transactions on our localized Australian websité precluding sellers from imposing a surchargenyr@ther fee for accepting PayPal or other
payment methods. We may face similar inquiries faither government regulators in the future. Negateactions to these changes by our users
or government authorities could, among other thifigge us to change our operating practices inswhgt could harm our business, operating
results and profitability.

Our business may be adversely affected by fadtatscause our users to spend less time on our teshéncluding seasonal factors,
national events and increased usage of other wehsit

Anything that diverts our users from their custoynlavel of usage of our websites could adversdigcafour business. We would therefore
be adversely affected by geopolitical events sischvar, the threat of war, or terrorist activitydamatural disasters, such as hurricanes or
earthquakes. Similarly, our results of operaticissohically have experienced seasonal fluctuatimersause many of our users reduce their
activities on our websites with the onset of goahther during the summer months, and on and ansatichal holidays. In particular, our GSI
business is highly seasonal, with the fourth quarte
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holiday season accounting for a disproportionatelarhof GSI's net revenues due to consumers inog#seir purchases and businesses
increasing their advertising to consumers durirgg ffreriod, and any factors that limit or dampensconer spending during the fourth quarter
holiday season could harm our GSI business. Intiaddincreased usage of social networking or odmertainment websites may decrease the
amount of time users spend on our websites, whockdcadversely affect our financial results.

Our failure to cost-effectively manage certain agpef our business could harm us.

We have expanded our headcount, facilities andsirfucture in the U.S. and internationally, andcgpdte that further expansion in cert
areas will be required for some of our busineséésare also increasing our product and serviceioffs. This expansion increases the
complexity of our businesses and has placed, aneiwect it will continue to place, a significantash on our management, operational, and
financial resources. The areas that are put uricen 9y our growth include the following:

e Customer Account BillingOur revenues depend on prompt and accuratecppliocesses. Our failure to grow our transaction-
processing capabilities to accommodate the inangasiimber of transactions that must be billed anamal our subsidiaries' websites
would harm our business and our ability to collestenue.

e Customer ServiceWe continue to focus on providing better and nefficient customer support to our users. We intengrovide ar
increased level of support (including an increasingunt of telephone support) in a ceffective manner. If we are unable to pro\
customer support in a cost-effective manner, uskeosir websites may have negative experiencesectuand future revenues could
suffer, our costs may increase and our operatingimamay decrease.

We must continue to effectively hire, train and mg@& new employees. If our new hires perform podfrlye are unsuccessful in hiring,
training, managing and integrating new employees,we are unsuccessful in retaining our existimgployees, our business may be harmec
manage the expected growth of our operations armbpeel, we will need to improve our transactioogessing, operational and financial
systems, procedures and controls. This is a speltélenge as we acquire new operations with d@iffeand incompatible systems. Our current
and planned personnel, systems, procedures anisomiay not be adequate to support our futureatjmers. Any capital investments that we
may make will increase our cost base, which wilkenda more difficult for us to offset any futurevenue shortfalls by expense reductions in the
short term.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipatedidailities.

The determination of our worldwide provision focame taxes and other tax liabilities requires eatiom and significant judgment, and
there are many transactions and calculations wtheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Likany other multinational corporations, we
subject to tax in multiple U.S. and foreign taxigdictions and have structured our operationsdoice our effective tax rate. Our determination
of our tax liability is always subject to audit areview by applicable domestic and foreign tax atitles, and we are currently undergoing a
number of investigations, audits and reviews byniguauthorities throughout the world, including kviespect to our tax structure. Any adverse
outcome of any such audit or review could havegatiee effect on our business, operating resultsferancial condition, and the ultimate tax
outcome may differ from the amounts recorded infmancial statements and may materially affectfinancial results in the period or periods
for which such determination is made. While we hastablished reserves based on assumptions anthesgtithat we believe are reasonable to
cover such eventualities, these reserves may pgoobe insufficient in the event that any taxinghewity is successful in asserting tax positions
that are contrary to our positions.

In addition, the economic downturn reduced tax neres for U.S. federal and state governments, anohder of proposals to increase
taxes from corporate entities are being considate@rious levels of government. Among the optibage been a range of proposals included in
the tax and budget policies recommended to the Co&gress by the U.S. Department of the Treasumadify the federal tax rules related to
the imposition of U.S. federal corporate incomestafor companies operating in multiple U.S. aneifgm tax jurisdictions. If such proposals are
enacted into law, this could increase our effectarerate. A number of U.S. states have likewisenapted to increase corporate tax revenues by
taking an expansive view of corporate presencdtéongt to impose corporate income taxes and otiectdousiness taxes on companies that
have no physical presence in their state. Many &tees are also altering their apportionment féasito increase the amount of taxable
income/loss attributable to their state from certait-of-state businesses. Companies that opevatetlre Internet, such as eBay, are a target of
some of these state efforts. If more states areesgtul in applying direct taxes to Internet conigsiuthat do not have a physical presence in the
state, this could increase our effective tax rate.
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Our integrated X.commerce platform, which is opethird-party developers, subjects us to additiomsis.

In 2009, we launched the PayPal Developer Plattorenmable third-party developers to access a wadliety of PayPal product and
programming code specifications and to connecelecs PayPal payment application programming iate$ (APIs). We also began providing a
software tool kit for building mobile payments aipptions, and enabling third-party developers tweas certain APIs with respect to our
Marketplaces platforms. In June 2011, we launch@dmerce, our integrated open commerce platfoitiative, which includes our eBay
Developer Program, the PayPal Developer NetworkMadento, which provides open source ecommercéophas and which we acquired in
August 2011. There can be no assurance that thiry-gevelopers will develop and maintain applmasi and services on our open commerce
platforms on a timely basis or at all, and a nundfdactors could cause such third-party developeurtail or stop development for our
platforms. In addition, our business is subjeantmy regulatory restrictions, which may be contreaceby such third party applications. If this
were to occur, we could be liable for the regukatailure and our business could be adversely tdtec

There are risks associated with our indebtedness.

At December 31, 2011, we had $2.0 billion in unsedundebtedness outstanding, as well as $2.5hitf available borrowing capacity
under our existing commercial paper program aneécun®d revolving credit facility (after adjustingy fcapacity maintained in order to repay
commercial paper borrowings in the event we ardlen@ repay those borrowings from other sourcesnthey become due). We may incur
additional indebtedness in the future, includingemour revolving credit facility or through public private offerings of debt securities. Our
outstanding indebtedness and any additional indeletes we incur may have important consequencdading, without limitation, the
following:

« we will be required to use cash to pay the prinajpand interest on our indebtednt

e our indebtedness and leverage may increaseudnenability to adverse changes in general econ@amétindustry conditions, as well
as to competitive pressure;

< our ability to obtain additional financing fororking capital, capital expenditures, acquisitiansl for general corporate and other
purposes may be limited; and

« our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, anges in our business and our industry may bedih

Our ability to make payments of principal of anteimest on our indebtedness depends upon our fpeufermance, which will be subject to
general economic conditions, industry cycles andrftial, business and other factors affecting onsolidated operations, many of which are
beyond our control. If we are unable to generaficéent cash flow from operations in the futuredervice our debt, we may be required to,
among other things:

« seek additional financing in the debt or equity kets

« refinance or restructure all or a portion of owtébtednes
¢ sell selected asse

¢ reduce or delay planned capital expenditure

¢ reduce or delay planned operating expendit

Such measures might not be sufficient to enabte ssrvice our debt. In addition, any such finagciefinancing or sale of assets might
not be available on economically favorable termataall.

We depend on the continued growth of online comenerc

The business of selling goods over the Internetraadile networks, particularly through online tnaglj is dynamic and relatively new.
Concerns about fraud, privacy and other problemg aiscourage additional consumers from adoptingnternet or mobile devices as a
medium of commerce. In countries such as the G&rmany, Korea and the U.K., where our servicesoatide commerce generally have been
available for some time and the level of marketgtetion of our services is high, acquiring newrsder our services may be more difficult and
costly than it has been in the past. Moreovergtiogvth rates of Internet users is slowing in maoyrdries where we have a significant presence.
In order to expand our user base, we must appeaid@cquire consumers who historically have usstitional means of commerce to purchase
goods and may prefer Internet analogues to sudhtitmal retail means, such as the retailer's owbsite, to our offerings. If these consumers
prove to be less active than our earlier usergalwver levels of willingness to use the Interaemobile devices for commerce for any reason,
including lack of access to high-speed communioatiequipment, congestion of traffic on the Interh@ernet or mobile network outages or
delays, disruptions or other damage to users' cterpor mobile devices, and we are unable to géimiencies in our operating costs, including
our cost of acquiring new customers, our businestddbe adversely impacted.
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Our businesses depend on continued and unimpeaedsto the Internet, as well as access to mobil@arks. Internet service providers
may be able to block, degrade, or charge us orumars additional fees for our offerings, which abbhrm our business.

Our customers rely on access to the Internet oilenabtworks to use our products and services.dnyrtases, that access is provided by
companies that compete with at least some of darinfs, including incumbent telephone companiab)ecompanies, mobile communications
companies and large Internet service providers.eSofnthese providers have stated that they mayrtadasures that could degrade, disrupt, or
increase the cost of customers' use of our offeringrestricting or prohibiting the use of theifrastructure to support or facilitate our offerings
or by charging increased fees to us or our usepsaeide our offerings. Mobile operators or opergtsystem providers could block or place
onerous restrictions on our ability to offer ourliite applications in their mobile application sterénternet service providers or mobile netwc
could attempt to charge us each time our custoosur offerings. Worldwide, a number of compahiage announced plans to take such
actions or are selling products designed to fatéisuch actions. The United States Federal Conmuations Commission enacted rules in
December 2010Rreserving the Open Internet Broadband Industrydfices [FCC-10-201) establishing baseline restrictions that would
regulate the ability of Internet access comparuaaterfere with Internet traffic transported ovared and wireless networks. These FCC rules
are expected to be reviewed by the Federal cau2812. Pending greater regulatory and judiciaitglaany interference with our offerings or
higher charges for access to our offerings, whethét by us or by our customers, could cause lsswexisting customers, impair our ability to
attract new customers and harm our revenue andtigrow

Our business depends on the development and manterf the Internet infrastructure.

The success of our services will depend largeltherdevelopment and maintenance of the Internedstriicture. This includes
maintenance of a reliable network backbone withneessary speed, data capacity, and securityelaaswtimely development of
complementary products, for providing reliable int&t access and services. The Internet has expedeand is likely to continue to experience,
significant growth in the numbers of users and amofi traffic. The Internet infrastructure may heable to support such demands. In addition,
increasing numbers of users, increasing bandwalihirements, or problems caused by “viruses,” “wgfmMmalware and similar programs may
harm the performance of the Internet. The backlponeputers of the Internet have been the targedsaf programs. From time to time, the
Internet has experienced, and is likely to contittuexperience, a variety of outages and othelydeda a result of damage to portions of its
infrastructure. Any such outages and delays caddce the level of Internet usage generally as agethe level of usage of our services, which
could adversely impact our business.

We may be unable to protect or enforce our owrlletial property rights adequately.

We regard the protection of our intellectual prapeincluding our trademarks (particularly thoseeong the eBay and PayPal names),
patents, copyrights, domain names, trade dressrade secrets as critical to our success. We agjgedg protect our intellectual property rights
by relying on federal, state and common law rightthe U.S. and internationally, as well as a \grad administrative procedures. We also rely
on contractual restrictions to protect our propuigtrights in products and services. We have edtiette confidentiality and invention assignm
agreements with our employees and contractors amfidentiality agreements with parties with whom eaduct business in order to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary infaiona Effective intellectual property protection ynaot be available in every country in which
our products and services are made available, amgactual arrangements and the other steps wethker to protect our intellectual property
may not prevent third parties from infringing orsappropriating our technology or deter independertlopment of equivalent or superior
technologies or other intellectual property righysothers.

We pursue the registration of our domain namedgtraarks and service marks in the U.S. and internallly. Additionally, we have filed
U.S. and international patent applications covedadain aspects of our proprietary technologyeé&tffe trademark, copyright, patent, domain
name, trade dress and trade secret protectiomyjsexpensive to maintain and may require litigatidfe must protect our intellectual property
rights and other proprietary rights in an incregsinmber of jurisdictions, a process that is expenand time consuming and may not be
successful in every location. We may not be abldigoover or determine the extent of any unautleorizse of our proprietary rights. We have
licensed in the past, and expect to license ifuhee, certain of our proprietary rights, suchtraslemarks or copyrighted material, to others.
These licensees may take actions that diminiskrdahee of our proprietary rights or harm our repigtat
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We are subject to the risks of owning real property

We own real property, including land and buildimgkated to our operations. We have little expereincmanaging real property.
Ownership of this property subjects us to a nundbexdditional risks, including:

« the possibility of environmental contamination dahe costs associated with fixing any environmeptablems

« disruptions to our operations resulting from polesitatural disasters, interruptions in utilitieglaimilar event:

« adverse changes in the value of these propeltiedo interest rate changes, changes in the cocrahproperty markets, or other
factors;

« the possible need for structural improvements @eoto comply with zoning, seismic, disability la@r,other requirements; a

« possible disputes with tenants, neighboring owrmrsthers

Some anti-takeover provisions may affect the psfagur common stock.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to isspegai10,000,000 shares of preferred stock andteriaéne the preferences, rights and
privileges of those shares without any further vataction by the stockholders. The rights of tb&lars of common stock may be harmed by
rights granted to the holders of any preferredistbat may be issued in the future. Some provisafreur certificate of incorporation and byla
could have the effect of making it more difficutirfa potential acquirer to acquire a majority of outstanding voting stock or take control of
board of directors. These include provisions thiatjole for a classified board of directors, prohgiockholders from taking action by written
consent and restrict the ability of stockholdersdt special meetings. We are also subject toipiaws of Delaware law that prohibit us from
engaging in any business combination with any @dted stockholder (as defined by Delaware lawgafperiod of three years from the date the
person became an interested stockholder, unletssrceonditions are met. This restriction could édlve effect of delaying or preventing a
change of control.
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ITEM 1B: UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2: PROPERTIES

We own and lease various properties in the U.S2&nather countries around the world. We use topgrties for executive and
administrative offices, data centers, product dawalent offices, fulfilment centers and customew®e offices. As of December 31, 2011 , our
owned and leased properties provided us with aggeeguare footage as follows:

United States Other Countries Total
(In millions)
Owned facilities* 2.€ — 2.€
Leased facilities 4.2 2.1 6.3
Total facilities 6.€ 21 8.9

* We also own approximately 96 acres of land inHtaat could be developed if necessary to accomtaddture growth.

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Gadifgrnia and occupy approximately 0.2 milliorusge feet. As of December 31,
2011, the total square footage generally usedabiz ef our reportable segments was as follows:

Marketplaces Payments GSI Total

(In millions)
Total facilities 2.5 2.2 4.C 8.7

From time to time we consider various alternatiradated to long-term facilities needs. While weide our existing facilities are
adequate to meet our immediate needs, it may becegessary to develop and improve land we ownasel®r acquire additional or alternative
space to accommodate any future growth.

ITEM 3: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Overview

We are involved in legal proceedings on an ongbimsgjs. If we believe that a loss arising from sogtiters is probable and can be
reasonably estimated, we accrue the estimatedityaibi our financial statements. If only a rangeestimated losses can be determined, we
accrue an amount within the range that, in our fjoelgt, reflects the most likely outcome; if nondhaf estimates within that range is a better
estimate than any other amount, we accrue the fmhoéthe range. Amounts accrued for legal procegifor which we believe a loss is
probable were not material for the year ended Déeerdl, 2011. Except as otherwise noted, we haneleded that reasonably possible losses
arising directly from the proceedings (i.e., mongtdamages or amounts paid in judgment or settléneexcess of our accruals are also not
material. For those proceedings in which an unfabler outcome is reasonably possible but not prehai# have disclosed an estimate of the
reasonably possible loss or range of losses orave boncluded that an estimate of the reasonalslyilple loss or range of losses arising directly
from the proceeding (i.e., monetary damages or atsquaid in judgment or settlement) are not matdfiae cannot estimate the probable or
reasonably possible loss or range of losses arfsimg a legal proceeding, we have disclosed that fa

In assessing the materiality of a legal proceedivggevaluate, among other factors, the amount ofatawy damages claimed, as well as
potential impact of non-monetary remedies soughtlbintiffs (e.g., injunctive relief) that may reigeius to change our business practices in a
manner that could have a material adverse impaouobusiness. With respect to the matters disdlags¢his Item 3: Legal Proceedings, we are
unable to estimate the possible loss or rangesse®that could potentially result from the appidcaof such non-monetary remedies.

Specific Matters

In August 2006, Louis Vuitton Malletier and Chréaati Dior Couture filed two lawsuits in the Paris @af Commerce against eBay Inc.
and eBay International AG. Among other things,¢beplaint alleged that we violated French tort laywnegligently broadcasting listings pos
by third parties offering counterfeit items bearpigintiffs' trademarks and by purchasing certainestising keywords. Around September 20086,
Parfums Christian Dior, Kenzo Parfums, Parfums @i\, and Guerlain Société also filed a lawsuthim Paris Court of Commerce against
eBay Inc. and eBay International AG. The
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complaint alleged that we had interfered with tekestive distribution network the plaintiffs estighled in France and the European Union by
allowing third parties to post listings offeringrgene perfumes and cosmetics for sale on our weshdit June 2008, the Paris Court of
Commerce ruled that eBay and eBay Internationa@e liable for failing to prevent the sale of ctenfeit items on its websites that traded on
plaintiffs' brand names and for interfering witte thlaintiffs' selective distribution network. Theurt awarded plaintiffs approximately EUR 38.6
million in damages and issued an injunction (erdalde by daily fines of up to EUR 100,000) protitgtall sales of perfumes and cosmetics
bearing the Dior, Guerlain, Givenchy and Kenzo Heaover all worldwide eBay sites to the extent thay are accessible from France. We
appealed this decision, and in September 201Rahis Court of Appeal reduced the damages awded® 5.7 million and modified the
injunction. We have further appealed this decis@mthe French Supreme Court. In 2009, plaintifisdfian action regarding our compliance with
the original injunction, and in November 2009, toairt awarded the plaintiffs EUR 1.7 million (thguévalent of EUR 2,500 per day) and
indicated that as a large Internet company we shdala better job of enforcing the injunction. Rars Christian Dior has filed another motion
relating to our compliance with the injunction. \Wave taken measures to comply with the injunctioth lrave appealed these rulings, noting,
among other things, the modification of the initiglinction. However, these and similar suits mancé us to modify our business practices,
which could lower our revenue, increase our castsake our websites less convenient to our custmay such results could materially he
our business. Other brand owners have also filécgainst us or have threatened to do so in nuaseddferent jurisdictions, seeking to hold us
liable for, among other things, alleged counteiifeins listed on our websites by third partiesstée” and other not for resale consumer products
listed on our websites by third parties, allegeduse of trademarks in listings, alleged violatiohselective distribution channel laws, alleged
violations of parallel import laws, alleged non-gdimnce with consumer protection laws and in cotinaowith paid search advertisements. We
have prevailed in some of these suits, lost inrgtrend many are in various stages of appeal. Wente to believe that we have meritorious
defenses to these suits and intend to defend eesseigorously.

In May 2009, the U.K. High Court of Justice ruledtihe case filed by L'Oréal SA, Lancéme ParfunBestuté & Cie, Laboratoire
Garnier & Cie and L'Oréal (UK) Ltd against eBaydmtational AG, other eBay companies, and severayellers (No. HC07C0O1978) that
eBay was not jointly liable with the seller co-dedants as a joint tortfeasor, and indicated thabitld certify to the European Court of Justice
(ECJ) questions of liability for the use of L'Oré@demarks, hosting liability, and the scope pbasible injunction against intermediaries. On
July 12, 2011 the ECJ ruled on the questions eadtliy the U.K. High Court of Justice. It held tfa} brand names could be used by
marketplaces as keywords for paid search advegtisithout violating a trademark owner's rightstifviere clear to consumers that the goods
reached via the key word link were not being offidog the trademark owner or its designees butaashy third parties, (b) that marketplaces
could invoke the limitation from liability providely Article 14 of the ecommerce directive if thag dot take such an active role with respect to
the listings in question that the limitation wouldt be available, but that even where the limitatias available, the marketplace could be liable
if it had awareness (through notice or its own gtigation) of the illegality of the listings, (d)dt a marketplace would be liable in a specific
jurisdiction only if the offers on the site at isswere targeting that jurisdiction, a questionaaitf (d) that injunctions may be issued |
marketplace in connection with infringing third pacontent, but that such injunctions must be prtpoate and not block legitimate trade and
(e) that trademark rights can only be evoked higlats owner as a result of a seller's commerciticas opposed to private activity. The
matter will now return to the U.K. High Court ofstice for further action in light of the ECJ opinidlrhe case was originally filed in July 2007.
L'Oréal's complaint alleged that we were jointgblie for trademark infringement for the actionshaf sellers who allegedly sold counterfeit
goods, parallel imports and testers (not for repedelucts). Additionally, L'Oréal claimed that eBayse of L'Oréal brands on its website, in its
search engine and in sponsored links, and purafds®réal trademarks as keywords, constitute tnealé infringement. The suit sought an
injunction preventing future infringement, full dissure of the identity of all past and presentesglof infringing L'Oréal goods, and a
declaration that our Verified Rights Owner (VeR®@)gram as then operated was insufficient to presaah infringement. The scope of a
possible injunction claimed is to be specified afte trial upon remand from the ECJ.

eBay's Korean subsidiary, IAC (which has merged Gtarket and is now named eBay Korea), has nafifseapproximately 20 million
users of a January 2008 data breach involving pafoidentifiable information including name, adds, resident registration number and some
transaction and refund data (but not including itreard information or real time banking informatjo Approximately 149,000 users have sued
IAC over this breach in several lawsuits in Koreanrts and more may do so in the future. Trialdfgroup of four representative suits began in
August 2009 in the Seoul District Court, and tfa@la group of 23 other suits began in Septemb8820 the Seoul District Court. There is some
precedent in Korea for a court to grant “consotatiwoney”for data breaches without a specific finding ofrhdrom the breach. Such precede
have involved payments of up to approximately $g60user. In January 2010, the Seoul District Caued that IAC had met its obligations
with respect to defending the site from intrusion gaccordingly, had no liability for the breactig ruling has been appealed by approximately
34,000 plaintiffs to the Seoul High Court, wherésiturrently being heard de novo. A decision igested in 2012.
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General Matters

Other third parties have from time to time claimadd others may claim in the future, that we haeniged their intellectual property
rights. We are subject to patent disputes, andatxpat we will increasingly be subject to addigbpatent infringement claims involving varic
aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments and GSl éss#s as our services continue to expand in sempecanplexity. Such claims may be
brought directly against our companies and/or agaiar customers (who may be entitled to contrdétaemnification under their contracts
with us), and we are subject to increased expdsusach claims as a result of our recent acquisstiparticularly in cases where we are entering
into new businesses in connection with such adipis. We have in the past been forced to litigateh claims. We may also become more
vulnerable to third-party claims as laws such a&sDigital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanham Aahd the Communications Decency Act are
interpreted by the courts, and as we expand thgerand geographical scope of our services and besabiject to laws in jurisdictions where
underlying laws with respect to the potential ligpiof online intermediaries like ourselves arther unclear or less favorable. We believe that
additional lawsuits alleging that we have violapadent, copyright or trademark laws will be fileghinst us. Intellectual property claims, whe
meritorious or not, are time consuming and costlgléfend and resolve, could require expensive admitgour methods of doing business, or
could require us to enter into costly royalty @elising agreements on unfavorable terms.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispube regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordineaourse of business, including suits by
our users (individually or as class actions) allggiamong other things, improper disclosure ofgriges, rules or policies, that our prices, rules,
policies or customer/user agreements violate agipléclaw, or that we have not acted in conformitghwsuch prices, rules, policies or
agreements. The number and significance of thegmitdis and inquiries are increasing. Any claimegulatory actions against us, whether
meritorious or not, could be time consuming, resuttostly litigation, damage awards (includingtstary damages for certain causes of actic
certain jurisdictions), injunctive relief or increed costs of doing business through adverse judgonesettiement, require us to change our
business practices in expensive ways, requirefgignt amounts of management time, result in terdion of significant operational resources
or otherwise harm our business.

ITEM 4: [REMOVED AND RESERVED]
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PART Il

ITEM 5: MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STORHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock
Our common stock has been traded on The NasdaqG@etect Market (formerly The Nasdaq National Mgykinder the symbol
“EBAY” since September 24, 1998. The following tlslets forth the high and low per share pricesiotommon stock, as reported by The
Nasdaq Global Select Market, for the following pes.

High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2011
First Quarter $ 34.6¢ % 27.7(
Second Quarter 34.3¢ 28.3¢
Third Quarter 34.4: 26.9¢
Fourth Quarter 33.8i 28.11
High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2010
First Quarter $ 2837 $ 21.51
Second Quarter 27.6i 19.5¢
Third Quarter 25.1¢€ 19.0¢
Fourth Quarter 31.6¢ 23.9:

As of January 20, 2012 , there were approximatg&22 holders of record of our common stock, althowg believe that there are a
significantly larger number of beneficial ownersoofr common stock.

Dividend Policy
We have never paid cash dividends on our stocldanmbt anticipate paying cash dividends in thedeeable future.

Performance Measurement Comparison

The graph below shows the cumulative total stoakkiofeturn of an investment of $100 (and the restment of any dividends thereafter)
on December 29, 2006 (the last trading day forytar ended December 31, 2006) in (i) our commocksi@) the Nasdag Composite Index,
(i) the S&P 500 Index and (iv) the S&P North Arieam Technology Internet Index (the successorécGBTI Internet Index). The S&P North
American Technology Internet Index is a modifieghitalization weighted index representing the In&rindustry, including Internet
software and services and Internet retail compages stock price performance shown in the grapbvbés not indicative of future stock price
performance.
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The following graph and related information shait be deemed “soliciting material” or be deemebéedfiled” with the SEC, nor shall
such information be incorporated by reference atg future filing, except to the extent that wedfieally state that such graph and related

information are incorporated by reference into sfilafg.
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Stock repurchase activity during the three monttted December 31, 2011 was as follows:

Total Number of Maximum Dollar Value
Shares Purchased as of Shares that May Yet

Total Number of Average Price Part of Publicly be Purchased Under
Period Ended Shares PurchasedPaid per Share Announced Programs the Programs (1)
October 31, 2011 117,00( $30.9¢ 117,00( $1,126,591,47
November 30, 2011 7,883,001 $31.2: 7,883,001 $880,522,26
December 31, 2011 = $— = $880,522,26
8,000,001 8,000,00t

(1) In September 2010, our Board authorizetbeksrepurchase program that provides for the i@mase of up to $2.0 billion of our common
stock, with no expiration from the date of authatian, for the purpose of offsetting the impactiition from our equity compensation

programs.




ITEM 6: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read in conjunction with the consoliddbeancial statements and notes
thereto and “Management's Discussion and AnalyffdiSrancial Condition and Results of Operatioagpearing elsewhere in this Annual Re
on Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of incdate and the consolidated balance sheet datadfgetirs ended, and as of, December 31,
2011, 2010, 2009 , 2008 and 2007 are derived omaudited consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended December 31,
2011® 2010 2009® 2008 2007@

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statement of Income Data®

Net revenues $ 11,651,65 $ 9,156,27. $ 8,727,36. $ 8,541,26. $ 7,672,32
Gross profit 8,191,47 6,591,60° 6,247,60! 6,313,19: 5,909,35
Income from operations 2,373,48! 2,053,57: 1,456,76! 2,075,68: 613,18(
Income before income taxes 3,910,04! 2,098,44 2,879,15: 2,183,56. 750,85
Net income 3,229,38 1,800,96: 2,389,09 1,779,47. 348,25
Net income per share:

Basic $ 25C % 13 % 18t % 137 % 0.2¢

Diluted $ 2.4€ % 1.3 $ 18 $ 1.3¢ $ 0.2t
Weighted average shares:

Basic 1,292,77 1,305,59: 1,289,84! 1,303,45. 1,358,79

Diluted 1,312,95i 1,327,41 1,304,98: 1,312,60: 1,376,17.

As of December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat&?

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,691,100 $ 557741 $ 399981 $ 3,188,920 $ 4,221,19
Short-term investments 1,238,30. 1,045,40: 943,98t 163,73 676,26«
Long-term investments 2,452,76. 2,492,01 1,381,76! 106,17¢ 138,23°
Working capital® 5,927,25I 6,548,82 4,818,241 2,581,50: 4,022,92
Total assets 27,320,21 22,003,76 18,408,32 15,592,43 15,366,03
Short-term debt 564,60 300,00 — 1,000,00! 200,00(
Long-term debt 1,525,04 1,494,22 — — —
Total stockholders' equity 17,929,87 15,302,17 13,787,64 11,083,85 11,704,60.

(1) Includes the impact of acquisitions as welltesimpact from dispositions. For a summary oergcignificant acquisitions and the sale of
Skype, please see “Note 3 - Business Combinatiand™Note 4 - Skype Related Transactions” to thesotidated financial statements
included in this report.

(2) The Consolidated Statement of Income for tharyended December 31, 2011 includes a loss ostdiv®usiness of $256.5 million and a
gain on the sale of our remaining 30% equity irgeie Skype of approximately $1.7 billion . See t8l8 - Business Combinations" and
"Note 4 - Skype Related Transactions" to the cadat#d financial statements included in this report

(3) The Consolidated Statement of Income for tearynded December 31, 2009 includes a $343.2miharge related to the settlement of a
lawsuit between Skype, Joltid and entities congblby Joltid’'s founders and a $1.4 billion gaintba sale of Skype. See “Note 4 - Skype
Related Transactions” to the consolidated finarstialements included in this report.

(4) The Consolidated Statement of Income for tharynded December 31, 2007 includes a goodwikiimpent charge of $1.4 billion related
to Skype.

(5) Working capital is calculated as the differencenssn total current assets and total current |igdsl
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ITEM 7: MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL GONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwdmdking statements within the meaning of Sectioh @7the Securities Act of 1933 ¢
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1i@8#ding statements that involve expectationanglor intentions (such as those relating to
future business, future results of operations waficial condition, new or planned features or seegi, or management strategies). You
identify these forward-looking statements by waulsh as “may,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expessions. These forward-looking statements invaskes iand uncertainties that could cause
our actual results to differ materially from thosepressed or implied in our forward-looking statetse Such risks and uncertainties include,
among others, those discussed in “Item 1A: Riskdétat of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as wedlia our consolidated financial
statements, related notes, and the other informadjapearing elsewhere in this report and our otfilergs with the SEC. We do not intend, and
undertake no obligation, to update any of our fordvboking statements after the date of this reponteflect actual results or future events or
circumstances. Given these risks and uncertaintesgjers are cautioned not to place undue reliameeuch forward-looking statemen¥ou
should read the following Management's Discussiuh Analysis of Financial Condition and Results @e@ations in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and the relatdesnincluded in this report.

” ” o, ”ou ”ou

Overview

eBay is a global commerce platform and paymentieledVe enable commerce through eBay, the woddett online marketplace,
which allows users to buy and sell in nearly evayntry on earth; through PayPal, which enablewiddals and businesses to securely, easily
and quickly send and receive online payments; araigh GSI, which facilitates ecommerce, multictelnetailing and interactive marketing
global enterprises. X.commerce brings togethetedbknology assets and developer communities of gBayPal and Magento, an ecommerce
storefront platform, to support eBay Inc.'s missidrenabling commerce. We also reach millions thiospecialized marketplaces such as
StubHub, the world's largest ticket marketplacel @Bay classifieds sites, which together have agmee in more than 1,000 cities around the
world.

We have three reportable business segments: M#akety Payments and GSI. Our Marketplaces segmentes our eBay.com platfol
and its localized counterparts and our other oriliading platforms, such as our online classifiedsinesses and StubHub. Our Payments
segment is comprised of PayPal, Bill Me Later and@ Our GSI segment was added upon the complefioar acquisition of GSI Commerce,
Inc. (GSI) on June 17, 2011. The results of our @S segment have been included in our consolida®ats of operations from the acquisit
date.

In 2011, net revenues increased 27% to $11.7 hilmmpared to $9.2 billion in 2010, driven primatily a 29% increase in PayPal net
total payment volume (TPV) and a 13% increase inkeliplaces gross merchandise volume, or GMV, exatudehicles, as well as the impact
from GSI, which we acquired in June 2011. We addtiean operating margin of 20% in 2011 compare®# th 2010. This reduction in
operating margin was driven primarily by the impatacquisitions. Our diluted earnings per shacegased to $2.46 in 2011, a $1.10 increase
compared to 2010, driven primarily by a gain raeglfrom the sale of our remaining 30% interesBkype and growth in net revenue, partially
offset by the impact of a loss on a divested bssinacquisitions and a higher tax rate. We gergtsh flow from operations of approximately
$3.3 billion in 2011 compared to $2.7 billion in1ZD

Our Marketplaces segment total net revenues inede$321.1 million, or 16%, in 2011 compared to 200tk increase in total net
revenues was driven primarily by a year-over-yaargase in GMV excluding vehicles of 13%, the asijoin of brands4friends in the first
quarter of 2011 and an increase in revenue atafid@to our classifieds and advertising busineddasketplaces segment operating margin
decreased 0.7 percentage points in 2011 compa@ltbdue to the impact of acquisitions, primabitgnds4friends. Our payments segment
total net revenues increased $976.5 million, or 2892011 compared to 2010. The increase in tattevenues was driven primarily by a year-
over-year increase in net TPV of 29%, growth irl Bie Later revenue and the impact of acquisitigdsr Payments segment operating margin
increased 1.2 percentage points in 2011 compar2d10 due primarily to productivity gains, improvem in Bill Me Later's operating
performance and favorable impact of regulatory gleanpartially offset by higher transactions lossad investments in our platform. Our GSI
segment was formed as a result of our acquisitid®Si in June 2011. From the acquisition date tgloDecember 31, 2011, GSI contributed
$590.1 million in revenue and had a segment opeyatiargin of 14%.




In 2010, net revenues increased 5% to $9.2 bitmmpared to $8.7 billion in 2009. Excluding 2009erue from Skype (sold in
November 2009) of $620.4 million, net revenues wdwdve increased 13%, from $8.1 billion in 200$%a2 billion in 2010. These increas
were driven by net revenue growth of 23% and 8%WunPayments and Marketplaces businesses, resglgctiVe achieved an operating margin
of 22% in 2010 compared to 17% in 2009, driven prity by the impact of a Skype-related legal setéat charge in 2009 and lower
amortization costs associated with our acquireahigible assets. Diluted earnings per share dectéas#l.36 in 2010 compared to $1.83 in
2009 driven primarily by the gain on sale of Skypartially offset by the impact of a Skype-relategal settlement charge in 2009. Cash flow
from operations decreased to $2.7 billion in 20b0nf $2.9 billion in 2009.

Some key operating metrics that members of ouosenanagement regularly review to evaluate oumitied results include net
promoter score (NPS), market share, GMV, GMV exitlgdehicles, number of sold items, net TPV, nehbar of payments, global ecomme
(GeC) merchandise sales, penetration rates, fumdirgthe mix of payments vehicles such as credlitls, debit cards, bank accounts and Pe
accounts, used by customers to make payments thimwugPayments networks), free cash flow (whichdefne as net cash provided by
operating activities less purchases of propertyemdpment, net) and revenue excluding acquisitirisforeign currency impact.

Outlook

We expect our Payments business to continue daagperformance from expanded merchant coveragstaarg of checkout. In
addition, we expect solid performance from our Mdyplkaces business in its core markets with continmeestment in its platform and new
products. Finally, we expect strong performancenfaur GSI business driven by operational improvemsand the realization of synergies.

Results of Operations
Summary of Net Revenues

We generate two types of net revenues: net transaetvenues and marketing services and other tmg©ur net transaction revenues
derived principally from listing fees and final ual fees (which are fees payable on transactionpleded on our Marketplaces trading
platforms), fees paid by merchants for paymentgssing services and ecommerce service fees. Oletimay services revenues are derived
principally from the sale of advertisements, revesharing arrangements, classifieds fees, markeé@ingce fees and lead referral fees. Other
revenues are derived principally from interest fee$ earned on the Bill Me Later portfolio of raadles from loans, interest earned on certain
PayPal customer account balances and fees fromacturl arrangements with third parties that preddrvices to our users.
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The following table sets forth the breakdown of metenues by type and geography for the periodsepted.
Percent Change Percent Change
Year Ended December 31, from from

2011 2010 2009% 2010 to 2011 2009 to 2010
(In thousands, except percentage changes)

Net Revenues by Type:
Net transaction revenues

Marketplaces $ 5,431,300 $ 4,800,19: $ 4,461,84! 13% 8%
Payments 4,123,30: 3,261,31. 2,641,19. 26% 23%
GSl 459,65¢ — — N/A N/A
Communications — — 575,09¢ N/A N/A
Total net transaction revenues 10,014,26 8,061,50 7,678,13! 24% 5%
Marketing services and other revenues
Marketplaces 1,210,46: 920,43: 849,16¢ 32% 8%
Payments 288,83 174,33: 154,75! 66% 13%
GSl 130,40! — — N/A N/A
Communications — — 45,307 N/A N/A
Corporate and othéef 7,68¢ — — N/A N/A
Total marketing services and other revenues 1,637,38! 1,094,76' 1,049,22 50% 4%
Total net revenues $ 11,651,65 $ 9,156,27. $ 8,727,36: 27% 5%
Net Revenues by Geography:
u.s. $ 548364 $ 421421 $ 3,985,06 30% 6%
International 6,168,01. 4,942,05! 4,742,29. 25% 4%
Total net revenues $ 11,651,65 $ 9,156,27. $ 8,727,36: 27% 50

(1) Includes Communications segment revenue gezgktat Skype until its sale on November 19, 2009.
(2) Represents revenues associated with our X.cooemeitiative, which was launched in conjunctioithnour acquisition of Magento in the
third quarter of 2011.

Revenues are attributed to U.S. and internatioeafjtgaphies based primarily upon the country in thie seller, payment recipient,
customer, website that displays advertising, oeofiervice provider, or until the sale of SkypeNmvember 19, 2009, the Skype user's Internet
protocol address, as the case may be, is located.

Because we generated the majority of our net ree®mternationally in recent periods, including the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,enst1bject to the risks of doing business in foreigantries as discussed under “ltem 1A:
Risk Factors.” In that regard, fluctuations in figrecurrency exchange rates impact our resultpefations. We have a foreign exchange risk
management program that is designed to reducexpaisare to fluctuations in foreign currencies; heere the effectiveness of this program in
mitigating the impact of foreign currency fluctuats on our results of operations varies from petiogeriod, and in any given period, our
operating results are usually affected, sometinggsfeantly, by changes in currency exchange rafésctuations in exchange rates also directly
affect our cross-border revenue. We calculate gse-pveryear impact of foreign currency movements on owifess using prior period forei
currency rates applied to current year transactiocun@ency amounts.

For the year ended December 31, 2011 , foreigrenayrmovements relative to the U.S. dollar podiiwmpacted net revenues by
approximately $202.4 million (net of a $25.9 mitlioegative impact from hedging activities relatind?ayPal's net revenue) compared to the
prior year. Foreign currency movements relativhtoU.S. dollar for the year ended December 311 2@bsitively impacted Marketplaces and
Payments net revenues by approximately $166.6anilind $35.6 million , respectively, compared ® phior year (net of the impact of hedging
activities, noted above, in the case of Paymertsavenues).

For the year ended December 31, 2010 , foreigrenayrmovements relative to the U.S. dollar negbtirepacted net revenues by
approximately $9.6 million (net of $11.1 million iive impact from hedging activities relating tayPal's net revenue) compared to the prior
year. Foreign currency movements relative to tH&. dollar for the year ended December 31, 201@atively impacted Marketplaces and
Payments net revenues by approximately $7.1 mibioth $2.5 million , respectively, compared to themyear (net of the impact of hedging
activities, noted above, in the case of Paymertts ne
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revenues).

The following table sets forth, for the periodsg@eted, certain key operating metrics that we belae significant factors affecting our
net revenues.

Percent Change Percent Change
Year Ended December 31, from from
2011 2010 2009 2010 to 2011 2009 to 2010

(In millions, except percentage changes)
Supplemental Operating Data:
Marketplaces Segment?

GMV excluding vehicles® $ 60,33: $ 53,53: $ 48,34¢ 13% 11%

GMV vehicles only @ 8,301 8,287 8,86( —% (6)%

Total GMV @ $ 68,63: $ 61,81¢ $ 57,20¢ 11% 8%
Payments Segment:

Net TPV © $ 118,75¢ $ 91,95t $ 71,607 2% 28%
GSI Segment:

GeC merchandise sal&s $ 2,046 % — — N/A N/A

2) eBay's classifieds websites and Shopping.com arimcladed in these metric

(2) Total value of all successfully closed itenetvieen users on eBay Marketplaces trading platfalmisg the period, regardless of
whether the buyer and seller actually consummdtedransaction, excluding vehicles GMV.

3) Total value of all successfully closed vehigbnsactions between users on eBay Marketplaadsg platforms during the period,
regardless of whether the buyer and seller actealhsummated the transaction.

4) Total value of all successfully closed itenetvieen users on eBay Marketplaces trading platfalmisg the period, regardless of
whether the buyer and seller actually consummadtedransaction.

(5) Total dollar volume of payments, net of payt@versals, successfully completed through ourni®ags networks (excluding PayPal's
payment gateway business), Zong, and on Bill Metatcounts during the period.

(6) Represents the retail value of all sales &atigns, inclusive of freight charges and net tdvaénce for returns and discounts, which flow
through the GSI ecommerce services platform, whetleerecord the full amount of such transactiom @soduct sale or a percentage of
such transaction as a service fee.

Seasonality

The following table sets forth, for the periodsgasted, our total net revenues and the sequeni@ateyly movements of these net
revenues:

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(In thousands, except percentage changes)

2009®
Net revenues $ 2,020,58! $ 2,097,999 $ 223785  $ 2,370,93;
Percent change from prior quarter ()% 4% 7% 6%
2010%
Net revenues $ 2,196,05 $ 2,215,370 $ 2,249,48: % 2,495,35I
Percent change from prior quarter (M% 1% 2% 11%
2011®@
Net revenues $ 2,545,60! $ 2,760,27. $ 2,965,76. $ 3,380,011
Percent change from prior quarter 2% 8% 7% 14%

(1) On November 19, 2009, we completed the sale oP& &quity interest in Skype to an investor groupcéxdingly, Skype's revenue is not
consolidated in our 2011 and 2010 results. HoweSkype's results of operations are consolidatediir?009 results through the date of that
sale.

(2) Net revenues attributable to the GSI segmenteftected beginning from June 17, 2011 (the tfeeacquisition of GSI was completed).
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We expect transaction activity patterns on our webgo mirror general consumer buying patterns. @8l segment is highly seasonal.
The fourth calendar quarter typically accountsdalisproportionate amount of GSl's total annuatnere because consumers increase their
purchases and businesses increase their advetiisgansumers during the fourth quarter holidayseaa

Marketplaces Net Transaction Revenues

Marketplaces net transaction revenues increasetl $63illion , or 13% , in 2011 compared to 201@nsistent with the increase in GMV
excluding vehicles of 13% in 2011 compared to 20IRe increase in net transaction revenue and GkWding vehicles was due primarily to
improvements in the shopping experience, foreigneticy movements relative to the U.S. dollar anatiooed growth at StubHub. Net
transaction revenues and GMV excluding vehicleseiased in the U.S., Europe and Asia in 2011 conaiptar@010.

Marketplaces net transaction revenues increase8l$3aillion , or 8% , in 2010 compared to 2009 jleiEMV excluding vehicles
increased 11% in 2010 compared to 2009 . The isergmanet transaction revenues was due primarilggarowth in the number of sold items,
inclusion of a full year of revenue generated fr@market (acquired June 2009) and growth at StubBaitially offset by the impact of pricing
initiatives, including larger discounts to our higlrrated sellers, the settlement of a lawsuitthadestablishment of a reserve related to certain
indirect tax positions (all recorded as a reductiorevenue).

Marketplaces net transaction revenues earned atterrally totaled $3.1 billion , $2.7 billion an@ # billion in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 ,
representing 56% , 56% and 55% of total Marketameat transaction revenues, respectively. The &serén the dollar amount of international
net transaction revenues was due primarily to gnawbur existing international markets and foretgmrency movements relative to the U.S.
dollar.

Payments Net Transaction Revenues

Payments net transaction revenues increased $86Hdh , or 26% , during 2011 compared to 201Qie ghrimarily to net TPV growth of
29% . The increase in net TPV was due primarilgrtmwth in consumer and merchant adoption of Pay®al.Merchant Services net TPV
increased 36% during 2011 , compared to 2010 reyreesented 65% of PayPal's net TPV in 2011 , comdpaith 62% in 2010 The increase i
our Merchant Services net TPV was due primarilgridncrease in the number of online merchantsiaffjegPayPal as a payment option.

Payments net transaction revenues increased $6#ilidn , or 23% , in 2010 compared to 2009 . Therease was due primarily to net
TPV growth of 28% in 2010 compared to 2009 , pHytiaffset by lower take rates due primarily tokdfsto larger merchants in our Merchant
Services business. The increase in net TPV duldi@®as due primarily to growth in consumer and merthaoption of PayPal. Our Merch:
Services net TPV experienced 42% growth in 2010pared to 2009 and represented 62% of PayPal'sR\étim 2010 compared to 56% in
2009. The increase in our Merchant Services busiwes due primarily to an increase in the numbemntihe merchants offering PayPal as a
payment option, as well as an increase in the sifarbeckout of PayPal's existing customer baseearthants.

Payments net transaction revenues earned intenadljidotaled $2.2 billion , $1.6 billion and $1bfllion in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 ,
representing 53% , 49% and 46% of total Paymeritgai@saction revenues, respectively. The increasdernational net transaction revenues
was due primarily to the growth of our Merchant\&es business and increased penetration on eBalyelpdaces platforms internationally, as
well as foreign currency movements relative toth8. dollar.

GSI Net Transaction Revenues

GSI net transaction revenues were $459.7 milliop0hl , which represents the revenues generataddoommerce services from our
recently acquired GSI business for the period fdame 17, 2011 (the date the acquisition of GSlaeaspleted) through December 31, 2011 .

Communications Net Transaction Revenues

On November 19, 2009, we completed the sale oPa &quity interest in Skype to an investor groupcdxdingly, Skype's revenue is not
consolidated in our 2011 or 2010 results. HoweS8&ype's results of operations are consolidatediir2009 results through the date of sale.
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Marketing Services and Other Revenues

Marketing services and other revenues increased.654illion , or 50% , in 2011 compared to 2010d aepresented 14% and 12% of
total net revenues in 2011 and 2010 , respectividlg.increase in marketing services and other ie®was primarily due to the acquisitions of
GSI and brands4friends and an increase in reveattrésutable to our classifieds business and atbiegtbusiness, as well as interest earned on
our Bill Me Later portfolio of receivables from los.

Marketing services and other revenues increased $diilion , or 4% , in 2010 compared to 2009 , aspresented 12% of total net
revenues in both 2010 and 2009 . The increase ikatiag services and other revenues was primatifibatable to our advertising and
classifieds businesses, partially offset by thduesian of marketing services and other revenuetbatable to Skype.

Summary of Cost of Net Revenues

The following table summarizes changes in costebfravenues for the periods presented:

Change from Change from
Year Ended December 31, 2010 to 2011 2009 to 2010
2011 2010 2009 in Dollars in % in Dollars in %

(In thousands, except percentages)
Cost of net revenues:

Marketplaces $ 1,209,65! $ 1,071,49 $ 968,26t $ 138,15: 13% $ 103,23 11%
As a percentage of total Marketplaces net revenues 18.2% 18.7% 18.2%

Payments 1,865,49: 1,493,16: 1,220,61! 372,32¢ 25% 272,54¢ 22%
As a percentage of total Payments net revenues 42.%% 43.5% 43.7%

GSI® 374,11 — — 374,11° N/A — N/A
As a percentage of total GSI net revenues 63.4% N/A N/A

Communications — — 290,87" — N/A (290,87) N/A
As a percentage of total Communications net revenue N/A N/A 46.9%
Corporate and othét 10,924 — — 10,92« N/A — N/A

Total cost of net revenues $ 3,460,18 $ 2,564,66 $ 2,479,76: $ 895,51 35% $ 84,90t 3%
As a percentage of net revenues 29.1% 28.(% 28.4%

(1) GSl was acquired in June 2011.
(2) Represents costs associated with our X.commeitégive, which was launched in conjunction wibr acquisition of Magento in the third
quarter of 2011.

Cost of Net Revenues

Cost of net revenues consists primarily of cosseeiated with payment processing, customer supgitetpperations, fulfillment, invento
and Skype telecommunications (through November R@&ignificant components of these costs includekhkeansaction fees, credit card
interchange and assessment fees, interest expetiséaebtedness incurred to finance the purchasertgumer loan receivables related to Bill
Me Later accounts, employee compensation, contraotts, facilities costs, depreciation of equiptreard amortization expense.

Marketplaces

Marketplaces cost of net revenues increased $18#ian , or 13% , in 2011 compared to 2010 . Thereéase during 2011 was due
primarily to the impact of acquiring brands4frierdiging the first quarter of 2011 and increasedausr support costs associated with our C
growth. Marketplaces cost of net revenues as aeptage of Marketplaces net revenues decreasedyd20itil compared to the same period of
the prior year due primarily to improved operatiegerage in our site operation infrastructure,ipiytoffset by the impact of acquisitions. In
addition, Marketplaces cost of net revenues as@ptage of Marketplaces net revenues in 2010 drasrsely impacted by the settlement of a
lawsuit and the establishment of a reserve rel@tegrtain indirect tax positions (recorded asduction in revenue).
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Marketplaces cost of net revenues increased $10dian , or 11% , in 2010 compared to 2009 . Thereéase during 2010 was due
primarily to the inclusion of a full year of cositiributable to Gmarket and increased site operatists. Marketplaces cost of net revenues as a
percentage of Marketplaces net revenues incredigidysin 2010 compared to 20Gfue primarily to the addition of Gmarket, the settent of
lawsuit and the establishment of a reserve relmi@grtain indirect tax positions (recorded asduction in revenue).

Payments

Payments cost of net revenues increased $372.@mijlor 25% , in 2011 compared to 2010 due prilpaoi the impact of growth in net
TPV. Payments cost of net revenues as a perceafd®gyments net revenues decreased during 201harechto 2010 due primarily to a lower
transaction expense rate. The improvement in amstction expense rate was driven primarily byirtigact of certain regulatory changes, new
payment processing arrangements, a favorable nifixstower cost international markets and a snmaprovement in funding mix.

Payments cost of net revenues increased $272.Bmijlbr 22% , in 2010 compared to 2009 . The iasegin cost of net revenues was
primarily due to the impact from our growth in Ad®V. Payments cost of net revenues as a perceafd®gyments net revenues decreased
slightly in 2010 compared to 2009 due primarilyrtgproved leverage of our customer support infracttne and existing site operations.

GSlI

GSI cost of net revenues were $374.1 million du@g1, which represents GSl's cost of net revenueshfperiod from June 17, 20
(the date the acquisition was completed) througbebwer 31, 2011 .

Communications

On November 19, 2009, we completed the sale of &ky@n investor group. Accordingly, Skype's cdstai revenue is not consolidated
in our 2011 or 2010 results.

Summary of Operating Expenses, Non-Operating Itearsl Provision for Income Taxes

The following table summarizes changes in operagxmenses, non-operating items and provision forite taxes for the periods
presented:

Change from Change from
Year Ended December 31, 2010 to 2011 2009 to 2010
2011 2010 2009 in Dollars in % in Dollars in %

(In thousands, except percentage changes) |
Sales and marketing $ 243504 $ 194681 $ 1,88567 $ 488,23: 25% $ 61,13¢ 3%
Product development 1,235,17. 908,43:¢ 803,07( 326,73 36 % 105,36« 13%
General and administrative 1,364,22. 1,079,38: 1,418,38! 284,83t 26 % (339,00¢) (24)%
Provision for transaction and loan losses 516,65¢ 392,24( 382,82! 124,41¢ 32% 9,41¢ 2%
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 267,37 189,72° 262,68t 77,647 41 % (72,959 (28)%
Restructuring (489) 21,435 38,181 (21,92¢) (102)% (16,75() (48)%
Interest and other, net 1,536,55 44 .87¢ 1,422,38! 1,491,68. 3,32¢%  (1,377,50)) (97)%
Provision for income taxes (680,659 (297,48¢) (490,05¢) (383,179 12€ % 192,56¢ (39)%

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilgeérising costs and marketing programs (both endind offline), employee
compensation, contractor costs, facilities costbdepreciation on equipment. Online marketing espsmepresent traffic acquisition costs in
various channels such as paid search, affiliateketing and display advertising. Offline advertigimcludes brand campaigns, buyer/seller
communications and general public relations expenseignificant portion of our sales and marketingense is attributable to our online
marketing programs, primarily paid search, whiatiude keyword advertising and third party lead gatien costs, in order to drive traffic to ¢
Marketplaces and Payments websites.
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Sales and marketing expense increased by $488iammibr 25% in 2011 compared to 2010 . The inseca sales and marketing expense
was due primarily to higher marketing program costsployee-related expenses (including consultastisg facility costs and equipment-related
costs) and the impact from acquisitions, prima@l$l.

Sales and marketing expense increased by $61.ibmidr 3% in 2010 compared to 2009 . The increess due primarily to higher
employee-related expenses (including consultansctaility costs and equipment-related costsyketing program costs and costs attributable
to Gmarket, partially offset by the exclusion obtattributable to Skype.

Product Development

Product development expenses consist primarilyrgfleyee compensation, contractor costs, facilti@sts and depreciation on equipm:
Product development expenses are net of requigithtaation of major site and other product deypah@nt efforts, including the developmen
our next generation platform architecture, migmatd certain platforms, seller tools and Paymeatsises projects. Our top technology priori
involve search, catalog, mobile, platform and wsqrerience. Capitalized site and product developmests were $170.8 million , $135.4
million and $105.4 million in 2011 , 2010 and 200@spectively, and are primarily reflected as st ©b net revenues when amortized in future
periods.

Product development expenses increased by $328i@mior 36% , in 2011 compared to 2010 The iasewas due primarily to higher
employee-related costs (including consultant cdatslity costs and equipment-related costs) driggrincreased investment in our top
technology priorities and the impact from acquisit.

Product development expenses increased by $108idmor 13%, in 2010 compared to 2009 . The iaseewas due primarily to an
increase in employee-related and consultant costsrdby increased investment in our top technolpgdgrities and the inclusion of a full fiscal
year of costs attributable to Gmarket (acquirece2009), partially offset by the exclusion of caatisibutable to Skype.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist piliynairemployee compensation, contractor costs|ifes costs, depreciation of
equipment, employer payroll taxes on employee stiaded compensation, legal expenses, insuranceynsrand professional fees. Our legal
expenses, including those related to various onpleigal proceedings, may fluctuate substantiatiyfiperiod to period.

General and administrative expenses increased $2&@#ion , or 26% , in 2011 compared to 2010 . Ti@ease was due primarily to an
increase in payroll and related expenses and thadtrfrom acquisitions. The increase in 2011 was dle in part to an increase in professional
service fees, including those relating to acquisii

General and administrative expenses decreased®8®ion, or 24%, in 2010 compared to 2009 . Tleer@ase was due primarily to a
charge of $343.2 million related to the settlemsra lawsuit between Skype, Joltid and entitiestiaied by Joltid's founders in 2009, exclusion
of costs attributable to Skype following the saiel &igher costs associated with our acquisitiondinestiture activities in fiscal 2009. The
decreases were partially offset by higher emplagdeted and consultant costs as well as a fulafigear of costs attributable to Gmarket.

Provision for Transaction and Loan Losses

Provision for transaction and loan losses congisisarily of transaction loss expense associateél aur customer protection programs,
fraud, chargebacks and merchant credit lossesgéidexpense associated with our accounts receibabhnce; and loan reserves associated
with our loan receivables balance. We expect oavipion for transaction and loan loss expenseucttlate depending on many factors,
including macroeconomic conditions, our custometgution programs and the impact of regulatory gean

Provision for transaction and loan losses increagef124.4 million , or 32% , in 2011 compared @1Q . This increase was due primarily
to higher transaction volume and higher transadtes rates, partially offset by improvements iaridoss and bad debt rates. Transaction loss
rates increased due primarily to strategic risk ag@ment decisions designed to improve the useriexgpe and drive growth as well as the
expansion of our protection programs. Our loan &ws bad debt rates declined due to continued ingonents in charge-off rates.

Provision for transaction and loan losses incredye®9.4 million, or 2%, in 2010 compared to 200%e increase was due primarily to
the ongoing roll-out of eBay's buyer protectiongram and increases in transaction volume, partadfiset by improvements in PayPal's
transaction loss rate, bad debt rates and loanrddss. PayPal's transaction loss rate declined due
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to improvements in fraud loss detection, as wethassubstitution of eBay's Buyer Protection Progfar PayPal's program, partially offset by
the recent launch of PayPal's purchase protectiogram for Merchant Services transactions. Ourdsdat rates declined from improved charge-
off rates. Bill Me Later loan loss rates declinegtdh lower charge-off rate and improved delinqueatys.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

From time to time we have purchased, and we expeamintinue to purchase, assets and businessese phechase transactions generally
result in the creation of acquired intangible as®@th finite lives and lead to a corresponding@ase in our amortization expense in periods
subsequent to acquisition. We amortize intangibkets over the period of estimated benefit, ugiegstraight-line method and estimated useful
lives ranging from one to eight years. Amortizatafracquired intangible assets is also impactedurysales of assets and businesses and timing
of acquired intangible assets becoming fully amerdi See “Note 5 - Goodwill and Intangible Assétsthe consolidated financial statements
included in this report.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets increasg $77.6 million , or 41% , in 2011 compared €1.@ . The increase in amortization of
acquired intangible assets was due to the thireguisitions we completed in 2011, with the acqioisiof GSI having the most significant
impact of approximately $60.5 million.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets decrédse$73.0 million, or 28%, in 2010 compared to 200 he decrease in amortization of
acquired intangible assets was due primarily tosale of Skype and the timing of acquired intargédsets becoming fully amortized, partially
offset by amortization of intangibles that resulfemin our acquisition of Gmarket.

Restructuring

In 2009, we began the consolidation of certainamstr service facilities in North America and Eurapetreamline our operations and
deliver better and more efficient customer suppmdur users. We completed these activities dutedirst quarter of 2011. The consolidation
impacted approximately 1,000 employees. In conanatiith the consolidation, we incurred aggregastrueturing costs of approximately $47.2
million , primarily related to employee severanoe denefits. During 2011, we recorded a reductiorestructuring costs of $0.5 million as a
result of changes to our assumptions associatddsuii-leasing our facility. During 2010 and 200, imcurred restructuring charges of $26.0
and $21.4 million, respectively, in connection witlis consolidation. See “Note 11- Restructuringthe consolidated financial statements
included in this report.

Interest and Other, Net

Interest and other, net, consists of interest ehomecash, cash equivalents and investments, assvigreign exchange transaction gains
and losses, our portion of operating results fromestments accounted for under the equity methe@tadunting, investment gain/loss on
acquisitions, and interest expense, consistingtefést charges on amounts borrowed and commitf@eston unborrowed amounts under our
credit agreement and interest expense on our odisgcommercial paper and debt securities. Intened other, net excludes interest expense
on borrowings incurred to finance Bill Me Latertrifolio of loan receivables, which is includeddost of net revenues (see "Note 20 - Interest
and Other, Net" to the consolidated financial stegets included in this report for more information)

Interest and other, net, increased $1.5 billioA0a1 compared to 2010 . The increase in interasbérer, net was due primarily to an
investment gain of approximately $1.7 billion asated with the sale of our remaining 30% equitgiest in Skype, partially offset by a loss
from a divested business of $256.5 million (seeteN\®- Business Combinations" and "Note 4 - Skypkafed Transactions" to the consolidated
financial statements included in this report forenmformation).

Interest and other, net, decreased $1.4 billio®,786, in 2010 compared to 2009he decrease was due primarily to the gain orsdhe o
Skype in 2009, partially offset by lower foreignceange transaction losses, an increase in int@@sne due primarily to a gain on the
repayment in full of the Skype note receivable sedior debt securities and higher average cash,ezpsvalents and investment balances in
2010.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 17% in 2011 comparet¥ts in 2010 The increase in our effective tax rate during26@mpared to 2010 w
due primarily to an increase in earnings from querations in higher-tax jurisdictions, primarilyeth.S., and U.S. taxes on the sale of our
remaining equity interest in Skype.
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Our effective tax rate was 14% in 2010 compareti7 in 2009 . The decrease in our effective taa fat 2010 compared to the prior
year was due primarily to the settlement of mudtiphcertain tax positions.

Our provision for income taxes differs from the yision computed by applying the U.S. federal statutate of 35% due primarily to
lower tax rates associated with certain earnings four operations in certain lowtx jurisdictions outside the U.S. The impact on provision
for income taxes of foreign income being taxedages different than the U.S. federal statutory wae a benefit of approximately $772.0 million
in 2011, net of a $321.5 million charge for U.&es 0n the sale of Skype, $441.0 million in 2010 $476.0 million in 2009 . A significant
portion of these benefits, which totaled approxieha$696.5 million in 2011, $284.0 million in 204®d $300.0 million in 2009 resulted from
tax rulings we have received in certain foreigrisdictions that provide for lower rates of taxatmm certain classes of income and require
various thresholds of investment and employmethése jurisdictions. The foreign jurisdictions withver tax rates that had the most signific
impact on our provision for income taxes in theigas presented include Singapore, Switzerland, &ared Luxembourg. See "Note 1Bieome
Taxes" to the consolidated financial statementiided in this report for more information on oux tate reconciliation.

Our provision for income taxes is volatile andgeneral, is adversely impacted by earnings beiwgidhan anticipated in countries that
have lower tax rates and higher than anticipatemimtries that have higher tax rates. Our prowi$iw income taxes does not include provisi
for U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding ta&ssociated with the repatriation of a substaptalion of undistributed earnings of certain
foreign subsidiaries because we intend to reintheste earnings indefinitely in our foreign subsidia. If these earnings were distributed into
United States in the form of dividends to eBay canips domiciled in the United States or otherwasef the shares of the relevant foreign
subsidiaries were sold or otherwise transferredyweld be subject to additional U.S. income taxsebject to an adjustment for foreign tax
credits) and foreign withholding taxes. Furtheraagsult of certain of our ongoing employment aagital investment actions and commitme
our income in certain countries is subject to redluiax rates and in some cases is wholly exempt fexx. Our failure to meet these
commitments could adversely impact our provisionificome taxes.

From time to time, we engage in certain interconypaansactions and legal entity restructurings. adesider many factors when
evaluating these transactions, including the aligninof our corporate structure with our organizaiocobjectives and the operational and tax
efficiency of our corporate structure, as welltas long-term cash flows and cash needs of ourrdiftebusinesses. These transactions may
impact our overall tax rate and/or result in additil cash tax payments. The impact in any periog lmessignificant. These transactions may be
complex and the impact of such transactions orréuperiods may be difficult to estimate. In 200@, ompleted a legal entity restructuring as a
result of which we transferred approximately $lillidm in cash to the U.S. The tax impact of théstructuring was included in our 2009
provision for income taxes. As a result of thisigaction, we made a cash payment for taxes of appately $207.4 million during the first
quarter of 2010.

We are regularly under examination by tax authesittoth domestically and internationally. We badiéivat adequate amounts have been
reserved for any adjustments that may ultimatedyltefrom these examinations, although we cannadrasyou that this will be the case given
inherent uncertainties in these examinations. [Dubd ongoing tax examinations, we believe it ipriactical to determine the amount and tirr
of these adjustments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 3,273,67. $ 2,745,761  $ 2,908,08!
Investing activities (3,306,86)) (2,282,47)) (1,149,38)
Financing activities (838,49¢) 1,234,401 (945,65¢f)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equigalen (14,62¢) (120,109 (2,157
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis. $ (886,31) $ 157759 $ 810,89(

Operating Activities

We generated cash from operating activities in artegreater than net income in 2011, 2010 and 20d0@ primarily
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to gains on the sale of Skype and acquisitionsramdcash charges to earnings partially offset langles in working capital. Notash charges
earnings included depreciation and amortizatiomwnlong-term assets, stock-based compensatiohplos divestiture of a business and the
provision for transaction and loan losses. Thedase in cash provided by operating activities ih12€ompared to 2010 was due primarily to a
decrease in cash paid for taxes in 2011. Cashfpatdxes in 2010 included a cash payment for tategpproximately $207.4 million related
primarily to a legal entity restructuring completiedhe fourth quarter 2009.

The decrease in cash provided by operating ae$viti 2010 compared to 2009 was due primarily tmearease in cash paid for taxes of
$303.6 million related primarily to a legal entigstructuring completed in the fourth quarter 082@nd the settlement of uncertain tax posit
in the fourth quarter of 2010.

Cash paid for income taxes in 2011 , 2010 and 2009$372.5 million , $645.8 million and $342.2 ioifi , respectively.
Investing Activities

The net cash used in investing activities of $3l&h in 2011 was due primarily to net cash paad &cquisition of businesses of $3.2
billion , purchases of investments of $2.3 billigpurchases of property and equipment, net, of $6llion and the purchase of consumer loan
receivables (net of collections) originated throwgin Bill Me Later merchant network of $586.5 nalii, partially offset by proceeds of $2.3
billion related to the sale of our remaining 30qgeet interest in Skype and $1.6 billion from mates and sales of investments.

The net cash used in investing activities of $2l®h in 2010 was due primarily to cash paid farphases of investments of $2.6 billion,
purchases of property and equipment, net, of $72®I®n and the purchase of consumer loan recédsfnet of collections) originated through
our Bill Me Later merchant network of $379.7 mitiiopartially offset by proceeds of $1.4 billion finanaturities and sales of investments.

Financing Activities

The net cash used in financing activities of $838ilion in 2011 was due primarily to $1.1 billion cash paid to repurchase our comr
stock and $147.1 million in cash paid for tax witldings related to net share settlements of rasttistock units and nonvested share awards,
partially offset by proceeds from net borrowingslenthe commercial paper program of $250.0 milli@42.2 million from the issuance of
common stock in connection with the exercise oflstaptions and our employee stock purchase plar@@d’ million in excess tax benefits
from stock-based compensation.

The net cash provided by financing activities of2#dillion in 2010 was due primarily to cash prageérom our sale of $1.5 bhillion of
senior unsecured debt securities in October 20805800.0 million of net borrowings under a commarpiaper program that we implemente:
November 2010, $235.5 million in proceeds fromigseiance of common stock upon the exercise of siptikns, and $41.9 million of exce
tax benefits from stock-based compensation. Thessepds were partially offset by cash outflows BI% 1 million to repurchase our common
stock and $120.6 million paid for tax withholdingdated to the net share settlements of restrigtieck awards and units.

The negative effect of currency exchange ratesash end cash equivalents during 2011 , 2010 an@ ®@8 due to the strengthening of
the U.S. dollar against certain foreign currengoesnarily the Euro.

Stock Repurchases

In September 2010, our Board authorized a stockrofyase program that provides for the repurchasg ¢d $2.0 billion of our common stock,
with no expiration from the date of authorizatifor, the purpose of offsetting the impact of dilutifsom our equity compensation programs.
During 2011, we repurchased approximately $1.1onilbf our common stock under this stock repurchmsgram. As of December 31, 2011 ,
approximately $880.5 million remained for furthepurchases of our common stock under this stoakrcbpse program.

Our stock repurchase programs may be limited oniteated at any time without prior notice. Stockuaghases under these programs may
be made through a variety of open market and miyategotiated transactions, including structuredlsrepurchase transactions or other
derivative transactions, at times and in such ansas management deems appropriate and may bedftnote our working capital or other
financing alternatives. The timing and actual nunidfeshares repurchased will depend on a variefaatbrs including corporate and regulatory
requirements, price and other market conditionsmmadagement's determination as to the appropris@iuour cash. The programs are intended
to comply with the volume, timing and other limitats set forth in Rule 10b-18 under the Securiirshange Act of 1934.
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Shelf Registration Statement

At December 31, 2011 , we had an effective sheifsteation statement on file with the Securitied &xchange Commission that allows
us to issue various types of debt securities, asdixed or floating rate notes, U.S. dollar orefgn currency denominated notes, redeemable
notes, global notes, and dual currency or othezxad notes. Issuances under the shelf registratibrequire the filing of a prospectus
supplement identifying the amount and terms ofstheurities to be issued. The registration statemhe®as$ not limit the amount of debt securities
that may be issued thereunder. Our ability to ishel® securities is subject to market conditiords @ther factors impacting our borrowing
capacity, including our credit ratings.

In October 2010, we issued $1.5 billion aggregaitecppal amount of our senior unsecured debt sdearunder a prior shelf registration
statement in an underwritten public offering. Thdsbt securities remain outstanding and consi$460 million aggregate principal amount of
0.875% notes due 2013, $600 million aggregate mah@amount of 1.625% notes due 2015 and $500anibiggregate principal amount of
3.250% notes due 2020. The indenture pursuant tchvthe notes were issued includes customary caierthat, among other things, limit our
ability to incur, assume or guarantee debt sechiydiéns on specified assets or enter into saleleamk-back transactions with respect to
specified properties, and also includes customeents of default. As of December 31, 2011, we viri@mpliance with the covenants in the
indenture.

Commercial Paper

We have a $2.0 billion commercial paper progranspant to which we may issue commercial paper neismaturities of up to 397
days from the date of issue in an aggregate paheimount of up to $2.0 billion at any time outsting. As of December 31, 2011 , $550.0
million aggregate principal amount of commercigb@awas outstanding, the weighted average intesigson those notes was 0.16% per annum
and the weighted average remaining term on thotesweas 40 days.

Credit Agreement

On November 22, 2011, we entered into a crediteagent that provides for an unsecured $3.0 billive-fear revolving credit facility
that includes a $300.0 million letter of credit sfability and a $100.0 million swingline sub-fagjlj with available borrowings under the
revolving credit facility reduced by the amountaofy letters of credit and swingline borrowings tansling from time to time. We may also,
subject to the agreement of the applicable lendiecsease the commitments under the revolving tfadility by up to $1.0 billion. Funds
borrowed under the credit agreement may be useaddting capital, capital expenditures, acquisisi@md other general corporate purposes.
The credit agreement replaced our prior $1.8 hillimsecured revolving credit agreement, dated Noeem, 2006.

As of December 31, 2011, no borrowings or lettdrsredit were outstanding under our $3.0 billisadit agreement. However, as
described above, we have a $2.0 billion commepzaakr program and we maintain $2.0 billion of alalé borrowing capacity under our credit
agreement in order to repay commercial paper bongsin the event we are unable to repay thoseotnmgs from other sources when they
become due. Accordingly, at December 31, 2011Q Billion of borrowing capacity was available fadher purposes permitted by the credit
agreement.

Loans under the credit agreement bear interesthetr€i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOBt)s a margin (based on our pu
debt ratings) ranging from 0.625 percent to 1.1@&ent or (ii) a formula based on the agent bamik'se rate, the federal funds effective rate or
LIBOR plus a margin (based on our public debt gg)ranging from zero percent to 0.125 percent.crhdit agreement will terminate and all
amounts owing thereunder will be due and payabldavember 22, 2016, unless (a) the commitmentseaneinated earlier, either at our reqt
or, if an event of default occurs, by the lendersautomatically in the case of certain bankrupthated events of default), or (b) the maturity
date is extended upon our request, subject togheement of the lenders. The credit agreement mmntastomary representations, warranties,
affirmative and negative covenants, including aficial covenant, events of default and indemnificeprovisions in favor of the banks. The
negative covenants include restrictions regardiegncurrence of liens, subject to certain exceystid he financial covenant requires us to meet
a quarterly financial test with respect to a minimconsolidated interest coverage ratio.

As of December 31, 2011 , we were in compliancé Wit financial covenants in the credit agreement.

Notes Payable and Capital Lease Obligations

In addition to the debt described above, as of Béez 31, 2011, we had notes payable of $16.7 mikind capital lease obligations of
$14.9 million that were assumed as part of our &§uisition.
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Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2011 , approximately $9.6 hillaf unused credit was available to Bill Me Latec@untholders. The individual lines
of credit that make up this unused credit are sultgeperiodic review and termination by the chatefinancial institution that is the issuer of
Bill Me Later credit products based on, among othergs, account usage and customer creditworthin@ghen a consumer makes a purchase
using a Bill Me Later credit product the chartefiaéncial institution extends credit to the consupfiends the extension of credit at the point of
sale and advances funds to the merchant. We sulrsigpurchase the receivables related to the enasilpans extended by the chartered
financial institution and, as a result of the pa®sd, bear the risk of loss in the event of loaaulé&s. Although the chartered financial institution
continues to own each customer account, we ownethéed receivable, and Bill Me Later is resporesiiolr all servicing functions related to the
account.

We have certain fixed contractual obligations aochmitments that include future estimated paymemtgé&neral operating purposes.
Changes in our business needs, contractual catieelf@ovisions, fluctuating interest rates, ankdestfactors may result in actual payments
differing from the estimates. We cannot providdaiaty regarding the timing and amounts of thesengnts. The following table summarizes
our fixed contractual obligations and commitmeimgtiousands):

Purchase
Payments Due During the Year Ending December 31, Debt Leases Obligations Total
2012 $ 588,22: $ 94,85: $ 209,46¢ $ 892,54.
2013 443,37( 66,77 67,52: 577,66
2014 42,78¢ 49,82( 63,38¢ 155,99(
2015 626,48 37,581 61,15: 725,22
2016 16,26! 23,73( 54,65 94,64
Thereafter 565,00( 38,69: — 603,69:

$ 2282120 $ 311,45 % 456,18( $ 3,049,75

The significant assumptions used in our determmadf amounts presented in the above table arellasvs:

« Debt amounts include the principal and inteegsbunts of the respective debt instruments. Foitiaddl details related to our debt,
please see “Note 12 — Debt” to the consolidateahfinal statements included in this report.

« Lease amounts include minimum rental paymenteuour non-cancelable operating leases for officéities, fulfilment centers, as
well as computer and office equipment that wezgilinder lease arrangements. The amounts presaetednsistent with
contractual terms and are not expected to diffgricantly from actual results under our existlegses, unless a substantial ch:
in our headcount needs requires us to expand @upéed space or exit an office facility early.

« Purchase obligation amounts include minimum pase commitments for advertising, capital expenegicomputer equipment,
software applications, engineering developmentisesy construction contracts) and other goods andces entered into in the
ordinary course of business.

As we are unable to reasonably predict the timiingettlement of liabilities related to unrecognizes benefits, net, the table does not
include $368.9 million of such non-current liabhé# included in deferred and other tax liabilitiesorded on our consolidated balance sheet as ©
December 31, 2011 .

Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

At December 31, 2011 , we had assets classifiedsts and cash equivalents, as well as time degogitfixed income securities classified
as short-term investments, in an aggregate amd@n.b billion , compared to $7.8 billion at Deceenl31, 2010 . At December 31, 2011 , this
amount included assets held in certain of our {preiperations totaling approximately $6.6 billidifithese assets were distributed to the
U.S., we may be subject to additional U.S. taxeseittain circumstances. We actively monitor thedtpiarty depository institutions and money
market funds that hold these assets, primarilygomuon the safety of principal and secondarily imézing yield on these assets. We diversify
our cash and cash equivalents and investments awaoitgis financial institutions and money marketds in order to reduce our exposure
should any one of these financial institutions aney market funds fail or encounter difficultiem date, we have not experienced any material
loss or lack of access to our invested cash, casivaents or short-term investments; however, ae grovide no assurances that access to our
invested cash, cash equivalents or skena investments will not be impacted by adversed@mns in the financial markets. At any pointtime
we have funds in our operating accounts and custome
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accounts that are deposited with third party fim@riostitutions. These balances in the U.S. mageer the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC) insurance limits. While we mamithe cash balances in our operating accountsetba&sh balances could be adversely
impacted if the underlying financial institutioralfand could be subject to other adverse conditiorthe financial markets.

To the extent that our Bill Me Later products beeomore widely available through improved and mamgrehensive product integratic
with eBay, PayPal and other channels, and as weefiupromote Bill Me Later products, we expect oostr adoption and usage of Bill Me Le
products to expand. Any resulting growth in thetfwdio of Bill Me Later loan receivables would irease our liquidity needs and any failure to
meet those liquidity needs could adversely affeetBill Me Later business. We currently fund theanxsion of the Bill Me Later portfolio of
loan receivables with borrowings and domestic amerhational cash resources.

From time to time, we engage in certain interconypaansactions and legal entity restructurings. &@mple, in 2009, we completed a
legal entity restructuring that resulted in a cpaiment for taxes of approximately $207.4 milliarthie first quarter of 2010. We consider many
factors when evaluating these transactions, inolyithe alignment of our corporate structure with aganizational objectives and the
operational and tax efficiency of our corporateistre, as well as the long-term cash flows antl caeds of our different businesses. These
transactions may impact our overall tax rate and¥sult in additional cash tax payments. The impaeny period may be significant. These
transactions may be complex and the impact of sactsactions on future periods may be difficulestimate.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalantsshorterm investments, together with cash expected enerated from operatior
borrowings available under our credit agreement@mmercial paper program, and our access to ¢apétkets will be sufficient to fund our
operating activities, anticipated capital expendity Bill Me Later portfolio of loan receivablesdastock repurchases for the foreseeable future.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2011 , we had no off-balancetsieangements that have, or are reasonably likdhave, a current or future material
effect on our consolidated financial condition,ules of operations, liquidity, capital expenditugscapital resources.

In Europe, we have two cash pooling arrangemertts aviinancial institution for cash management psgs. These arrangements allow
cash withdrawals from this financial institutionsleal upon our aggregate operating cash balancesheldope within the same financial
institution (Aggregate Cash Deposits) for morecééint cash management and investment purposese Bhesigements also allow us to
withdraw amounts exceeding the Aggregate Cash Dispgsto an agreed-upon limit. The net balancéhefwithdrawals and the Aggregate
Cash Deposits are used by the financial institusi®@a basis for calculating our net interest exp@nsncome. As of December 31, 20Me hac
a total of $4.9 billion in cash withdrawals offsett our $4.9 billion in Aggregate Cash Depositsdhelthin the same financial institution under
these cash pooling arrangements.

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamimercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRagmates, PayPal holds customer
balances either as direct claims against PayPad an agent or custodian on behalf of PayPal'smess. Customer balances held as direct
claims against PayPal or as an agent or custodidrebalf of our customers are not reflected inammsolidated balance sheet. Thesebafifance
sheet funds totaled approximately $2.7 billion BBecember 31, 2011 and 2010 . These funds indiuigs held on behalf of U.S. customers
that are deposited in bank accounts insured b##EME (subject to applicable limits). Additionallglease see the information in "ltem 1A: Risk
Factors" under the caption "If our Payments busim@$ound to be subject to or in violation of daws or regulations, including those govern
money transmission, electronic funds transfers,agdaundering, counter-terrorist financing, sanwicbanking and lending, it could be subject
to liability, licensure and regulatory approval andy be forced to change its business practices".

Indemnification Provisions

In the ordinary course of business, we have inddgheited indemnification provisions in certain @fir agreements with parties with wh
we have commercial relations, including our staddaarketing, promotions and application-programrpiitgrface license agreements. Under
these contracts, we generally indemnify, hold hassland agree to reimburse the indemnified partip$ses suffered or incurred by the
indemnified party in connection with claims by &dhparty with respect to our domain names, trad&sdogos and other branding elements to
the extent that such marks are applicable to odopeance under the subject agreement. GSI in noitg major ecommerce agreements has
provided an indemnity for
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other types of third-party claims, which are indéiles mainly related to various intellectual pragetghts, and we have provided similar
indemnities in a limited number of agreements far @ther businesses. In our PayPal business, we fravided an indemnity to our payment
processors in the event of certain third-partynstaor card association fines against the processing out of conduct by PayPal or PayPal
customers. In connection with the sale of Skypemagle certain customary warranties to the buyérémpurchase agreement. Our liability to
buyer for inaccuracies in these warranties is galyesubject to certain limitations. With respeatcertain specified litigation matters involving
Skype that were pending as of the closing of thesaction, we also agreed, among other thingsdo %0% of the cost of any monetary
judgment that is rendered in respect of those msatieis not possible to determine the maximuneptal loss under these indemnificat
provisions due to our limited history of prior indaification claims and the unique facts and circtamses involved in each particular provision.
To date, losses recorded in our statement of indarmennection with our indemnification provisiohave not been significant, either
individually or collectively.

Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estirest
General

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets and related notes requires us to make judgiestimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenue and expenses, and related disclosurenthgent assets and liabilities. We have based
our estimates on historical experience and on uarather assumptions that are believed to be rebf®nnder the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments aboutdaeying values of assets and liabilities thatreovereadily apparent from other sources. Our
senior management has discussed the developmksttjse and disclosure of these estimates withAtheit Committee of our Board of
Directors. Actual results may differ from thesedrastes under different assumptions or conditions.

An accounting policy is considered to be criti¢at requires an accounting estimate to be madedas assumptions about matters that
are highly uncertain at the time the estimate idenand if different estimates that reasonablyddalve been used, or changes in the accounting
estimates that are reasonably likely to occur pically, could materially impact the consolidat@ubhcial statements. We believe the following
critical accounting policies reflect the more sfgrant estimates and assumptions used in the mgparof our consolidated financial statements.
The following descriptions of critical accountingligies, judgments and estimates should be readnjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and other disclosures included in &gert.

Provision for Transaction and Loan Losses

Provision for transaction and loan losses congistsarily of transaction loss expense associatel @ur customer protection programs,
fraud, chargebacks and merchant credit losses¢&lidexpense associated with our accounts receibabhnce; and loan reserves associated
with our loan receivables balance. Our provisiantfansaction and loan loss expense fluctuatesndi#pg on many factors, including
macroeconomic conditions, our customer protectimgmams and the impact of regulatory changes.

The following table illustrates the provision foansaction and loan losses as a percentage ofvetues for 2011 , 2010 and 2009 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net revenues $ 11,651,65 $ 9,156,27. $ 8,727,36.
Provision for transaction and loan losses $ 516,65t $ 392,24( $ 382,82!
Provision for transaction and loan losses as a #iebfevenues 4.4% 4.3% 4.4%

Determining appropriate allowances for these lossasa inherently uncertain process and is suligectimerous estimates and judgments,
and ultimate losses may vary from the current estisn We regularly update our allowance estimatesa facts become known and events
occur that may impact the settlement or recovefpsdes. The allowances are maintained at a leeelaem appropriate to adequately provide
for losses incurred at the balance sheet date ggregate 50 basis point deviation from our providir transaction and loan losses as a
percentage of net revenues would have resulted incaease or decrease in operating income of appetely $58.3 million in 2011 , resulting
in an approximate $0.04 change in diluted earnpegsshare.

Legal Contingencies

In connection with certain pending litigation anttier claims, we have estimated the range of preblakk, net of
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expected recoveries, and provided for such lossesigh charges to our consolidated statement ohiec These estimates have been based on
our assessment of the facts and circumstanceslabatance sheet date and are subject to changd bpsn new information and future events.

From time to time, we are involved in disputes eeglilatory inquiries that arise in the ordinary isguof business. We are currently
involved in certain legal proceedings as discusséttem 1A: Risk Factors,” “Item 3: Legal Proceads” and “Note 13 - Commitments and
Contingenciesto the consolidated financial statements includhettis report. We believe that we have meritoridefenses to the claims agai
us, and we intend to defend ourselves vigorousbweéler, even if successful, our defense againioesictions will be costly and could require
significant amounts of management's time and réstite diversion of significant operational resmes. If the plaintiffs were to prevail on
certain claims, we might be forced to pay significdamages and licensing fees, modify our busipesgices or even be prohibited from
conducting a significant part of our business. Aogh results could materially harm our businesscandtd result in a material adverse impac
the financial position, results of operations osltflows of any or all of our business segments.

Accounting for Income Taxes

Our annual tax rate is based on our income, statt#a rates and tax planning opportunities avééab us in the various jurisdictions in
which we operate. Tax laws are complex and sulbjedifferent interpretations by the taxpayer argpegtive government taxing authorities.
Significant judgment is required in determining tax expense and in evaluating our tax positiamduding evaluating uncertainties. We review
our tax positions quarterly and adjust the balamsasew information becomes available. Our inceemeate is significantly affected by the tax
rates that apply to our foreign earnings. In addito local country tax laws and regulations, m@oime tax rate depends on the extent that our
earnings are indefinitely reinvested outside th®.Uhdefinite reinvestment is determined by managefe judgment about and intentions
concerning our future operations. At December 81,12, $10.0 billion of earnings had been indefigiteinvested outside the U.S, primarily in
active non-U.S. business operations. We do nohéhte repatriate these earnings to fund U.S. ojperaand, accordingly, we do not provide for
U.S. federal income and foreign withholding theedltese earnings.

Deferred tax assets represent amounts availalbégltece income taxes payable on taxable incometimefiyears. Such assets arise bec
of temporary differences between the financial répg and tax bases of assets and liabilities, @lag from net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. We evaluate the recoverability @fsth future tax deductions and credits by assetisingdequacy of future expected taxable
income from all sources, including reversal of tagraemporary differences, forecasted operatingiegs and available tax planning strategies.
These sources of income rely heavily on estimdtasare based on a number of factors, includinghatorical experience and short- and long-
range business forecasts. At December 31, 201lhade valuation allowance on certain loss carwéods based on our assessment that it is
more likely than not that the deferred tax assétnei be realized.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positioasdordance with generally accepted accountingiplies in the U.S., or GAAP,
pursuant to which we only recognize the tax berfiedin an uncertain tax position if it is more ligghan not that the tax position will be
sustained on examination by the taxing authoribesed on the technical merits of the position. fBixebenefits recognized in the financial
statements from such positions are then measusstitzm the largest benefit that has a greater3@aoercent likelihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement. We report a liability for ucognized tax benefits resulting from uncertaingazitions taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. GAAP further requires that a change in judgt related to the expected ultimate resolutionn@fertain tax positions be recognized in
earnings in the quarter in which such change octMesrecognize interest and penalties, if anyteel#o unrecognized tax benefits in income
expense.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjarisdictions around the world. A number of yearay elapse before an uncertain tax
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésitoften difficult to predict the final outcome thre timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our reseffee income taxes reflect the most likely outcom adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, where appropriate in light ofrafiag facts and circumstances. Settlement of anycpéar position could require the use of ce

The following table illustrates our effective taates for 2011 , 2010 and 2009 (in thousands, exgEpentages):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Provision for income taxes $ 680,65¢ % 297,48t % 490,05
As a % of income before income taxes 17% 14% 17%

Our future effective tax rates could be adverséigcéed by earnings being lower than anticipateddantries where we have lower
statutory rates and higher than anticipated in t@swhere we have higher statutory rates, by ghain the valuations of our deferred tax a:
or liabilities, or by changes or interpretationgan laws, regulations or accounting
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principles. In addition, we are subject to the emmus examination of our income tax returns byltiternal Revenue Service, as well as various
state and foreign tax authorities. We regularlyeasghe likelihood of adverse outcomes resultiomfthese examinations to determine the
adequacy of our provision for income taxes.

Based on our results for the year ended Decemhe(R1l , a one-percentage point change in our giavifor income taxes as a
percentage of income before taxes would have ebuitan increase or decrease in the provisioppifaximately $39.1 million , resulting in an
approximate $0.03 change in diluted earnings paresh

Revenue Recognition

We may enter into certain revenue transactionsjamily related to advertising contracts, that aresidered multiple element
arrangements (arrangements with more than oneeatlable). We also may enter into arrangements tohase goods and/or services from cel
customers. As a result, significant interpretatiod judgment is sometimes required to determina@ppeopriate accounting for these
transactions including: (1) how the arrangemensieration should be allocated among potentialiplaldeliverables; (2) developing an
estimate of the stand-alone selling price of ealverable; (3) whether revenue should be repagteds (as eBay is acting as a principal), or net
(as eBay is acting as an agent); (4) when we peowadh consideration to our customers, determintngther we are receiving an identifiable
benefit that is separable from the customer's @selof our products and/or services and for whieltan reasonably estimate fair value; and (5)
whether the arrangement would be characterizedweeue or reimbursement of costs incurred. Chaingesigments with respect to these
assumptions and estimates could impact the timiregreount of revenue recognition.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The purchase price of an acquired company is dbocaetween intangible assets and the net tang#islets of the acquired business with
the residual of the purchase price recorded aswitlod@ihe determination of the value of the intablgi assets acquired involves certain
judgments and estimates. These judgments can mdud are not limited to, the cash flows that ssedis expected to generate in the future
the appropriate weighted average cost of capital.

At December 31, 2011 , our goodwill totaled $8 Midn and our identifiable intangible assets, maled $1.4 billion . We assess the
impairment of goodwill of our reporting units antiyaor more often if events or changes in circuansies indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. This assessment is based ugisoaunted cash flow analysis and analysis ofhearket capitalization. The estimate of cash
flow is based upon, among other things, certainragsions about expected future operating perforrmamzl an appropriate discount rate
determined by our management. Our estimates obdiged cash flows may differ from actual cash flalug to, among other things, economic
conditions, changes to our business model or clsingeperating performance. Significant differenbetveen these estimates and actual cash
flows could materially adversely affect our futdirancial results. These factors increase theafdkifferences between projected and actual
performance that could impact future estimateawffalue of all reporting units. We conducted aonual impairment test of goodwill as of
August 31, 2011 and 2010. As a result of thiswestietermined that no adjustment to the carryifgevaf goodwill for any reporting units was
required. See “Note 5 - Goodwill and Intangible éts$ to the consolidated financial statements idetlin this report. As of December 31,
2011 , we determined that no events or circumstafroen August 31, 2011 through December 31, 20dic@ted that a further assessment was
necessary.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize stock-based compensapense based on the fair value measurement fehate-based payment awards
made to our employees and directors, including eygd stock options, employee stock purchases atricted stock awards over the service
period for awards expected to vest. Stock-basegeosation expense recognized for 2011 , 2010 ad8 8@s $457.2 million , $381.5 million
and $394.8 million , respectively. See “Note 17tecB-Based and Employee Savings Plans” to the diolased financial statements included in
this report.

We calculated the fair value of each restrictedlstoward based on our stock price on the dateaftgiWe calculated the fair value of
each stock option award on the date of grant usiadlackScholes option pricing model. The determinatiofiairfvalue of stock option awari
on the date of grant using an option-pricing maslelffected by our stock price as well as assumptiegarding a number of additional variables
described below. The use of a Black-Scholes maaglires extensive actual employee exercise behdsatarand a number of assumptions,
including expected life, expected volatility, riflee interest rate and dividend yield. As a reguttyre stock-based compensation expense may
differ from our historical amounts. The weighteceeage grant-date fair value of stock options gidigring 2011 , 2010 and 2009 was $9.87 ,
$6.77 and $4.59 per share, respectively, usin@thek-Scholes model with the following weighted-eage assumptions:
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Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 1.2% 1.4% 1.7%
Expected life (in years) 3.8 34 3.8
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 38% 37% 47%

Our computation of expected volatility for 201101D and 2009 was based on a combination of histicsticd market-based implied
volatility from traded options on our stock. Oumgoutation of expected life was determined baselistorical experience of similar awards,
giving consideration to the contractual terms &f stock-based awards, vesting schedules and ekpastaf future employee behavior. The
interest rate for periods within the contractutd bf the award was based on the U.S. Treasury giglve in effect at the time of grant. The
estimation of awards that will ultimately vest rggs judgment, and to the extent actual resultgpoiated estimates differ from our current
estimates, such amounts will be recorded as a aiimelladjustment in the period estimates are rdvigée consider many factors when
estimating forfeitures, including employee clasd historical experience.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See “Note 1 - The Company and Summary of Signifiéeatounting Policies” to the consolidated finahatatements included in this
report, regarding the impact of certain recent antiag pronouncements on our consolidated finarstetements.

Iltem 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Foreign Currency Exposure

We have significant operations internationally theg denominated in foreign currencies, primahly Euro, British pound, Korean won,
Australian dollar and Canadian dollar, subjectisgaiforeign currency risk which may adversely iitpaur financial results. We transact
business in various foreign currencies and havafgignt international revenues as well as costaddition, we charge our international
subsidiaries for their use of intellectual propeatyd technology and for certain corporate servicesided by eBay and by PayPal. Our cash
flow, results of operations and certain of our iatenpany balances that are exposed to foreign egeheate fluctuations may differ materially
from expectations and we may record significanhgair losses due to foreign currency fluctuatioms related hedging activities.

We have a foreign exchange exposure managemermpndgat aims to identify material foreign curremoyposures, to manage these
exposures, and to minimize the potential effectsunfency fluctuations on our reported consolidatash flows and results of operations thro
the purchase of foreign currency exchange contratisse foreign currency exchange contracts areuated for as derivative instruments. For
additional details related to our derivative ingtants, please see “Note 9 - Derivative Instrumetutshe consolidated financial statements
included in this report.

Interest Rate Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same time im&ing yields without significantly
increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we rteimour portfolio of cash equivalents and shortat@nd long-term investments in a variety of
available for sale securities, including money neaflands and government and corporate securitieafdecember 31, 2011 , approximately
56% of our total cash and investment portfolio Wwakl in bank deposits and money market funds. Ak,sthanges in interest rates will impact
our interest income. In addition, we regularly ssiew commercial paper notes to repay outstandingrercial paper notes as they mature, and
those new commercial paper notes bear interestes prevailing at the time of issuance. Accordinghanges in interest rates will impact
interest expense or cost of net revenues. As oéber 31, 2011 , we held no direct investmentsigtian rate securities, collateralized debt
obligations, structured investment vehicles or gage-backed securities. For additional detaildedl&o our investment activities, please see
"Note 7 - Investments" to the consolidated finahsiatements included in this report.

Investments in both fixed-rate and floating-ratefastearning instruments carry varying degrees of irsterae risk. The fair market vali
of our fixed-rate securities may be adversely inpadciue to a rise in interest rates. In generaljriiies with longer maturities are subject to
greater interest-rate risk than those with shartaturities. While floating rate securities gengralte subject to less interest-rate risk than fixed
rate securities, floating-rate securities may poediess income than expected if interest ratesedser Due in part to these factors, our
investment income may fall short of expectationsrermay suffer losses in principal if securities sold that have declined in market value due
to changes in interest rates. As of
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December 31, 2011 , the balance of our fixed incomestments was $2.7 billion , which represenfggreximately 33% of our total cash and
investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2011 , fixed income investments earned an average pyétdtk of approximately 3% , with a
weighted average maturity of 24 months. If interagts at the end of the year were 100 basis pbigker (lower), the fair market value of our
total fixed-income investment portfolio as of Dedmn31, 2011 could have decreased (increased)ppxdmately $30.1 million .
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Investment Risk

As of December 31, 2011, our cost and equity mietheestments totaled $189.9 million , which repreged approximately 2% of our
total cash and investment portfolio and were prilpaelated to equity method investments in companiWe review our investments for
impairment when events and circumstances indicdechne in fair value of such assets below cagyialue is other-than-temporary. Our
analysis includes a review of recent operatingltesund trends, recent sales/acquisitions of thargees in which we have invested and other
publicly available data. During 2011, we did natord any material impairment on our cost or eqoigthod investments.

On October 13, 2011, Microsoft Corp. completediitquisition of Skype and we received approxima$@s billion in cash for our 30%
interest in Skype, resulting in a pre-tax gaingbximately $1.7 billion .

Equity Price Risk
We are exposed to equity price risk on marketafplatye instruments due to market volatility. At Deaeer 31, 2011 , the total fair value of

our marketable equity instruments was $646.3 nmillizvhich represented approximately 8% of our toteh and investment portfolio and was
primarily related to our equity holdings in Mercadlare.

European Debt Exposures

We actively monitor our exposure to the Europearketa, including the impact of sovereign debt issagsociated with Greece, Ireland,
Portugal, Italy and Spain. As of December 31, 20l do not have any direct or indirect investmémtihe sovereign debt, corporations, or
financial institutions of these countries. We daimtain a small number of operating bank accoutitfs 8panish and Italian banks that have
immaterial balances.
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ITEM 8: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and accompgmptes listed in Part IV, Item 15(a)(1) of thianual Report on Form 10-K are
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10

ITEM 9: CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE:!

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedur&ased on the evaluation of our disclosure contral$ procedures (as defined in the
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the SecuBtiebange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act) requingdExchange Act Rules 13a-15(b) or
15d-15(b), our principal executive officer and our wijpal financial officer have concluded that ashaf &nd of the period covered by this rep
our disclosure controls and procedures were effecti

Changes in internal controlsThere were no changes in our internal controls émancial reporting as defined in Exchange ActéRlBa-
15(f) that occurred during our most recently cortgiefiscal quarter that have materially affectatare reasonably likely to materially affect,
internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovierancial Reporting.Our management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Our management, including our printgeecutive officer and principal financial
officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiv@nef our internal control over financial reportinased on the framework internal Control -
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiodriee Treadway Commission. Based on its evalnatinder the
framework ininternal Control - Integrated Frameworkour management concluded that our internal cbotrer financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2011 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over fio@l reporting as of December 31, 2011 has bediealiby PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears in li&ta) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B: OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 10: DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNXCE

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfrembur 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to bedfwith the SEC within 120 days
after the end of the year ended December 31, 2011 .

Code of Ethics, Governance Guidelines and CommittHearters

We have adopted@ode of Business Conduct and Etttleat applies to all eBay employees. We have alsptad aCode of Ethics for
Senior Financial Officershat applies to our senior financial officers, indihg our principal executive officer, principahéincial officer and
principal accounting officer. Th€ode of Ethics for Senior Financial Officassincluded in ouCode of Business Conduct and Ettposted on
our website ahttp://investor.ebayinc.com/governance.c¥ife will post any amendments to or waivers from@uoele of Ethics for Senior
Financial Officersat that location.

We have also adoptd&glovernance Guidelines for the Board of Directarsl a written committee charter for each of ouriRGdmmittee,
Compensation Committee and Corporate Governancélandnating Committee. Each of these documentsasdlable on our website at
http://investor.ebayinc.com/governance.cfm.
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ITEM 11: EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfrembur 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to tedfwith the SEC within 120 days
after the end of the year ended December 31, 2011 .

Annual stock option grants awarded to executivespaiced and granted to executives on the sameagatat the same price that they
are granted to and priced for the rest of our eligemployees and have the same fgear vesting schedule. In the past, these stot&rogrant:
have been awarded on March 1 of each year (or ifEM& was not a trading day, the next trading daly westing effective as of March 1).
Beginning in 2012, these annual stock option grasitde awarded on April 1 (or if April 1 is nottaading day, the next trading day with ves
effective as of April 1).

ITEM 12: SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Staterfemour 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to bedfwith the SEC within 120 days
after the end of the year ended December 31, 2011 .

ITEM 13: CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfrembur 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to tedfwith the SEC within 120 days
after the end of the year ended December 31, 2011 .

ITEM 14: PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfrembur 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to bedfwith the SEC within 120 days
after the end of the year ended December 31, 2011 .

PART IV
ltem 15: EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
(a) The following documents are filed as part o tleport:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements:
Page
Number

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheet F-2
Consolidated Statement of Income F-3
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Incom F-4
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity F-5
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-8

2. Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts F-43

All other schedules have been omitted becausentbenation required to be set forth therein is aygplicable or is shown in the financial
statements or notes thereto.




3. Exhibits.

Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
2.01 Share Allocation and Tender Offer Agreement, datedf April 16, 8-K 00024821 4/16/200¢
2009, by and among Registrant, eBay KTA (UK). ladd Gmarket
Inc.
2.02 Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 18,200and 8-K 00024821 4/16/200¢
among Registrant, eBay KTA (UK). Ltd. and Gmarkw.|
2.03*++ Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemb@09,, as 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
amended on September 14, 2009, by and among RedjsBay
International AG, Sonorit Holding, A.S. and Springlod Group
S.a.r.l. (formerly SLP Ill Cayman DS IV Holdingsas.l.)
2.04* Amendments to Share Purchase Agreement, dated@staber 19, 8-K 00024821 11/20/200¢
2009, October 21, 2009, November 5, 2009 and Noeerh®, 2009,
by and among Registrant, eBay International AG,dsibiolding,
A.S. and Springboard Group S.a.r.l. (formerly SURCByman DS
IV Holdings S.a.r.l.)
2.05** Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 27, 28d1gng 8-K 00024821 3/30/200¢
Registrant, Gibraltar Acquisition Corp. and GSI Goerce, Inc.
3.01 Registrant's Amended and Restated Certificate adrfyoration. 10-Q 00024821 7/27/200¢
3.02 Registrant's Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 00024821 6/28/2011
4.01 Form of Specimen Certificate for Registrant's ComrStock. S-1 33359097 8/19/199¢
4.02 Indenture dated as of October 28, 2010 betweensRagt and Well
Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.03 Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 28, Béfeen
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National Assoaigtas trustee. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.04 Forms of 0.875% Senior Note due 2013, 1.625% Sé\de due
2015 and 3.250% Senior Note due 2020. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.05 Form of 2.50% Convertible Senior Note d0272 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
4.06 Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI Cenoen Inc. and 10-Q 00024821 7122/2011
The Bank of New York, as trustee.
4.07 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June ] f the 10-Q 00024821 7122/2011
Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI| Cemven Inc. and
The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.
10.01+  Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by Registwith each S-1 33359097 7/15/199¢
of its directors and executive officers.
10.02+ Registrant's 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007



10.03+  Form of Stock Bonus Agreement under Registran@8 Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.

10.04+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@%381Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with

No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed

10.05+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce-Based 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registrar8%8 Equity
Incentive Plan.

10.06+ Registrant's Amended and Restated 1998 Employexx iarchase 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007
Plan.

10.07+ Registrant's 1998 Directors Stock Option Plan,masraled. 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.08+ Registrant's 1999 Global Equity Incentive Planaaended. 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007

10.09+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@%91Global 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Equity Incentive Plan.

10.10+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Regig's 1999 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Global Equity Incentive Plan.

10.11+  Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.12+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@@12Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.

10.13+  Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as aeen 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.14+  Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Electing Bioe Award 10-Q 00024821 4/25/200¢
Agreement, as amended.

10.15+ Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan New Direcdavard 10-Q 00024821 4/25/200¢
Agreement, as amended.

10.16+ Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Restrictenc®8tUnit Grant 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Notice and Agreement

10.17+  Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan, merlded and 10-Q 00024821 7/23/201C
restated

10.18+ Amendment to the Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentiward Plan, 10-Q 00024821 7/29/200¢
Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, Registsal®99 Global
Equity Incentive Plan, Registrant's 1998 Equityeimtive Plan and
Shopping.com Ltd. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.19+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce-Based 8-K 00024821 6/25/200¢
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registr&2@@8 Equity
Incentive Award Plan.

10.20+  eBay Incentive Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201C

10.21+ eBay Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan. 8-K 00024821 12/20/2007

10.22+  Employment Letter Agreement dated March 31, 20@8yben John 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Donahoe and Registrant

10.23+  Letter Agreement dated September 30, 2008 betwebrmRSwan 10-Q 00024821 10/23/200¢

and Registrant.
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
10.24+ Separation Agreement dated October 20, 2010 betlveeie 10-Q 00024821 10/23/201(
Norrington and Registrant.
10.25 Form of Voting and Support Agreement entered irgtween 8-K 00024821 3/30/2011
Registrant and Michael G. Rubin.
10.26 Form of Voting and Support Agreement entered irgtween 8-K 00024821 3/30/2011
Registrant and the following directors and officef$& Sl
Commerce, Inc.: M. Jeffrey Branman, Michael J. Dureg
Ronald D. Fisher, John A. Hunter, Josh Kopelmanik\véa
Menell, Jeffrey F. Rayport, David Rosenblatt, Lamge S.
Smith, Andrea M. Weiss, Michael R. Conn, James &dan, J.
Scott Hardy, Damon Mintzer and Christopher Sarislaki
10.27+ GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.28+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity IncenRlan. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.29+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce- 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under G$h@erce,
Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
10.30+ Letter Agreement dated July 7, 2011 between Ctpisto 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Saridakis and Registrant.
10.31+ Performance Award Agreement dated June 16, 201d/cka 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Christopher Saridakis and GSI Commerce, Inc.
10.32+ Offer letter dated August 30, 2011 and execute8eptember 2, 8-K 00024821 9/6/2011
2011 between Registrant and Devin Wenig.
10.33 Credit Agreement, dated as of November 22, 201 Hriay 8-K 00024821 11/28/2011
among Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the other parties thereto
12.01 Statement regarding computation of ratio of earmitagfixed
charges. X
21.01 List of Subsidiaries. X
23.01 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP consent. X
24.01 Power of Attorney (see signature page). X
31.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offi¢as required
by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
31.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial O#fig as required
by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offi¢ as required

by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X



32.02

101.INS

101.SCH

Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial O#ig as required
by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
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Incorporated by Reference

No.
Exhibit Description f'h'.i,dfé”ﬁ Form File No. Date Filed
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documtne X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenin X

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonygolarrangeme

++ Portions of this exhibit are subject to a requestbnfidential treatment and have been redactddiked separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

* The annexes and schedules to the Share Purchasemgnt have been omitted from this filing pursuantem 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-
K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any annexe schedules to the Securities and Exchange Cssiomiupon request.

**  The schedules and exhibits to the Agreement anddflMerger have been omitted from this filing puast to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulati
S-K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any axe® or schedules to the Securities and Exchanger@sion upon request.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of eBay:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15{((&sent fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of eBay Inc. and its subsidiara December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011 hanasults of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghBecember 31, 2011 in conformity with accounpnigciples generally accepted in the Uni
States of America. In addition, in our opinion, fimancial statement schedule listed in the indexesring under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in
all material respects, the information set fortbréin when read in conjunction with the relatedsoidated financial statements. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materialpects, effective internal control over financigorting as of December 31, 2011, based on
criteria established imternal Control - Integrated Framework issubg the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtreadway

Commission (COSO). The Company's management ismegige for these financial statements and findrste&ement schedule, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportiagd for its assessment of the effectiveness efriat control over financial reporting, includec
Management's Report on Internal Control over Fir@riReporting. Our responsibility is to expressropins on these financial statements, on the
financial statement schedule, and on the Compamgmal control over financial reporting basedoum integrated audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with the standards of thei@@admpany Accounting Oversight Board (United Statdhose standards require that we plan
and perform the audits to obtain reasonable asseramout whether the financial statements aredfeeaterial misstatement and whether
effective internal control over financial reportimgs maintained in all material respects. Our aunfithe financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportinguheunts and disclosures in the financial statesp@ssessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, aldating the overall financial statement presémtatOur audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an undersgiag of internal control over financial reportir@gsessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design aedating effectiveness of internal control basedhenassessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegeinerally accepted accounting principles.
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thaefifain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleetttlansactions and dispositions of the assetseaédimpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
transactions are recorded as necessary to perpagtion of financial statements in accordanch génerally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the compenpeing made only in accordance with authorizatioihmanagement and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurancardigg prevention or timely detection of unauthedzacquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effetite financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgext to the risk that controls may become inadégbecause of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
January 30, 2012
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PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Iltem 1: Financial Statement:

eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
(In thousands, except par value amounts)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,691,10. $ 5,577,41.
Short-term investments 1,238,30. 1,045,40.
Accounts receivable, net 681,59: 454,36t
Loans and interest receivable, net 1,501,47. 956,18¢
Funds receivable and customer accounts 3,967,55I 2,550,73
Other current assets 581,43¢ 481,23t
Total current assets 12,661,45 11,065,33
Long-term investments 2,452,76:. 2,492,01
Property and equipment, net 1,986,211 1,523,33.
Goodwill 8,364,98! 6,193,16:
Intangible assets, net 1,406,38! 540,71:
Other assets 448,41¢ 189,20!
Total assets $ 27,320,21 $ 22,003,76

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt $ 564,60 $ 300,00(
Accounts payable 283,10: 184,96:
Funds payable and amounts due to customers 3,967,55I 2,550,73
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,510,83! 1,343,88:
Deferred revenue 110,42¢ 96,46
Income taxes payable 297,68t 40,46¢

Total current liabilities 6,734,20. 4,516,51.

Deferred and other tax liabilities, net 1,072,95. 645,45
Long-term debt 1,525,04 1,494,22
Other liabilities 58,131 45,38t
Total liabilities 9,390,33! 6,701,58:

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 3,580,000 shartwared; 1,286,487 and 1,297,710 shares

outstanding 1,53¢ 1,51
Additional paid-in capital 11,144,83 10,480,70
Treasury stock at cost, 248,687 and 215,082 shares (7,155,42) (6,091,43)
Retained earnings 13,389,46 10,160,07.
Accumulated other comprehensive income 549,46¢ 751,31
Total stockholders' equity 17,929,87 15,302,17

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 27,32021  $ 22,003,76

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.

F-2




eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net revenues $ 1165165 $ 9,156,227 $  8,727,36
Cost of net revenues 3,460,18. 2,564,66 2,479,76.
Gross profit 8,191,471 6,591,60 6,247,601

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 2,435,04: 1,946,81 1,885,67

Product development 1,235,17. 908,43: 803,07(

General and administrative 1,364,22. 1,079,38. 1,418,38!

Provision for transaction and loan losses 516,65¢ 392,24( 382,82¢

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 267,37: 189,72 262,68t

Restructuring (489) 21,43] 38,18

Total operating expenses 5,817,98: 4,538,03 4,790,83

Income from operations 2,373,48! 2,053,57. 1,456,76!
Interest and other, net 1,536,55 44,87t 1,422,38!
Income before income taxes 3,910,041 2,098,44 2,879,15:
Provision for income taxes (680,659 (297,48¢) (490,059
Net income $ 3,229,38 % 1,800,96. $ 2,389,09
Net income per share:

Basic $ 25C % 1.3 $ 1.8t

Diluted $ 24¢  $ 136 $ 1.8¢
Weighted average shares:

Basic 1,292,77! 1,305,59: 1,289,84!

Diluted 1,312,95I 1,327,41 1,304,98:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftbeasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(In thousands)

Net income $ 322938 $ 1,800,96. $  2,389,09
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation (280,930() (175,609 (217,724

Unrealized gains on investments 56,80¢ 117,42 288,88(

Unrealized gains (losses) on hedging activities 58,28¢ 18,38: (45,179

Tax provision on above items (36,009 (26,999 (111,369
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive incom (201,84¢) (66,790 (85,38)
Other comprehensive income $ 302754 $ 173417 $  2,303,71

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock:
Balance, beginning of year
Common stock issued
Balance, end of year
Additional paid-in-capital:
Balance, beginning of year

Common stock and stock-based awards issued anchedsu

Stock-based compensation
Stock-based awards tax impact
Structured stock repurchases
Noncontrolling interests
Balance, end of year
Treasury stock at cost:
Balance, beginning of year
Common stock repurchased
Balance, end of year
Retained earnings:
Balance, beginning of year
Net income
Balance, end of year
Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Balance, beginning of year
Change in unrealized gains on investments
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on cash flalgés
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Tax benefit (provision) on above items
Balance, end of year
Total stockholders' equity
Number of Shares:
Common stock:
Balance, beginning of year
Common stock issued
Common stock repurchased/forfeited

Balance, end of year

Year Ended December 31,

2011

2010

2009

(In thousands)
$ 1,51z $ 1,48¢ $ 1,47C
22 27 16
1,53¢ 1,51 1,48¢
10,480,70 9,986,19' 9,585,85!
130,34¢ 124,07: 67,93«
457,18t 381,49: 394,807
44,04¢ (13,587 (64,136
— 2,26( —
32,54 26¢€ 1,741
11,144,83 10,480,70 9,986,19!
(6,091,43) (5,377,25) (5,376,97)
(1,063,98) (714,17) (28¢)
(7,155,42) (6,091,43) (5,377,25)
10,160,07 8,359,11 5,970,022
3,229,38 1,800,96. 2,389,09
13,389,46 10,160,07 8,359,11
751,31 818,10: 903,48¢
56,80¢ 117,42° 288,88(
58,28¢ 18,38: (45,179
(280,93() (175,604 (217,72
(36,009 (26,999 (111,369
549,46t 751,31 818,10
$ 17,929,87 $ 15,302,17 $ 13,787,64
1,297,71 1,297,79 1,282,02!
22,39¢ 26,74. 15,82¢
(33,617 (26,83)) (51)
1,286,48 1,297,711 1,297,79!

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 3,229,338 % 1,800,96. $ 2,389,09°

Adjustments:

Provision for transaction and loan losses 516,65¢ 392,24( 382,82!
Depreciation and amortization 939,95: 762,46! 810,94t
Stock-based compensation 457,18t 381,49: 394,80°
Deferred income taxes 16,95¢ 349,59! (178,81
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation (79,68:) (41,89) (4,750
Gain on sale of Skype (1,664,07)) — (1,449,80i)
Joltid legal settlement — — 343,19¢
Loss on divestiture of a business 256,50: — —
Gain on acquisitions (79,087) — —

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaisiffects

Accounts receivable (291,82) (111,619 (97,49

Other current assets 19,38( (251,82) 126,27(

Other non-current assets (18,29%) 73,97¢ (31,297

Accounts payable 29,42¢ (9,269) (27,23%)

Accrued expenses and other liabilities (202,479 (95,527) (86,504

Deferred revenue 11,78t (3,34%) 56,85t

Income taxes payable and other tax liabilities 131,87¢ (501,51 279,97!

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,273,67- 2,745,76! 2,908,08!
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment, net (963,49¢) (723,91) (567,09

Changes in principal loans receivable, net (586,50%) (379,73() (121,139

Purchases of investments (2,290,18) (2,643,51) (1,142,09)

Maturities and sales of investments 1,596,06- 1,436,20 103,57:

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (3,223,05) (90,56%) (1,209,43)

Repayment of Skype note receivable — 125,00( —

Proceeds from the sale of Skype 2,269,141 — 1,780,32.

Other (108,82%) (5,959 6,487

Net cash used in investing activities (3,306,867 (2,282,47) (1,149,38)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 242,21( 235,52 102,52¢

Repurchases of common stock (1,063,981 (711,06%) —

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 79,68 41,89: 4,75(

Tax withholdings related to net share settlemehtesiricted stock awards and units (147,13() (120,64¢) (37,670)

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net — 1,488,70: —

Net borrowings under commercial paper program 250,00( 300,00 —

Repayment of acquired debt (199,27 — —

Net borrowings (repayments) under credit agreement — — (1,000,001

Funds receivable and customer accounts (1,368,50) (392,78¢) (561,709

Funds payable and amounts due to customers 1,368,50. 392,78t 561,70¢

Other — — (15,267)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (838,49¢) 1,234,401 (945,65¢)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvaénts (14,62¢) (120,109 (2,157%)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent (886,31() 1,577,59: 810,89(

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,577,41. 3,999,81 3,188,92:
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Common stock options assumed pursuant to acquasitio

Note receivable from divested business

$ 4,691,10. $ 5,577,41. 3,999,81:
$ 29,200 $ 54 6,05(
$ 372,52t  $ 645,78: 342,17:
$ 3151« % 2,947 5,361
$ 288,04: $ = =

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftbesasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — The Company and Summary of Significant Aaunting Policies
The Company

eBay Inc. (“eBay”) was incorporated in CaliforntraMay 1996, and reincorporated in Delaware in Ap8i98. eBay is a global commerce
platform and payments leader. We enable commeroedh eBay, the world's largest online marketpladgch allows users to buy and sell in
nearly every country on earth; through PayPal, tvieicables individuals and businesses to securabjlyeand quickly send and receive online
payments; and through GSI, which facilitates econegmemultichannel retailing and digital marketirng §lobal enterprises. X.commerce brings
together the technology assets and developer coitieruaf eBay, PayPal and Magento, an ecommereefstot platform, to support eBay
Inc.'s mission of enabling commerce. We also reaitions of people through specialized marketplasash as StubHub, the world's largest
ticket marketplace, and eBay classifieds sitesciwhigether have a presence in more than 1,0@3 eitound the world.

We have three reportable business segments: M#akety Payments and GSI. Our Marketplaces segmentes our eBay.com platfol
and its localized counterparts and our other orplagforms, such as our online classifieds busiegssd StubHub. Our Payments segment is
comprised of PayPal, Bill Me Later and Zong. Our @&ment consists of GSI, which was added upordhgpletion of our acquisition of GSI
on June 17, 2011. The results of our new GSI seghmare been included in our consolidated resultspefrations from the acquisition date.
Historically, we also had a Communications segntiegit consisted of Skype Technologies S.A. (“Skyp@&h November 19, 2009, we sold
Skype to an investor group for cash, a subordinatee and an approximately 30% equity stake irotitstanding capital stock of the Skype
successor entity. Skype's results of operations@msolidated in our 2009 results through the désale. We sold our remaining interest in
Skype in 2011.

We are required to comply with various regulatiamsldwide in order to operate our businesses, @agrly our Payments business. We
also partner with banks and other financial inititus in order to offer our Payments services dlgb&hanges in regulations, non-compliance
with regulations or loss of key bank or financiatitution partners could have a significant adeenspact on our ability to operate our business;
therefore, we monitor these areas closely to nigigatential adverse impacts.

” ”ou

When we refer to “we,” “our,” “us” or “eBayin this document, we mean the current Delawarearatipn (eBay Inc.) and its Californ
predecessor, as well as all of our consolidatedididries.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesi@ntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acdmgnhprinciples (GAAP) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondféncttthe reported amounts of assets and liaksligied disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahatatements and the reported amounts of reveangesxpenses during the reporting period. On
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, imgutiose related to provisions for transaction kagh losses, legal contingencies, income
taxes, revenue recognition, stosised compensation and the recoverability of golbdwil intangible assets. We base our estimatdssporical
experience and on various other assumptions thateleve to be reasonable under the circumstadeasal results could differ from those
estimates.

Principles of consolidation and basis of presentati

The accompanying financial statements are congelidand include the financial statements of eBay, lour wholly and majority-
owned subsidiaries and variable interest entitietH") if we are the primary beneficiary. Ownershigerests of minority interests are recorded
as a noncontrolling interest. All significant itempany balances and transactions have been efediiraconsolidation. A qualitative approach
is applied to assess the consolidation requireffieeIEs. Investments in entities where we holdeatst 20% ownership interest and have the
ability to exercise significant influence, but rantrol, over the investee are accounted for ugiegequity method of accounting. For such
investments, our share of the investees' resultperfations is included in interest and other,amet our investment balance is included in long-
term investments. Investments in entities wherdald less than a 20% ownership interest are gdperatounted for using the cost method of
accounting, and our share of the investees' restitiperations is included in our consolidatedestatnt of income to the extent dividends are
received.
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eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

We have evaluated all subsequent events througtetieethe financial statements were issued.

Revenue recognition

Our Marketplaces segment generates net transaeti@mues primarily from listing and final value $ggaid by sellers. Listing fee reven
are recognized ratably over the estimated periddefisting, while revenues related to final vafees are recognized at the time that the
transaction is successfully concluded. An auctiangaction is considered successfully concludechvali¢east one buyer has bid above the
seller's specified minimum price or reserve pnigbichever is higher, at the end of the transadiom.

Our Payments segment earns net transaction revenugrily from processing transactions for custeen&evenues resulting from a
payment processing transaction are recognized thieceansaction is completed.

Our GSI segment generates net transaction revemimaarily from providing ecommerce technology, argeocessing, fulfillment and
customer care services to its clients. The revecaa be fixed or variable and are based on tlidtggierformed and/or the value of
merchandise sold. Revenues are recognized asitleglying activity is performed or upon shipmenttod underlying merchandise.

Our Communications segment net transaction revenwees generated primarily from fees charged tosuseconnect Skype's Internet
communications products to traditional telecommatian networks. These fees were recognized whesdhece was provided.

Our marketing services and other revenues, inclinladl of our segments, are derived principallynfrthe sale of advertisements, revenue
sharing arrangements, classifieds fees and leadraéfees. Our advertising revenues are derivatipally from the sale of online
advertisements. The duration of our advertisingramts has ranged from one week to five yearsisogénerally one week to one year.
Advertising revenues on contracts are recognizeéthgwessions” (i.e., the number of times that dwextisement appears in pages viewed by
users of our websites) are delivered, or as “cli¢khich are generated each time users on our wesbslick through our text-based
advertisements to an advertiser's designated weglasi provided to advertisers. For contracts wmithimum monthly or quarterly advertising
commitments where the fee and commitments are fixexighout the term, we recognize revenue ratabdy the term of the agreement. Some
of our advertising contracts consist of multiplereents which generally include a blend of varionpressions and clicks as well as other
marketing deliverables. Where neither vendor-sgeoljective evidence nor third-party evidence @lfisg price exists, we use management's
best estimate of selling price (BESP) to allocatarmyement consideration on a relative basis th e@ment. BESP is generally based on the
selling prices of the various elements when theysatd to customers of a similar nature and gedgrap a stand-alone basis or estimated stand
alone pricing when the element has not previousbnisold stand-alone. These estimates are genkeasid on pricing strategies, market factors
and strategic objectives. Revenues related to texvsharing arrangements are recognized based enugveports received from our partners,
provided that collectability is reasonably assufRevenues related to fees for listing items onatassified websites are recognized over the
estimated period of the classified listing. Leafnel fee revenue is generated from lead reféeed based on the number of times a user clicks
through to a merchant's website from our websitead referral fees are recognized in the periaghith the user clicks through to the
merchant's website.

Our other revenues are derived principally fromtcactual arrangements with third parties that ptevgervices to eBay and PayPal users,
interest earned from banks on certain PayPal custactount balances and interest and fees earntn @ill Me Later portfolio of loan
receivables. Revenues from contractual arrangemetitghird parties are recognized as the contrhstgvices are delivered to end users.
Interest income on certain PayPal customer balasaesognized when earned. Interest and fees @amméhe Bill Me Later portfolio of loan
receivables are computed and recognized basedntractual interest and fee rates, and are netyfeguired reserves and amortization of
deferred origination costs.

To drive traffic to our websites, we provide indeaes to our users in the form of coupons and bayer seller rewards. These incentives
treated as reductions in revenue.

Internal use software and website development costs

Direct costs incurred to develop software for insdluse and website development costs are capitibéind amortized over an estimated
useful life of one to five years. During the yeamsled December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 , we dapdatosts, primarily related to labor and
stock-based compensation, of $211.5 million , $198illion and $160.4 million , respectively. Amardiion of previously capitalized amounts
was $166.0 million , $146.7 million and $129.1 ioii for 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. Coslgted to the design or maintenance of
internal use software and website development>grersed as incurred.
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eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Advertising expense

We expense the costs of producing advertisemetite dime production occurs and expense the castminunicating advertisements in
the period during which the advertising space dimaé is used as sales and marketing expensenéttadvertising expenses are recognized
based on the terms of the individual agreementg&ghik generally over the greater of the ratioh&f humber of impressions delivered over the
total number of contracted impressions, on a payefiek basis, or on a straight-line basis overtdren of the contract. Advertising expense
totaled $976.9 million , $808.4 million and $798adlion for the years ended December 31, 2011, 20d2009 , respectively.

Stock-based compensation

We issue two types of stock-based awards to emetoyestricted stock units (including performanesda restricted stock units) and
stock options. We primarily issue restricted staoks. We determine compensation expense assouidttedestricted stock units based on the
fair value of our common stock on the date of grive determine compensation expense associatedtoitk options based on the estimated
grant date fair value method using the Black-Schauation model. We generally recognize compé@msaxpense using a straight-line
amortization method over the respective vestingppefor awards that are ultimately expected to vAstordingly, stockeased compensation !
2011, 2010 and 2009 has been reduced for estinateitures. When estimating forfeitures, we cadesivoluntary termination behaviors as
well as trends of actual option forfeitures. Weogrtize a benefit from stock-based compensatioguite to the extent that an incremental tax
benefit is realized by following the ordering preiains of the tax law. In addition, we account fog tndirect effects of stockased compensati
on the research tax credit and the foreign taxittiecbugh our consolidated statement of income.

Provision for transaction losses

We are exposed to losses due to payment card had mayment misuse, as well as non-performancadteedit losses from sellers.
Provisions for these items represent our estimiaaetoal losses based on our historical experianckactuarial techniques, as well as economic
conditions. Provision for transaction losses ineli@ayPal's transaction loss expense as well sesslossulting from our customer protection
programs both on and off eBay.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes using an asset aniitjadgpproach, which requires the recognition afes payable or refundable for the
current year and deferred tax liabilities and asfmtthe future tax consequences of events that haen recognized in our financial statements
or tax returns. The measurement of current anddeféax assets and liabilities is based on promsbf enacted tax laws; the effects of future
changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipatetedessary, the measurement of deferred tax asseduced by the amount of any tax benefits
that are not expected to be realized based onadlaitvidence.

We report a liability for unrecognized tax benefiésulting from uncertain tax positions taken goented to be taken in a tax return. We
recognize interest and penalties, if any, relategnrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, higifydiinvestments with original maturities of thmeenths or less when purchased and are
mainly comprised of bank deposits and money mdtkets.

Allowance for doubtful accounts and authorized criesl

We record our allowance for doubtful accounts bagssh our assessment of various factors. We conkidirical experience, the age of
the accounts receivable balances, credit qualiguoftustomers, current economic conditions andrdtctors that may affect our customers'
ability to pay. The allowance for doubtful accouatsl authorized credits was $87.2 million and $86ilfon at December 31, 2011 and 2010 ,
respectively.

Loans and interest receivable, net

Loans and interest receivable represent purchaselimer receivables arising from loans made byrtagachartered financial institution
to individual consumers in the U.S. to purchasedgand services through our Bill Me Later merchaettvork. The terms of the consumer
relationship require us to submit monthly billshe consumer detailing loan repayment requiremditis.terms also allow us to charge the
consumer interest and fees in certain circumstamas to the relatively small dollar amount of midual loans and interest receivable, we do
not require collateral on these balances.
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Allowance for loans and interest receivable

The allowance for loans and interest receivableasgnts management's estimate of probable lodsexeint in our Bill Me Later portfolio.
The provision related to the principal is includegbrovision of transaction and loan losses andotiogision related to the interest is recorded as
a reduction of marketing services and other revenhbe allowance for loans and interest receivaiypeasents management's estimate of pro
losses inherent in our Bill Me Later portfolio whits considered to be of one segment and one d&ssagement's evaluation of probable losses
is subject to judgments and numerous estimatelsidimg forecasted principal balance delinquencgsdtroll rates”). Roll rates are the
percentage of balances that we estimate will megiratm one stage of delinquency to the next baseouo historical experience, as well as
external factors such as estimated bankruptciesemeds of unemployment. The roll rates are appieedrincipal and interest balances for each
stage of delinquency, from current to Id#ys past due, in order to estimate the loansrapceist that are probable to be charged off byettieof
180 days.

We charge off loans and interest receivable imtleath in which the customer balance becomes 186 past due. Bankrupt accounts are
charged off within 60 days of receiving notificatiof customer bankruptcy from the courts. Pastldaes receivable continue to accrue interest
until such time as they are charged-off, with tbetipn of the reserve related to interest recewddalance classified as a reduction of revenue.

Funds receivable and funds payable

Funds receivable and funds payable relate primariur Payments segment and arise due to thetdilear transactions through exter
payment networks. When customers fund their accosing their bank account or credit card, or witlvdmoney to their bank account or
through a debit card transaction, there is a algaperiod before the cash is received or settledally one to three business days for
U.S. transactions, and generally up to five busirdzs/s for international transactions. To a lesg&nt and primarily related to our Marketpla
segment, we generate funds receivable in certagigio locations from external credit providers thettle within 12 months ( $203.0 million and
$132.0 million as of December 31, 2011 and 201€peectively).

Customer accounts

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamamercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRa¢mates, PayPal holds customer
balances either as direct claims against PayPad an agent or custodian on behalf of PayPal'smgst. Customer balances held as direct
claims against PayPal are included on our congelitlbalance sheet as funds receivable and custroeunts with an offsetting current liabil
in funds payable and amounts due to customers. @ietain these customer account balances in intbezsing bank deposits, including time
deposits with maturity dates of less than one y@astomer funds held by PayPal as an agent ordiaston behalf of our customers are not
reflected in our consolidated balance sheet. Th#fdealance sheet funds include funds held in th®.that are deposited in bank accounts
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpardtabject to applicable limits).

Investments

Short-term investments, which include marketablgitgcgecurities, time deposits and government anmgarate bonds with original
maturities of greater than three months but leas tine year when purchased, are classified asableilor-sale and are reported at fair value
using the specific identification method. Unreadizmins and losses are excluded from earningsepuaited as a component of other
comprehensive income (loss), net of related esich&tx provisions or benefits.

Long-term investments include government and cafgobonds, time deposits and cost and equity metivedtments. Debt securities are
classified as available-for-sale and are reportddiavalue using the specific identification meth Unrealized gains and losses are excluded
from earnings and reported as a component of atbreprehensive income (loss), net of related estthttx provisions or benefits.

Time deposits are classified as held to maturity izorded at amortized cost. Our equity methodstiments are investments in privately
held companies. In certain circumstances, investsnanlude goodwill. Our consolidated results oérgiions include, as a component of inte
and other, net, our share of the net income ordbfise equity method investments. Our share oéstees' results of operations is not significant
for any period presented. Our cost method investsnemnsist of investments in privately held comparand are recorded at cost. Amounts
received from our cost method investees were né¢maito any period presented.

We assess whether an other-than-temporary impaido&non our investments has occurred due tortecin fair value or other market

conditions. With respect to our debt securitiess #ssessment takes into account our intent tareeBecurity, whether it is more likely than not
that we will be required to sell the security befoecovery of its amortized cost
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basis, and if we do not expect to recover the emtinortized cost basis of the security (that @edit loss exists). We did not recognize an other-
than-temporary impairment loss on our investmem®0il1 , 2010 , or 2009.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicalless accumulated depreciation. Depreciation ismded using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets,rgéipeone to three years for computer equipmentsoftware, up to thirty years for buildings
and building improvements, ten years for aviatignipment, the shorter of five years or the terntheflease for leasehold improvements and
three years for furniture, fixtures and vehicles.

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill is tested for impairment at a minimum anannual basis. Goodwill is tested for impairmertha reporting unit level by
comparing the reporting unit's carrying amounthifair value of the reporting unit. The fair veduof the reporting units are estimated using an
income and discounted cash flow approach. In y2@t4, 2010 and 2009 no goodwill impairment was dote

Intangible assets consistpfirchased customer lists and user base, trademadksade names, developed technologies and otfaemgible
assets, including patents and contractual agresmiatdngible assets are amortized over the pefiedtimated benefit using the straight-line
method and estimated useful lives ranging fromtorgight years. No significant residual value isreated for intangible assets.

Impairment of long-lived assets

We evaluate long-lived assets (including intangdssets) for impairment whenever events or chaimggscumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not lweverable. An asset is considered impaired ifarsying amount exceeds the undiscounted
future net cash flow the asset is expected to gémeln years 2011, 2010 and 2009, no impairmestrveted.

Foreign currency

Most of our foreign subsidiaries use the local ency of their respective countries as their fun@lcurrency. Assets and liabilities are
translated at exchange rates prevailing at thenbalaheet dates. Revenues, costs and expenseanatated into U.S. dollars using daily
exchange rates if the transaction is recorded iraocounting systems on a daily basis, and otherusing average exchange rates for the pe
Gains and losses resulting from the translatioouwfconsolidated balance sheet are recorded ampormnt of accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Realized gains and losses from foreign currengystietions are recognized as interest and other, net

Derivative instruments

We have significant international revenues as agltosts denominated in foreign currencies, stuibgeas to foreign currency risk. We
purchase foreign currency exchange contracts theltfg as cash flow hedges, generally with matesitof 18 months or less, to reduce the
volatility of cash flows related primarily to forasted revenue and intercompany transactions deatadiin certain foreign currencies. All
outstanding designated derivatives that qualifyhfiedge accounting are recognized on the balane ah&ir value. The effective portion of the
designated derivative's gain or loss is initiabported as a component of accumulated other corapsale income and is subsequently
reclassified into the financial statement line itemvhich the hedged item is recorded in the saer®g the forecasted transaction affects
earnings. We also economically hedge our exposui@r¢ign currency denominated monetary assetdiaitities with foreign currency
contracts. The gains and losses on the foreignaggehcontracts economically offset transactiongyaird losses on certain foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities reeeghin earnings. Accordingly, these outstanding-designated derivatives are recognized on
the balance sheet at fair value and changes indhie from these contracts are recorded in intened other, net in the consolidated stateme
income. Our derivatives program is not designedparated for trading or speculative purposes.

Our derivative instruments expose us to credit tisthe extent that our counterparties may be wntbineet the terms of the agreements.
We seek to mitigate this risk by limiting our coergiarties to major financial institutions and byesling the risk across several major financial
institutions. In addition, the potential risk oskwith any one counterparty resulting from thigetyf credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis. See “Note 9 - Derivative Instruments” fodigidnal information related to our derivative ingnhents.
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Concentration of credit risk

Our cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivalaesland interest receivable, funds receivable aatbmer accounts are potentially suk
to concentration of credit risk. Cash, cash eqeivs and customer accounts are placed with finbimsiitutions that management believes al
high credit quality. In addition, funds receivalble generated with financial institutions or crexditd companies that management believes ¢
high credit quality. Our accounts receivable anévee from revenue earned from customers locatederl).S. and internationally. Our loans
interest receivable are derived from consumer fiivanactivities for customers located in the U.S.0& December 31, 2011 and 2010 , no
customer accounted for more than 10% of net aceaegtivable or net loans receivable. During theryended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, no customer accounted for more than 10%bfavenues.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Bo&fAEB") issued new accounting guidance that amendse fair value measurement
principles and disclosure requirements. The newange states that the concepts of highest andibestnd valuation premise are only relevant
when measuring the fair value of nonfinancial assed prohibits the grouping of financial instrurtseior purposes of determining their fair
values when the unit of account is specified ireogjuidance. We will adopt this accounting standgradn its effective date for periods beginr
on or after December 15, 2011, and do not antieii#t this adoption will have a significant impantour financial position or results of
operations.

In 2011, the FASB issued new disclosure guidaniegem to the presentation of the Statement of Cehmgmsive Income. This guidance
eliminates the current option to report other coshpnsive income and its components in the condetidstatement of stockholders' equity. The
requirement to present reclassification adjustmeuntof accumulated other comprehensive incoméeridce of the consolidated statement of
income has been deferred. We will adopt this actiogrstandard upon its effective date for periodgibning on or after December 15, 2011,
and this adoption will not have any impact on anafficial position or results of operations but wilpact our financial statement presentation.

In 2011, the FASB issued new accounting guidanaedimplifies goodwill impairment tests. The newdgnce states that a "qualitative”
assessment may be performed to determine whethtbefumpairment testing is necessary. We will ddbjs accounting standard upon its
effective date for periods beginning on or aftec@aber 15, 2011, and do not anticipate that thag@oin will have a significant impact on our
financial position or results of operations.

Note 2 — Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome for the period by the weighted averagalrer of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net incoree ghare is computed by dividing net income forghgod by the weighted average number of
shares of common stock and potentially dilutive own stock outstanding during the period. The dikigffect of outstanding options and
restricted stock is reflected in diluted net incopee share by application of the treasury stockhedt The calculation of diluted net income per
share excludes all anti-dilutive shares. The foifmable sets forth the computation of basic aihdet net income per share for the periods
indicated:
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Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Numerator:
Net income $ 3,229,38 % 1,800,96 $ 2,389,09
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares - basic 1,292,77! 1,305,59 1,289,84:
Dilutive effect of equity incentive plans 20,17¢ 21,82« 15,13:
Weighted average common shares - diluted 1,312,95 1,327,41 1,304,98:
Net income per share:
Basic $ 25C % 1.3 % 1.8¢
Diluted $ 2.4€ % 1.3 $ 1.8:
Common stock equivalents excluded from income fatetl share because their effect
would have been anti-dilutive 16,76: 31,50¢ 53,02¢

Note 3 - Business Combinations
Our acquisition activity in 2011 , 2010 and 200%as as follows:

2011 Acquisition Activity

During 2011 , we completed thirteen acquisitions|uding the acquisitions of GSI, brands4friendgtiGidiyor and Zong. Allocation of
the purchase consideration for the business comibitsacompleted in 2011 is summarized as followstbusands):

Net Tangible
Assets Acquired/
Purchase (Liabilities Purchased
Consideration Assumed) Intangible Assets Goodwill
GSI $ 2,377,25 $ 74,49¢ $ 819,10( $ 1,483,65!
brands4friends 193,23¢ (33,14¢) 76,14 150,23
GittiGidiyor 235,27t (8,78%) 52,70( 191,36!
Zong 231,66 (35,65() 76,50( 190,81«
Other 401,71< (34,33) 163,67 272,36¢
Total $ 3,439,14 $ (37,41) $ 1,188,121 $ 2,288,44.

The purchase consideration for each acquisitionallasated to the tangible assets and intangitdetasacquired and liabilities assumed
based on their estimated fair values on the adipnsilate, with the remaining unallocated purchamesideration recorded as goodwill. The fair
value assigned to identifiable intangible assetgied has been determined primarily by using wadnamethods that discount expected future
cash flows to present value using estimates andrgstons determined by management. Purchased fidéigi intangible assets are amortizec
a straightline basis over the respective useful lives. Weegally do not expect goodwill to be deductible iftcome tax purposes. The estima
of fair values for tangible assets and intangilsigets acquired and liabilities assumed was sutgjexdtimates, assumptions and other
uncertainties, and it is possible that the allaratf the purchase consideration reflected in thedoing table may change.

GSI
Acquisition

We completed the acquisition of GSI on June 17120&SI is a leading provider of ecommerce andattiive marketing services. We
acquired GSI to utilize its comprehensive integiteggite of online commerce and interactive markgesiervices to strengthen our ability to
connect buyers and sellers worldwide. We paid ¥ share, and assumed restricted stock-basedsawih a fair value of approximately
$24.8 million , resulting in total consideration of
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approximately $2.4 billion . In addition, we paid amount equal to $0.33 per share or approxim&24y3 million , which was separate and
distinct from the per share merger consideratiomrertain GSI security holders in connection witk settlement of litigation related to the
acquisition of GSI and recorded that payment inegalnand administrative expenses. GSI is reporsesl separate segment.

Divestiture

In conjunction with the acquisition of GSI, we imdiately divested 100 percent of GSI's licensedtspoerchandise business and 70
percent of GSI's ShopRunner and RuelLala businésspsther, the "divested businesses"). The divdstisthesses were sold to a Kynetic LLC
(formerly known as NRG Commerce, LLC), which weeretb as Kynetic, led by GSI's former Chairman sikttent and Chief Executive Officer,
Mr. Michael Rubin, for a note receivable with ada@lue of $467.0 million . The note receivablerbéaterest at an annual rate equal to@att
LIBOR plus 1.10% , matures in December 2018, arscsired by certain assets of the divested busise$he fair value of the note receivable
was determined to be $286.8 million based on coaipamarket interest rates and is recorded in @bsets in our consolidated balance sheet.
The difference between the fair value of the neteivable and the carrying value of the divestesiiasses resulted in a loss of approximately
$256.5 million . The loss was recorded in intesesd other, net in our consolidated statement airire

The carrying value of our retained 30 percent stakke ShopRunner and RuelLala businesses was 8#Hli¢h and is recorded in long-
term investments. We account for our retained @#tein the ShopRunner and RuelLala businesses threleguity method of accounting and
record our proportionate share of net income (lossd one-quarter lag as a component of interesb#rer, net in our consolidated statement of
income. Our exposure to loss resulting from ouarficing arrangement with Kynetic and equity investtaén RueLala and ShopRunner is
limited to the carrying value of the note receiwahhd equity investments, respectively. We hawe edered into a transitional services
agreement, pursuant to which GSI will provide te tlivested businesses certain transitional serfores limited period, as well as certain other
commercial agreements with Kynetic and its affdsat

Intangible Assets

The following table sets forth the components ¢dmgible assets acquired in connection with the &§uisition (excluding intangible
assets sold in connection with the divested buse®gin thousands, except years):

Description Fair Value Useful Life (Years)
Trademarks $ 8,40( 2
User base 667,90( 5
Developed technology 142,80( 5

Total $ 819,10(

The allocation of the purchase price for the adtiaishas been prepared on a preliminary basischadges to that allocation may occur as
additional information becomes available. We hanaduided the financial results of GSI in our condated financial statements from the date of
acquisition.
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Pro forma financial information

The unaudited pro forma financial information i ttable below summarizes the combined results obperations and those of GSI for
the periods shown as though the acquisition of &8lthe sale of the divested businesses had odcasref the beginning of fiscal year 2010.
The pro forma financial information for the periqoi®sented includes the business combination atiogueffects of the acquisition, including
amortization charges from acquired intangible assite pro forma financial information as preseritelbw is for informational purposes only,
is subject to a number of estimates, assumptiod®#rer uncertainties, and is not indicative oftagults of operations that would have been
achieved if the acquisition and divestiture hactaglace at January 1, 2010. The unaudited proddimancial information is as follows (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Total revenues $ 12,037,87 $ 10,023,86
Net income 3,169,30. 1,682,39
Basic earnings per share 2.4 1.2¢
Diluted earnings per share $ 241 % 1.27

brands4friends

Brands4friends, an online shopping club for fastdad lifestyle in Germany, was acquired duringfttet quarter of 2011 for total cash
consideration of approximately $193.2 million . $lebmpany is included in our Marketplaces segmiéme.allocation of the purchase price for
this acquisition has been prepared on a prelimibasys and changes to that allocation may occaddsional information becomes available.
Our consolidated financial statements include fherating results of brands4friends from the datecgjuisition. Pro forma results of operations
have not been presented because the effect o€tugsétion was not material to our consolidatedittssof operations.

GittiGidiyor
In the second quarter of 2011, we acquired additiehares of GittiGidiyor, an online marketplac& urkey. We previously held a non-

controlling interest in GittiGidiyor, and followinthe completion of the acquisition of these addgicshares, we own approximately 93% of the
outstanding shares of GittiGidiyor. The followirate summarizes the purchase consideration (irstrals):

Cash paid $ 182,06¢
Fair value of non-controlling interest 31,49¢
Fair value of previously held equity interest 21,71t

Total purchase consideration $ 235,27t

This company is included in our Marketplaces segm&s a result of obtaining control over GittiGidiy our previously held 10%terest
was remeasured to fair value resulting in a gaifilaf.1 million . The gain has been recognized iergst and other, net in our consolidated
statement of income. We recorded the remainingauortrolling interest in additional paid-in capitalour consolidated balance sheet as the
amount is not significant. The allocation of theghase price for this acquisition has been prepanea preliminary basis and changes to that
allocation may occur as additional information lreeg available. Our consolidated financial statesieriude the operating results of
GittiGidiyor from the date of acquisition. Pro foamesults of operations have not been presentetlibeche effect of the acquisition was not
material to our consolidated results of operations.

Zong

Zong is a provider of payment services through meotarrier billing. We completed the acquisitionZafing on August 11, 2011 , for total
cash consideration of approximately $231.7 millidthe business is included in our Payments segriietallocation of the purchase price for
this acquisition has been prepared on a prelimibasfs and changes to that allocation may occaddgional information becomes available.
Our consolidated financial statements include ferating results of Zong from the date of acquisitiPro forma results of operations have not
been presented because the effect of the acquisiths not material to our consolidated resultspefrations

F-16




Other
« Magenta

We completed our acquisition of Magento, which apes an ecommerce storefront platform, on Augus2@61 . We previously held a
non-controlling interest in Magento of 49.9% of thestanding shares, and following the completibthe acquisition, we own 100% of the
outstanding shares of Magento. As a result of abtgicontrol over Magento, our previously held et was remeasured to fair value, which
resulted in a gain of $56.3 million . The gain bagn recognized in interest and other, net in oosalidated statement of income. Our
consolidated financial statements include the dpegaesults of Magento from the date of acquisitiblagento is included in our X.commerce
initiative. Pro forma results of operations have lbeen presented because the effect of the adquigitas not material to our consolidated res
of operations.

*« Other

Other acquisition activity during 2011 consisteckifht acquisitions. Four acquisitions are includedur Marketplaces segment and four
acquisitions are included in our Payments segnidm.purchase consideration for these acquisitionsisted solely of cash. The allocations of
the purchase price for these acquisitions have peggared on a preliminary basis and changes tethlbocations may occur as additional
information becomes available. Our consolidatedrfirial statements include the operating resul&laff these acquisitions from the respective
dates of acquisition. Pro forma results of operatibave not been presented because the effe@ss dtquisitions was not material to our
consolidated results of operations.

2010 Acquisition Activity

We acquired three companies during 2010 for aggegmarchase consideration of $95.9 million consgspirimarily of cash. Each of these
three companies is included in our Marketplacesngzn. Allocation of the purchase consideration ltesin net tangible assets of $0.3 million ,
purchased intangible assets of $18.0 million aretgdll of $77.6 million .

2009 Acquisition Activity

We acquired Gmarket during the second quarter 092G market is a retail ecommerce marketplace ireoand is included in our
Marketplaces segment. Gmarket's purchase conswleratluded cash of $1.2 billion , fair value ofrmrity interest of $12.2 million and fair
value of options assumed of $5.4 million .

Allocation of the purchase consideration for Gmarkesummarized as follows (in thousands):

Net Tangible Assets
Acquired/(Liabilities
Purchase Consideration Assumed) Purchased Intangible Assets Goodwill

Gmarket Inc. $ 1,226,96! $ 50,52¢ $ 378,49t $ 797,94

Note 4 - Skype Related Transactions

Historically, we had a Communications segment tloaisisted of Skype Technologies S.A. (“Skype”). Ximvember 19, 2009, we sold
Skype to an investor group. We received cash poscetapproximately $1.9 billion , a subordinatedenissued by a subsidiary of the Buyer in
the principal amount of $125.0 million and a 30qgeert equity stake in the outstanding capital stufdkie Buyer. The sale resulted in a net gain
of $1.4 billion , which was recorded in interestlather, net in our consolidated statement of ineom conjunction with the sale of Skype, we
reached a legal settlement of a lawsuit betweep&kjoltid and entities controlled by Joltid's fdars, which resulted in a $343.2 millicharge
to general and administrative expenses. Our notraiting interest in Skype for periods after thergaetion of the sale was accounted for under
the equity method of accounting.

On October 13, 2011, Microsoft Corp. completeaitquisition of Skype and we received approxima$B billion in cash for our

remaining 30 percent equity stake in Skype. The szdulted in a gain of approximately $1.7 billiamhich was recorded in interest and other,
net in our consolidated statement of income.
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Note 5 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

The following table presents goodwill balances adplistments to those balances for each of our ta@tplersegments and corporate
investments for the year ended December 31, 2011 :

December 31, Goodwill December 31,
2010 Acquired Allocations Adjustments 2011
(In thousands)
Marketplaces $ 4,071,77. $ 380,09( $ 186,56( $ (101,63) $ 4,536,79!
Payments 2,148,75. 310,45’ 57,20( (1,290 2,515,11!
GSI — 1,483,65! (176,500 (13,66%) 1,293,49:
Corporate and other — 114,23¢ (67,260 (33) 46,94
Total Goodwill $ 6,220,52.  $ 2,288,44.  $ — 3 (116,620 $ 8,392,34

A portion of goodwill acquired as part of the G8gaisition and Magento acquisition (included in ganate and Other) was allocated to
the Marketplaces and Payments segments based erg@sexpected to be realized. The adjustmergsddwill during the year ended
December 31, 2011 were due primarily to foreigmeney translation.

Investments accounted for under the equity metti@toounting are classified on our consolidatedhed sheet as long-term investments.

Such investment balances include any related gdbdwsi of December 31, 2011 and 2010 , the goodwikted to our equity method
investments was approximately $27.4 million .

We conducted our annual impairment test of goodaslbf August 31, 2011 and determined that no adprst to the carrying value of
goodwill for any reportable units was necessaryoRABecember 31, 2011 , we determined that no sventircumstances from August 31, 2011
through December 31, 2011 indicated that a furissessment was necessary.

Intangible Assets

The components of identifiable intangible assetsaarfollows:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Weighted Weighted
Gross Average Net Average
Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Useful Life Gross Carrying Accumulated Carrying Useful Life
Amount Amortization Amount (Years) Amount Amortization Amount (Years)

(In thousands, except years)
Intangible assets:
Customer lists and user

base $1,633,42. $ (786,62) $ 846,80( 5 $ 831,80t $ (625,12) $ 206,68( 6
Trademarks and trade
names 729,90 (468,90 261,00: 5 632,89¢ (381,45¢) 251,44: 5
Developed technologies 497,88 (249,22)) 248,65! 3 231,31 (192,42) 38,89: 3
All other 181,75! (131,83)) 49,92 4 156,30t (112,609 43,697

$ 3,042,96: $ (1,636,58) $ 1,406,38! $ 1,852,320 $ (1,311,61) $ 540,71

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $38illion , $254.1 million and $337.5 million ftne years ended December 31, 2011 ,
2010 and 2009, respectively.
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Expected future intangible asset amortization e&Baxfember 31, 2011 is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years:
2012 $ 411,30(
2013 375,32¢
2014 267,24¢
2015 218,23!
2016 96,35:
Thereafter 37,92(

$ 1,406,38!

Note 6 — Segments

We have three reporting segments: MarketplacesnBats and GSI. We allocate resources to and agseperformance of each reporting
segment using information about its revenue andating income (loss). We do not evaluate operagggments using discrete asset informa
We do not allocate gains and losses from equitgstments, interest and other income, or taxesédoatipg segments.

The corporate and other category includes inconpereses and charges such as:

« results of operations of our X.commerce initiatiwhich supports our businesses. Our X.commaeitiative was launched in
conjunction with our acquisition of Magento in tiiérd quarter of 2011;

e corporate management costs, such as human resgiimeese and legal, not allocated to our segm

e amortization of intangible asse

e restructuring charges; a

» stockbased compensation expel
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The following tables summarize the financial pemfance of our operating segments (in the case o&@lrsegment, the following

information reflects its operating results from dury, 2011, the date we acquired GSI):

Net Revenue
Marketplaces
Net transaction revenues
Marketing services and other revenues

Payments
Net transaction revenues
Marketing services and other revenues

GSlI
Net transaction revenues
Marketing services and other revenues

Communications
Net transaction revenues
Marketing services and other revenues

Corporate and other
Marketing services and other revenues

Total net revenue

Operating income (loss)
Marketplaces
Payments
GSlI
Communications
Corporate and other

Total operating income (loss)
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Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(In thousands)

$ 5,431,300 $ 4,800,190 $ 4,461,84!
1,210,46. 920,43« 849,16¢
6,641,77! 5,720,622 5,311,01:
4,123,30: 3,261,31. 2,641,19:
288,83: 174,33: 154,75:
4,412,13! 3,435,64 2,795,94!
459,65¢ — —
130,40! — —
590,06« — —
— — 575,09¢
— — 45,307
— — 620,40:
7,68¢ — —
$ 11,651,65 $ 9,156,27. $ 8,727,36.
$ 2,630,633 $ 2,304,74 $ 2,251,92
978,04. 721,64 463,38:
83,24: — —
— — 157,70:
(1,318,43) (972,819 (1,416,23)
$ 2,373,48 $ 2,05357 $ 1,456,76!
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The following tables summarize the allocation of rvenues and long-lived tangible assets baseptography (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
uU.S. $ 5483,64 $ 4,21421! $  3,985,06!
Germany 1,538,73: 1,204,05 1,140,20!
United Kingdom 1,572,19. 1,266,60. 1,054,73I
Rest of world 3,057,08: 2,471,401 2,547,35!

Tota| net revenues $ 11,651,65 $ 9,156,27‘ $ 8,727,36‘

December 31,

2011 2010
u.S. $ 2,202,620 $ 1,465,23.
International 128,15: 186,25:

2,330,77 % 1,651,48!

Total long-lived tangible assets $

Net revenues are attributed to U.S. and internatigaographies primarily based upon the countsyhich the seller, payment recipient,
customer, Skype user's Internet protocol addréssygh November 19, 2009), website that display®&ising, or other service provider, as the
case may be, is located. Long-lived assets atébtd the U.S. and international geographies asedapon the country in which the asset is
located or owned.

Note 7 - Investments

At December 31, 2011 and 2010 , the estimatedrédire of our short-term and long-term investmetdssified as available for sale, are as
follows:

December 31, 2011

Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(In thousands)
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 19,49C $ — 3 — 3 19,49(
Corporate debt securities 447,80: 1,07¢ (384) 448,49!
Government and agency securities 42,07 17 2 42,08¢
Time deposits and other 81,88: — — 81,88:
Equity instruments 8,507 637,84( — 646,34
$ 599,75! $ 638,93. $ (38¢) $ 1,238,30:
Long-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 1,34: $ — 3 — 3 1,342
Corporate debt securities 2,237,39! 6,33t (58,02¢) 2,185,70.
Government and agency securities 70,01t 1,131 (D) 71,14t

$ 2,308,75 $ 7466 $ (58,02) $ 2,258,119
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December 31, 2010

Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(In thousands)
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 20,35. $ — 3 — 3 20,35
Corporate debt securities 371,99¢ 391 (164) 372,22!
Government and agency securities 66,431 98 D 66,53¢
Time deposits and other 44,77: — — 44,77:
Equity instruments 8,501 533,01 — 541,52:
$ 512,06 $ 533,50 $ (165) $ 1,045,40:
Long-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 1,332 $ — & — & 1,332
Corporate debt securities 1,606,72. 4,541 (5,499 1,605,771
Government and agency securities 152,171 14¢ (1,359 150,96¢

$ 1,760,228 % 469C $ (6,847 $ 1,758,06:

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we held $5.2 miliind $4.5 million , respectively, of time depositassified as held to maturity which
are recorded at amortized cost.

The following table summarizes the fair value anasg unrealized losses of our short-term and lengrinvestments, aggregated by type
of investment instrument and length of time thaividual securities have been in a continuous Uiz@aloss position, at December 31, 2@l
thousands):

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Corporate debt securities $ 261456 $ (57,52) $ 19,63t $ (887) $ 2,634,190 $ (58,410
Government and agency securities 113,23: 3 — — 113,23: (©)]
$ 2,727,79. $ (57,52¢ $ 19,63¢ % (887) $ 2,747,431 $ (58,419

Our fixed-income investment portfolio consists ofmorate debt securities, government and agenayities and time deposits that have a
maximum maturity of five years. The corporate did government and agency securities that we inwest generally deemed to be low risk
based on their credit ratings from the major ratiggncies. The longer the duration of these séesirthe more susceptible they are to chang
market interest rates and bond yields. As intaest increase, those securities purchased ateax loeld show a mark-torarket unrealized los
The unrealized losses are due primarily to chaimgeredit spreads and interest rates. We expeaeidiize the full value of all these investments
upon maturity or sale. As of December 31, 201 Es¢hsecurities had a weighted average remainiregidnrof approximately 13 months.
Restricted cash is held primarily in money marketds and interest bearing accounts for lettersegfitrelated primarily to our global sabbati
program and various lease arrangements.

The estimated fair values of our short-term andjt@rm investments classified as available for bgldate of contractual maturity at
December 31, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2011
One year or less (including restricted cash of £9@) $ 1,238,30:
One year through two years 1,001,971
Two years through three years 727,17"
Three years through four years 328,22¢
Four years through five years 200,81°

$ 3,496,49.
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Equity and cost method investments

We have made multiple equity and cost method imvests which are reported in long-term investmentsur consolidated balance sheet.
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 , our equity arstl method investments totaled $189.9 million an2i9%4 million , respectively.

Note 8 — Fair Value Measurement of Assets and Lialities

The following tables summarize our financial assets liabilities measured at fair value on a rdogrbasis as of December 31, 2011 and
2010:

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Other
Balance as of Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Description December 31, 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2)
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,691,100 $ 4,691,100 $ —
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash 19,49( 19,49( —
Corporate debt securities 448,49! — 448,49!
Government and agency securities 42,08¢ — 42,08¢
Time deposits 81,88: — 81,88t
Equity instruments 646,34 646,34" —
Total short-term investments 1,238,30: 665,83" 572,46«
Derivatives 111,62¢ — 111,62¢
Long-term investments:
Restricted cash 1,342 1,342 —
Corporate debt securities 2,185,70: — 2,185,70:
Government and agency securities 71,14¢ — 71,14¢
Total long-term investments 2,258,19: 1,34z 2,256,84!
Total financial assets $ 8,299,22. $ 5,358,28I $ 2,940,94.
Liabilities:
Derivatives $ 60,221 $ — $ 60,221
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Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Other
Balance as of Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Description December 31, 2010 (Level 1) (Level 2)
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5577,41. $ 5577,41. $ —
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash 20,351 20,35! —
Corporate debt securities 372,22t — 372,22¢
Government and agency securities 66,53¢ — 66,53¢
Time deposits 44,77: — 44,77:
Equity instruments 541,52: 541,52: —
Total short-term investments 1,045,40: 561,87 483,53:
Derivatives 37,19¢ — 37,19¢
Long-term investments:
Restricted cash 1,332 1,332 —
Corporate debt securities 1,605,77! — 1,605,77!
Government and agency securities 150,96¢ — 150,96¢
Total long-term investments 1,758,06! 1,332 1,756,73I
Total financial assets $ 8,418,070 $ 6,140,61' $ 2,277,46.
Liabilities:
Derivatives $ 4,96: $ —  § 4,96:

Our financial assets and liabilities are valuedgsnarket prices on both active markets (levelit) lass active markets (level 2). Level 1
instrument valuations are obtained from rix@e quotes for transactions in active exchangekatarnvolving identical assets. Level 2 instrun
valuations are obtained from readily available ipgcsources for comparable instruments or identicgtfuments in less active markets. Our
derivative instruments are valued using pricing misdhat take into account the contract terms dlsasenultiple inputs where applicable, such
as equity prices, interest rate yield curves, aptiolatility and currency rates. Our derivativetinments are short-term in nature, typically one
month to one year in duration. Cash and cash elgmitsaand short-term, highly liquid investmentshaariginal or remaining maturities of three
months or less when purchased are mainly compagbdnk deposits and money market funds.

In addition to the long-term investments noted ayave had approximately $189.9 million and $729ilion of cost and equity method
investments included in long-term investments onammsolidated balance sheet at December 31, 200 2@l10 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2011 , we held no direct investi®:iin auction rate securities, collateralizedt détigations, structured investment
vehicles or mortgage-backed securities.

In Europe, we have two cash pooling arrangemertts aviinancial institution for cash management psgs. These arrangements allow for
cash withdrawals from this financial institutionsleal upon our aggregate operating cash balancesh&ldope within the same financial
institution (“Aggregate Cash Deposits”). These agements also allow us to withdraw amounts excegeitie Aggregate Cash Deposits up to an
agreed-upon limit. The net balance of the withdlavaad the Aggregate Cash Deposits are used Hyntingcial institution as a basis for
calculating our net interest expense or incomeofABecember 31, 2011 , we had a total of $4.9dsilin cash withdrawals offsetting our $4.9
billion in Aggregate Cash Deposits held within Hzane financial institution under these cash podimgngements.

Other financial instruments, including accountsreable, loans and interest receivable, funds vatéé, customer accounts, short-term

debt, accounts payable, funds payable and amouetsdcustomers are carried at cost, which apprat@mtheir fair value because of the short-
term nature of these instruments.
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Note 9 — Derivative Instruments

The notional amounts associated with our foreigmerncy contracts at December 31, 2011 and 2010 $4&billion and $1.8 billion ,
respectively, of which $2.0 billion and $1.2 bitlig respectively, were designated as cash flow é&dgerivative transactions are measured in
terms of the notional amount, but this amount isrecorded on the balance sheet and is not, whemed in isolation, a meaningful measure of
the risk profile of the instruments. The notionadaunt is generally not exchanged, but is used aslthe basis on which the value of foreign
exchange payments under these contracts are deéztmi

Fair Value of Derivative Contracts

The fair value of our outstanding derivative ingtents was as follows:

Derivative Assets Reported in Other Derivative Liabilities Reported in
Current Assets Other Current Liabilities
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2011 2010 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Foreign exchange contracts designated as casthiidges $ 74,77 3 35,85: $ 2,927 $ 4,16
Foreign exchange contracts not designated as rgedgin
instruments 28,88t 1,34: 57,30( 801
Other contracts not designated as hedging instrtsnen 7,971 — — —
Total fair value of derivative instruments $ 111,62¢ $ 37,19¢ $ 60,227 $ 4,96

Effect of Derivative Contracts on Accumulated Oth€omprehensive Income

The following table summarizes the activity of dative contracts that qualify for hedge accountisgf December 31, 2011 and 2010 ,
and the impact of designated derivative contractaccumulated other comprehensive income for thesyended December 31, 2011 and 2010 :

Amount of gain (loss)
reclassified from
accumulated other

Amount of gain (loss) comprehensive income
recognized in other to net revenue and operating
comprehensive income expense
December 31, 2010 (effective portion) (effective portion) December 31, 2011

(In thousands)

Foreign exchange contracts
designated as cash flow hedges $ 13,56 $ 71,84¢ $ 13,56 $ 71,84¢

Amount of gain (loss)
reclassified from
accumulated other

Amount of gain (loss) comprehensive income
recognized in other to net revenue and operating
comprehensive income expense
December 31, 2009 (effective portion) (effective portion) December 31, 2010

(In thousands)

Foreign exchange contracts
designated as cash flow hedges $ (482) $ 30,38t $ 12,00 $ 13,56(
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Effect of Derivative Contracts on Consolidated S#atent of Income

The following table provides the location in ourdhcial statements of the recognized gains or $osdated to our derivative instruments:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
(In thousands)
Foreign exchange contracts designated as casthiédges recognized in net revenues  $ (25,869 $ 11,13 $ 15,43(
Foreign exchange contracts designated as casthi#oges recognized in operating expenses (7,062) — —
Foreign exchange contracts not designated as hgdgtruments recognized in interest ar

other, net (5,36%) (9,34 (28,939
Other contracts not designated as hedging instrtsmenognized in interest and other, net (569) — —
Total gain (loss) recognized from derivative coatsan the consolidated statement of
income $ (38,859 $ 1,79C $ (13,509

Note 10 - Balance Sheet Components

As of December 31,
2011 2010
(In thousands)

Other current assets:

Prepaid expenses $ 169,49. $ 115,47¢
Income tax receivable 2,60z 172,86¢
Deferred tax assets, net 47,96¢ 39,33¢
Interest receivables 42,06 23,18:
Derivatives 111,62¢ 37,19¢
Other 207,68! 93,173

$ 581,43t $ 481,23t

As of December 31,
2011 2010
(In thousands)

Property and equipment, net:

Computer equipment and software $ 3,369,01. $ 2,729,733l
Land and buildings, including building improvements 783,89: 688,28:
Leasehold improvements 338,50: 288,91
Furniture and fixtures 149,63: 115,58¢
Construction in progress and other 235,74¢ 140,26

4,876,78 3,962,78:
Accumulated depreciation (2,890,561 (2,439,44)

$ 1,986,211 $ 1,523,33:

Total depreciation expense on our property andpegent in the years ended December 31, 2011 , 204 @@09 totaled $602.8 million ,
$508.4 million and $473.4 million , respectively.
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As of December 31,
2011 2010
(In thousands)

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities:

Acquisition related accrued expenses $ 23,747 $ 8,26¢
Advertising 101,29¢ 100,31«
Compensation and related benefits 489,09( 348,49°
Contractors and consultants 71,20¢ 66,21¢
Liability for unrecognized tax benefits — 208,50(
Professional fees 127,66! 147,88(
Restructuring 2,24¢ 5,98¢
Transaction loss accrual 62,40 31,90(
VAT accrual 99,36¢ 124,94:
Other current liabilities 533,81 301,38¢

$ 1,510,831 % 1,343,88:

As of December 31,
2011 2010
(In thousands)

Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation $ 113,90 $ 394,83!
Unrealized gains on investments 587,98! 531,18:
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 71,84¢ 13,56(
Estimated tax provision on above items (224,27°) (188,265)

$ 549,46¢ $ 751,31«

Note 11 — Restructuring
2009 Customer Service Consolidation

In 2009, we began the consolidation of certainaust service facilities in North America and Eurdapetreamline our operations and
deliver better and more efficient customer suppmdur users. We completed these activities dutiedirst quarter of 2011. The consolidation
impacted approximately 1,000 employees. In conosatiith the consolidation, we incurred aggregatgsof approximately $47.2 million ,
primarily related to employee severance and bendditiring 2011 , we incurred a credit of $0.5 roilllargely due to a change in sublease
assumptions and in 2010 , we incurred restructwwhegges of $21.4 million in connection with thansolidation.

The following table summarizes by segment the uesiiring costs recognized during the years endextibber 31, 2011 and 2010 :

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Year Ended December 31, 2010
Employee Employee
Severance and Severance and
Benefits Facilities Total Benefits Facilities Total
(In thousands)
Marketplaces $ 30 $ (519) $ 489 $ 18,607 $ 3,22¢ % 21,83(
Payments — — — (399%) — (399
$ 30 $ (519 $ (489 $ 18,21 $ 3,22: % 21,437
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The following table summarizes the restructuringerge activity during the year ended December 8112

Employee Severance

and Benefits Facilities Total
(In thousands)
Accrued liability as of January 1, 2011 $ 2,42 $ 3,55¢ $ 5,98¢
Charges (benefit) 30 (519 (48¢)
Payments (2,654 (1,44%) (4,107
Adjustments 57t 27¢ 85C
Accrued liability as of December 31, 2011 $ 37¢ $ 1,86¢ $ 2,244

In the table above, adjustments primarily reflbéet impact of foreign currency translation.

Note 12 - Debt

The following table summarizes the carrying valfiewr outstanding debt (in thousands, except peages):

Coupon Carrying Value as of Effective Carrying Value as of Effective
Rate December 31, 2011 Interest Rate December 31, 2010 Interest Rate
Long-Term Debt
Senior notes due 2013 0.87%% $ 399,50( 0.946% $ 399,22( 0.94€%
Senior notes due 2015 1.625% 598,30: 1.70%% 597,85 1.70%%
Senior notes due 2020 3.25(% 497,44 3.31% 497,15( 3.31¢%
Total senior notes 1,495,24! 1,494,22
Note payable 14,88( —
Capital lease obligations 14,92: —
Total long-term debt $ 1,525,04 $ 1,494,22
Short-Term Debt
Commercial paper $ 550,00( $ 300,00(
Note payable 1,79: —
Capital lease obligations 12,80¢ —
Total short-term debt 564,60: 300,00(
Total Debt $ 2,089,64! $ 1,794,22

Senior Notes

The effective interest rates for our senior notes 2013, 2015 and 2020 includes the accretionsadint. Interest on these notes is payable
semiannually on April 15 and October 15. Intereqtemse associated with these notes including aratiin of debt issuance costs during the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was ap@t@tin$31.9 million and $5.5 million , respectiveM December 31, 2011 , the estimated

fair value of all these senior notes included imgdgerm debt was approximately $1.5 billion basedrarket prices on less active markets (Level
2).

The indenture pursuant to which the senior note® vesued includes customary covenants that, arathreg things, limit our ability to incur,

assume or guarantee debt secured by liens on iggeagfsets or enter into sale and lease-back timss with respect to specified properties,
and also includes customary events of default.

Note Payable

Note payable is comprised primarily of a mortgageerassumed as part of our acquisition of GSI. Mbegage note bears interest at
6.3% per annum and has a maturity date of DeceR(iE5.
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Capital Lease Obligations

We acquired certain warehouse equipment and compatdware and software under capital leases a®paur acquisition of GSI. The
capital leases have maturity dates from March 20X ebruary 2016 and bear interest at rates rarfging 3% to 9% per annum. The present
value of future minimum lease payments as of Deazrlh, 2011 was as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2011

Gross capital lease obligations $ 29,33!
Imputed interest (2,607
$ 27,73(

Total present value of future minimum lease payment

Commercial Paper

We implemented a $2.0 billion commercial paper progpursuant to which we may issue commercial paptrs with maturities of up
to 397 days from the date of issue. As of Decer3theP011 , $550.0 million aggregate principal anmafrcommercial paper was outstanding,
the weighted average interest rate on our outstgncbmmercial paper notes was 0.16% , and the texighverage remaining term of our
commercial paper notes was 40 days.

Credit Agreement

On November 22, 2011, we entered into a crediteagest that provides for an unsecured $3.0 billiee-fear revolving credit facility
that includes a $300.0 million letter of credit fability and a $100.0 million swingline sub-fatylj with available borrowings under the
revolving credit facility reduced by the amountaofy letters of credit and swingline borrowings ¢tansling from time to time. We may also,
subject to the agreement of the applicable lendecsease the commitments under the revolving tfadility by up to $1.0 billion . Funds
borrowed under the credit agreement may be useaddting capital, capital expenditures, acquisisi@md other general corporate purposes.
The credit agreement replaced our prior $1.8 hilliosecured revolving credit agreement, dated Nbeem, 2006.

As of December 31, 2011, no borrowings or lettérsredit were outstanding under our $3.0 billisadit agreement. However, as
described above, we have a $2.0 billion commepagaker program and maintain $2.0 billion of avagabbrrowing capacity under our credit
agreement in order to repay commercial paper bongsivin the event we are unable to repay thoseohamngs from other sources when they
become due. Accordingly, at December 31, 2011Q Billion of borrowing capacity was available fadher purposes permitted by the credit
agreement.

Loans under the credit agreement bear interesther€i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (“ LIRO) plus a margin (based on our
public debt ratings) ranging from 0.625 percent.tt?5 percent or (ii) a formula based on the afank's prime rate, the federal funds effective
rate or LIBOR plus a margin (based on our publistaatings) ranging from zero percent to 0.125 @etcThe credit agreement will terminate
and all amounts owing thereunder will be due andpke on November 22, 2016, unless (a) the commnitsnere terminated earlier, either at our
request or, if an event of default occurs, by #relers (or automatically in the case of certairkhagtcy-related events of default), or (b) the
maturity date is extended upon our request, subjetie agreement of the lenders. The credit ageeerontains customary representations,
warranties, affirmative and negative covenantdumliog a financial covenant, events of default amtemnification provisions in favor of the
banks. The negative covenants include restrictiegarding the incurrence of liens, subject to deraceptions. The financial covenant requires
us to meet a quarterly financial test with respe& minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio.

As of December 31, 2011 , we were in compliancé it covenants in our outstanding debt instruments
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Future Maturities

Expected future principal maturities as of Decen81er2011 is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years:
2012 $ 564,60:
2013 412,94.
2014 16,36:
2015 600,48(
2016 10
Thereafter 500,00(

$ 2,094,39i

Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

As of December 31, 2011 , approximately $9.6dmillof unused credit was available to Bill Me Laecountholders. The individual lines
of credit that make up this unused credit are sutfeperiodic review and termination by the chagtefinancial institution that is the issuer of
Bill Me Later credit products based on, among othérgs, account usage and customer creditworthir@srrently, when a consumer makes a
purchase using a Bill Me Later credit product, ¢hartered financial institution extends credithie tonsumer, funds the extension of credit ¢
point of sale and advances funds to the merchaatsitésequently purchase the receivables relatibe twonsumer loans extended by the
chartered financial institution and, as a resuthefpurchase, bear the risk of loss in the evelttam defaults. Although the chartered financial
institution continues to own each customer accouatpwn the related receivable, and Bill Me Lagerdsponsible for all servicing functions
related to the account.

Lease Arrangements

We have lease obligations under certain non-cableetiperating leases. Future minimum rental paymentler our non-cancelable
operating leases at December 31, 2011 are as ®liomthousands):

Year Ended December 31, Leases
2012 $ 94,85
2013 66,77:
2014 49,82(
2015 37,58’
2016 23,73(
Thereafter 38,69:
Total minimum lease payments $ 311,45

Rent expense in the years ended December 31, ZD,and 2009 totaled $130.9 million , $112.6iomlland $92.3 million ,
respectively.

Litigation and Other Legal Matters

Overview

We are involved in legal proceedings on an ongbmgjs. If we believe that a loss arising from soiters is probable and can be
reasonably estimated, we accrue the estimatedityaibi our financial statements. If only a rangeestimated losses can be determined, we
accrue an amount within the range that, in our fuelgt, reflects the most likely outcome; if nondhed estimates within that range is a better
estimate than any other amount, we accrue the faoéthe range. Amounts
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accrued for legal proceedings for which we beliavess is probable were not material for the yealed December 31, 2011. Except as
otherwise noted, we have concluded that reasonatdgible losses arising directly from the procegslifi.e., monetary damages or amounts

in judgment or settlement) in excess of our acsraat also not material. For those proceedingshiniwan unfavorable outcome is reasonably
possible but not probable, we have disclosed amat of the reasonably possible loss or rangessds or we have concluded that an estimate
of the reasonably possible loss or range of loasseg directly from the proceeding (i.e., mongtdamages or amounts paid in judgment or
settlement) are not material. If we cannot estintfag¢eprobable or reasonably possible loss or rafigsses arising from a legal proceeding, we
have disclosed that fact.

In assessing the materiality of a legal proceedivggevaluate, among other factors, the amount ofatawy damages claimed, as well as
potential impact of non-monetary remedies soughtlbintiffs (e.g., injunctive relief) that may reigeius to change our business practices in a
manner that could have a material adverse impaouobusiness. With respect to the matters disdlas¢his Note 13, we are unable to estimate
the possible loss or range of losses that couldmiatly result from the application of such nonsetary remedies.

Specific Matters

In August 2006, Louis Vuitton Malletier and Chrésti Dior Couture filed two lawsuits in the Paris @af Commerce against eBay Inc.
and eBay International AG. Among other things,¢bmplaint alleged that we violated French tort laywnegligently broadcasting listings pos
by third parties offering counterfeit items bearpigintiffs' trademarks and by purchasing certainestising keywords. Around September 2006,
Parfums Christian Dior, Kenzo Parfums, Parfums 6t\wy, and Guerlain Société also filed a lawsuthim Paris Court of Commerce against
eBay Inc. and eBay International AG. The complaiteged that we had interfered with the selectigtrihution network the plaintiffs
established in France and the European Union byalh third parties to post listings offering gemeiiperfumes and cosmetics for sale on our
websites. In June 2008, the Paris Court of Commmerleel that eBay and eBay International AG werblédor failing to prevent the sale of
counterfeit items on its websites that traded aingiffs' brand names and for interfering with filaintiffs' selective distribution network. The
court awarded plaintiffs approximately EUR 38.6lioil in damages and issued an injunction (enforeely daily fines of up to EUR 100,000 )
prohibiting all sales of perfumes and cosmeticgihgahe Dior, Guerlain, Givenchy and Kenzo brander all worldwide eBay sites to the
extent that they are accessible from France. Wealpg this decision, and in September 2010, this Baurt of Appeal reduced the damages
award to EUR 5.7 million and modified the injunctioVe have further appealed this decision to tleaélr Supreme Court. In 2009, plaintiffs
filed an action regarding our compliance with thigimal injunction, and in November 2009, the caatarded the plaintiffs EUR 1.7 milligithe
equivalent of EUR 2,500 per day) and indicated &saa large Internet company we should do a betbeof enforcing the injunction. Parfums
Christian Dior has filed another motion relatingoior compliance with the injunction. We have takesasures to comply with the injunction and
have appealed these rulings, noting, among otlireggththe modification of the initial injunction.dwever, these and similar suits may force |
modify our business practices, which could lower myenue, increase our costs, or make our wellsgesconvenient to our customers. Any
such results could materially harm our busineskefbrand owners have also filed suit against uswe threatened to do so in numerous
different jurisdictions, seeking to hold us lialide, among other things, alleged counterfeit itdisted on our websites by third parties, “tester”
and other not for resale consumer products listedus websites by third parties, alleged misuseaafemarks in listings, alleged violations of
selective distribution channel laws, alleged violas of parallel import laws, alleged non-compliamgth consumer protection laws and in
connection with paid search advertisements. We pesailed in some of these suits, lost in othans, many are in various stages of appeal
continue to believe that we have meritorious deferis these suits and intend to defend ourselgesadsly.

In May 2009, the U.K. High Court of Justice ruledtihe case filed by L'Oréal SA, Lancéme ParfunBestuté & Cie, Laboratoire
Garnier & Cie and L'Oréal (UK) Ltd against eBaydmtational AG, other eBay companies, and severayeRllers (No. HC07C0O1978) that
eBay was not jointly liable with the seller co-dedants as a joint tortfeasor, and indicated thabitld certify to the European Court of Justice
("ECJ") questions of liability for the use of L'@lérademarks, hosting liability, and the scopea gibssible injunction against intermediaries. On
July 12, 2011 the ECJ ruled on the questions eadtliy the U.K. High Court of Justice. It held tifa} brand names could be used by
marketplaces as keywords for paid search advegtisithout violating a trademark owner's rightstifviere clear to consumers that the goods
reached via the key word link were not being offidog the trademark owner or its designees butaasby third parties, (b) that marketplaces
could invoke the limitation from liability providely Article 14 of the ecommerce directive if thag dot take such an active role with respect to
the listings in question that the limitation wouldt be available, but that even where the limitatias available, the marketplace could be liable
if it had awareness (through notice or its own gtigation) of the illegality of the listings, (d)dt a marketplace would be liable in a specific
jurisdiction only if the offers on the site at isswere targeting that jurisdiction, a questionaatf (d) that injunctions may be issued 1
marketplace in connection with infringing third par
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content, but that such injunctions must be propogte and not block legitimate trade and (e) tteatemark rights can only be evoked by a ri
owner as a result of a seller's commercial actiaityopposed to private activity. The matter wilneturn to the U.K. High Court of Justice for
further action in light of the ECJ opinion. The eagas originally filed in July 2007. L'Oréal's colaipt alleged that we were jointly liable for
trademark infringement for the actions of the gsligho allegedly sold counterfeit goods, paraligborts and testers (not for resale products).
Additionally, L'Oréal claimed that eBay's use oDtéal brands on its website, in its search engmtkim sponsored links, and purchase of L'C
trademarks as keywords, constitute trademark igémnent. The suit sought an injunction preventingriiinfringement, full disclosure of the
identity of all past and present sellers of infiimggL'Oréal goods, and a declaration that our \keiRights Owner (VeRO) program as then
operated was insufficient to prevent such infringemThe scope of a possible injunction claimet ise specified after the trial upon remand
from the ECJ.

eBay's Korean subsidiary, IAC (which has merged Gtarket and is now named eBay Korea), has notifseapproximately 20 million
users of a January 2008 data breach involving pafoidentifiable information including name, adds, resident registration number and some
transaction and refund data (but not including itreard information or real time banking informatjo Approximately 149,000 users have sued
IAC over this breach in several lawsuits in Koreanrts and more may do so in the future. Trialdfgroup of four representative suits began in
August 2009 in the Seoul District Court, and tfa@la group of 23 other suits began in Septemb8820 the Seoul District Court. There is some
precedent in Korea for a court to grant “consotatiwoney”for data breaches without a specific finding ofrhdrom the breach. Such precede
have involved payments of up to approximately $gé0user. In January 2010, the Seoul District Coued that IAC had met its obligations
with respect to defending the site from intrusion ,gaccordingly, had no liability for the breactig ruling has been appealed by approximately
34,000 plaintiffs to the Seoul High Court, wherésiturrently being heard de novo. A decision igested in 2012.

General Matters

Other third parties have from time to time claimadd others may claim in the future, that we haeniged their intellectual property
rights. We are subject to patent disputes, andatxpat we will increasingly be subject to addigbpatent infringement claims involving varic
aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments and GSI éss#s as our services continue to expand in sempecanplexity. Such claims may be
brought directly against our companies and/or agaiar customers (who may be entitled to contrdétaemnification under their contracts
with us), and we are subject to increased expdsusach claims as a result of our recent acquisstiparticularly in cases where we are entering
into new businesses in connection with such acipis. We have in the past been forced to litigateh claims. We may also become more
vulnerable to third-party claims as laws such a&sDigital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanham Aahd the Communications Decency Act are
interpreted by the courts, and as we expand thgerand geographical scope of our services and besabiject to laws in jurisdictions where
underlying laws with respect to the potential lidpiof online intermediaries like ourselves arther unclear or less favorable. We believe that
additional lawsuits alleging that we have violapadent, copyright or trademark laws will be fileghinst us. Intellectual property claims, whe
meritorious or not, are time consuming and costlgéfend and resolve, could require expensive admimgour methods of doing business, or
could require us to enter into costly royalty eelising agreements on unfavorable terms.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispube regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordynaourse of business, including suits by
our users (individually or as class actions) allggiamong other things, improper disclosure ofgriges, rules or policies, that our prices, rules,
policies or customer/user agreements violate agipléclaw, or that we have not acted in conformitghwsuch prices, rules, policies or
agreements. The number and significance of thegmitdis and inquiries are increasing. Any claimegulatory actions against us, whether
meritorious or not, could be time consuming, resuttostly litigation, damage awards (includingtstary damages for certain causes of actic
certain jurisdictions), injunctive relief or increed costs of doing business through adverse judgonesettiement, require us to change our
business practices in expensive ways, requirefgignt amounts of management time, result in terdion of significant operational resources
or otherwise harm our business.

Indemnification Provisions

In the ordinary course of business, we have inaduheited indemnification provisions in certain @fir agreements with parties with wh
we have commercial relations, including our staddaarketing, promotions and application-programrimtgrface license agreements. Under
these contracts, we generally indemnify, hold haasland agree to reimburse the indemnified partip$ses suffered or incurred by the
indemnified party in connection with claims by @&dhparty with respect to our domain names, trad&mdogos and other branding elements to
the extent that such marks are applicable to our
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performance under the subject agreement. GSI iryrofits major online commerce agreements has gea/an indemnity for other types of
third-party claims, which are indemnities mainlated to various intellectual property rights, amel have provided similar indemnities in a
limited number of agreements for our other busiegsk our PayPal business, we have provided amindy to our payment processors in the
event of certain third-party claims or card asstmiafines against the processor arising out ofdcet by PayPal or PayPal customers. In
connection with the sale of Skype, we made cedagtomary warranties to the buyer in the purchgseesment. Our liability to the buyer for
inaccuracies in these warranties is generally stilbpecertain limitations. With respect to certapecified litigation matters involving Skype that
were pending as of the closing of the transactimalso agreed, among other things, to bear 508teafost of any monetary judgment that is
rendered in respect of those matters. It is nosiptisto determine the maximum potential loss uridese indemnification provisions due to our
limited history of prior indemnification claims arie unique facts and circumstances involved it g&cticular provision. To date, losses
recorded in our statement of income in connecti@h wur indemnification provisions have not beggndficant, either individually or
collectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamamercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRa¢mates, PayPal holds customer
balances either as direct claims against PayPad an agent or custodian on behalf of PayPal'smest. Customer funds held by PayPal as an
agent or custodian on behalf of our customers aredflected in our consolidated balance sheets@ ludf-balance sheet funds totaled
approximately $2.7 billion as of December 31, 2@h#l 2010 . These funds include funds held on betid)fS. customers that are deposited in
bank accounts insured by the Federal Deposit Inser&orporation (subject to applicable limits).

Note 14 - Related Party Transactions

We have entered into indemnification agreementk éich of our directors, executive officers andagerother officers. These agreements

as a result of their affiliation with us.

All contracts with related parties are at rates t@mohs that we believe are comparable with thoaedbuld be entered into with
independent third parties. There were no mateelated party transactions in 2011 . As of Decen3e2011, there were no significant amou
payable to or amounts receivable from related @srti

Note 15 - Stockholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

We are authorized, subject to limitations presatibg Delaware law, to issue preferred stock in eneore series; to establish the number
of shares included within each series; to fix tights, preferences and privileges of the sharesmoh wholly unissued series and any related
qualifications, limitations or restrictions; andit@rease or decrease the number of shares ofegigg gbut not below the number of shares of a
series then outstanding) without any further vataaion by our stockholders. At December 31, 284d 2010 , there were 10.0 million shares
of $0.001 par value preferred stock authorizedssmance, and no shares issued or outstanding.

Common Stock
Our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, atitles us to issue 3.6 billion shares of commonkstoc

Note 16 — Stock Repurchase Program

In September 2010, our Board authorized a stockrobyase program that provides for the repurchasg ¢d $2.0 billion of our common
stock, with no expiration from the date of authatian, for the purpose of offsetting the impactidfition from our equity compensation
programs. The stock repurchase activity understusk repurchase program during 2011 is summaezgddllows (in thousands, except per
share amounts):
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Shares Average Price Value of Shares Amount
Repurchased per Share (1) Repurchased Authorized
Balance at January 1, 2011 1,88C % 29.9¢ % 56,299 $  1,943,70
Repurchase of common stock 33,60( 31.6¢4 1,063,18! (1,063,18)
Balance at December 31, 2011 35,48( $ 31.5¢ $ 1,119,47: $ 880,52:

(1) Stock repurchase activity excludes broker cossions.

These repurchased shares were recorded as tresigokyand were accounted for under the cost metdodepurchased shares have |
retired.

Our stock repurchase programs may be limited onitexted at any time without prior notice. Stockueghases under these programs may
be made through a variety of open market and miyategotiated transactions, including structuredlsrepurchase transactions or other
derivative transactions, at times and in such ansas management deems appropriate and will bee€lfrdm our working capital or other
financing alternatives. The timing and actual nundfeshares repurchased will depend on a variefaaibrs including corporate and regulatory
requirements, price, other market conditions andageament's determination as to the appropriatefuser cash. The programs are intended to
comply with the volume, timing and other limitat®get forth in Rule 10b-18 under the Securitiesiarge Act of 1934.

In addition to the above, we withhold shares franplyees to satisfy minimum statutory tax obligatian conjunction with nonvested
shares under our equity incentive plans, whichrareided in treasury stock.

Note 17 — Stock-Based and Employee Savings Plans

Equity Incentive Plans
We have equity incentive plans under which we geaptity awards, including stock options, restricteatk units, nonvested shares and
performance-based restricted stock units, to awctbrs, officers and employees. At December 31120%626.4 million shares were authorized
under our equity incentive plans and 54.8 millibarges were available for future grant.

All stock options granted under these plans gelyevakt 12.5% six months from the date of grant2a% one year from the date of grant
for grants to new employees) with the remaindetingst a rate of 2.08% per month thereafter, generally expire seven to teyears from the
date of grant. The cost of stock options is deteeatiusing the Black-Scholes option pricing modetrendate of grant.

Restricted stock units and nonvested shares angegr#o eligible employees under our equity incenpilans. In general, restricted stock
units and nonvested shares vest in equal anndallmsnts over a period of one to five years, atgexct to the employees' continuing service to
the Company and do not have an expiration date cdkeof restricted stock units and nonvested shiardetermined using the fair value of our
common stock on the date of grant.

In 2011, 2010 and 2009 , certain executives wigéke to receive performance-based restrictedlstmits. The number of restricted
stock units ultimately received depends on ourress performance against specified performancetsasgt by the Compensation Committe
the performance criteria are satisfied, the perforoe-based restricted stock units will be grantetth one-half of the grant vesting in March
following the end of the performance period andrédr@aining one-half vesting one year later.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an employee stock purchase plan for gibéti employees. Under the plan, shares of our comstock may be purchased ove
offering period with a maximum duration of two yeat 85% of the lower of the fair market value loa first day of the applicable offering
period or on the last day of the six-month purch@esgod. Employees may purchase shares havingua wait exceeding 10% of their eligible
compensation during an offering period. During ykars ended 2011 , 2010 , and 2009 , employeebagmed approximately 3.4 million , 4.7
million and 4.4 million shares under this plan atrage prices of $23.55 , $13.55 and $12.82 peeshespectively. At December 31, 2011 ,
approximately 3.8 million shares of common stockeveserved for future issuance. Our employee gtackhase plan contains an “evergreen”
provision that automatically increases, on eacludgnl, the number of shares reserved for issuamder the employee stock purchase plan by
the number of shares purchased under this pldreiprieceding calendar year.

Employee Savings Plan
We have a savings plan, which qualifies under 8ectD1(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Particigaimployees may
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contribute up to 50% of their annual salary, butmore than statutory limits. In 2011 , 2010 an@20we contributed one dollar for each dollar
a participant contributed, with a maximum contribatof 4% of each employee's salary, subject taaimum employer contribution of $10,000
per employee for each period. Our non-U.S. empleyee covered by various other savings plans. @ar éxpenses for these savings plans
were $50.2 million in 2011 , $47.4 million in 2046d $42.8 million in 2009 .

Deferred Stock Units

Since December 31, 2002, we have granted defetoeld anits to non-employee directors (other tharieiOmidyar) elected to our Board
of Directors with each new director receiving a-¢inee grant of deferred stock units equal to thsulteof dividing $150,000 by the fair market
value of our common stock on the date of grant.ilBggg with our 2008 annual meeting of stockholders granted deferred stock units to each
non-employee director (other than Mr. Omidyar)het time of our annual meeting of stockholders etuhe result of dividing $110,000 by the
fair market value of our common stock on the ddtgrant. Beginning with the 2011 annual meetingtoickholders, we granted deferred stock
units to each non-employee director (other than®midyar) at the time of our annual meeting of klmdders equal to the result of dividing
$220,000 by the fair market value of our commorlsion the date of grant. Each deferred stock wnmistitutes an unfunded and unsecured
promise by us to deliver one share of our commoaoksfor the equivalent value thereof in cash opprty at our election). Each deferred stock
unit award granted to a new non-employee diregbontelection to the Board vests 25% one year flwgrdate of grant, and at a rate of 2.08%

per month thereafter. If the services of the doeare terminated at any time, all rights to theested deferred stock units will also terminare
addition, directors may elect to receive, in lidaopnual retainer and committee chair fees antetiine these fees would otherwise be payable
(i.e., on a quarterly basis in arrears for servimesided), fully vested deferred stock units wathinitial value equal to the amount based on the
fair market value of common stock at the date ahgrDeferred stock units are payable followingt#renination of a director's tenure as a
director. As of December 31, 2011 , there were @aaprately 271,409 deferred stock units outstandietuded in our restricted stock unit
activity below.

Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes stock option acgivinder our equity incentive plans as of and ferybar ended December 31, 2011 (in
thousands, except per share amounts and years):

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Shares Price Term (Years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 43,907 % 23.61
Granted and assumed 8,41t  $ 29.6¢€
Exercised (8,99) $ 18.2(
Forfeited/expired/canceled 3,279 $ 27.5(
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 40,05¢  $ 25.8¢ 3.88 $ 249,29(
Expected to vest 38,587 $ 25.7¢ 3.71 $ 243,46:
Options exercisable 27,09¢ $ 25.9¢ 29t $ 176,05

The aggregate intrinsic value of options was caleul as the difference between the exercise pfiteeainderlying awards and the quoted
price of our common stock. At December 31, 201ftioms to purchase 23.7 million shares of commonlkstvere in-the-money.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of oystigranted during the years 2011 , 2010 and 208%@a87 , $6.77 and $4.59 ,
respectively. During the years 2011 , 2010 and 2006 aggregate intrinsic value of options exeisnder our equity incentive plans was
$129.0 million , $140.7 million and $69.7 milliomespectively, determined as of the date of optixercise.

Restricted Stock Unit Activity

A summary of the status of restricted stock uniRSU") granted (including performantased restricted stock units that have been ez
under our equity incentive plans as of Decembe®81, and changes during the year ended Decemb2031 is presented below (in
thousands, except per share amounts):
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Weighted Average

Gra}nt-Date
Units &ae'{ ;/r?;::)
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 38,34¢ % 19.5¢
Awarded and assumed 21.64: $ 30.6(
Vested (14,629 $ 20.61
Forfeited (5,179 $ 22.4¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 40,18t ¢ 24.7¢
Expected to vest at December 31, 2011 35,25¢

During the years 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , the agtgegtinsic value of restricted stock units vestiedier our equity incentive plans was
$465.5 million , $362.8 million and $115.5 milligmespectively.
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Nonvested Shares Activity

A summary of the status of and changes in nonvestarks granted under our equity incentive pladsaasumed in acquisitions as of
December 31, 2011 and changes during the year ébeleeimber 31, 2011 is presented below (in thousaxdept per share amounts):

Weighted Average

Grant-Date

Fair Value

Shares (per share)
Nonvested at January 1, 2011 10 $ 39.9(
Granted — —
Vested (100 $ 39.9(
Forfeited — —
Nonvested at December 31, 2011 — % —

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The impact on our results of operations of recayditock-based compensation expense for years éwelminber 31, 2011 , 2010 ap00¢<
was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(In thousands)
Cost of net revenues $ 55,92¢ % 48,76« $ 49,27
Sales and marketing 131,80( 106,20¢ 121,72
Product development 122,69: 101,00: 98,60¢
General and administrative 146,77: 125,51¢ 125,19¢
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 457,18t $ 381,49: $ 394,80°
Capitalized in product development $ 17,02:  § 10,48 $ 9,06(

As of December 31, 2011 , there was approximatéRo® million of unearned stock-based compensahianwill be expensed from 2012
through 2015. If there are any modifications oraedlations of the underlying unvested awards, wg bwrequired to accelerate, increase or
cancel all or a portion of the remaining unearnedlsbased compensation expense. Future uneamadishsed compensation will increase to
the extent we grant additional equity awards, ckahg mix of grants between stock options andiogstt stock units or assume unvested equity
awards in connection with acquisitions.

Stock Option Valuation Assumptions

We calculated the fair value of each stock optimara on the date of grant using the Black-Schopg®o pricing model. The following
weighted average assumptions were used for the yealed December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 :

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 1.2% 1.4% 1.7%
Expected life (in years) 3.8 3.4 3.8
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 38% 37% 47%

Our computation of expected volatility is basedaotombination of historical and market-based intplielatility from traded options on
our common stock. Our computation of expectedidifieased on historical experience of similar awagdsng consideration to the contractual
terms of the stock-based awards, vesting schednl@&xpectations of future employee behavior. Titerést rate for periods within the
contractual life of the award is based on the UrBasury yield curve in effect at the time
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of grant.

Note 18 — Income Taxes

The components of pretax income in consolidatedpaones for the years ended December 31, 2011 , 20d 2009 are as follows (in

thousands):

United States
International

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$ 1,746,10. $ 847,96. $ 148,77
2,163,94! 1,250,48 2,730,371
$ 3,910,040 $ 2,09844 $ 2,879,15

U.S. pre-tax income for the year ended DecembeP@1] and 2010 includes approximately $448.5 mmilkmd $400.0 million ,
respectively, relating to non-U.S. income rechamazed as U.S. income due to the settlement ofipbeluncertain tax positions.

The provision for income taxes is comprised offtiiwing (in thousands):

Current:
Federal
State and local
Foreign

Deferred:
Federal
State and local
Foreign

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$ 517,877 $  (130,96) $ 507,41
24,26¢ (13,356 96,49¢

121,55¢ 92,20¢ 64,96(

$ 663,70. $ (52,109 $ 668,86
$ 64,287 $ 39859° $ (160,81
(3,15¢) 8,19t (20,179

(44,177 (57,19) 2,171

16,95¢ 349,59! (178,819

$ 680,65¢ $ 297,48 $ 490,05«

The following is a reconciliation of the differenbetween the actual provision for income taxesthrdrovision computed by applying
federal statutory rate of 35% for 2011 , 2010 a@d%to income before income taxes (in thousands):

Provision at statutory rate
Permanent differences:
Foreign income taxed at different rates
Gain on sale of Skype
Joltid settlement
Legal entity restructuring
Change in valuation allowance
Stock-based compensation
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Tax credits
Divested business
Other

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$ 1,3685L $ 73445 $  1,007,70:
(1,093,50) (441,049 (475,96
321,48« — (498,36()

— — 120,33¢

— (23,649 184,41(

(787) 1,407 58,67(

31,70t 7,59t 41,43¢

21,11( 31,00: 49,60¢

(8,039 (48,745 (13,357

33,74: — —

6,43t 36,46: 15,56¢

$ 680,65 $ 297,48¢ $ 490,05«
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognfaethe future tax consequences of differences éetwthe carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their respective tax basesgisimacted tax rates in effect for the year in whighdifferences are expected to be reversed.
Significant deferred tax assets and liabilitiessisiof the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss and credits $ 186,75¢ $ 90,39(
Accruals and allowances 340,07- 310,07*
Stock-based compensation 114,28 117,02:
Discount on note receivable 67,71" —
Net unrealized losses 1,621 1,882
Net deferred tax assets 710,45: 519,36¢
Valuation allowance (83,059 (42,740
627,39: 476,62¢

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unremitted foreign earnings (198,367) (230,64¢)
Acquisition-related intangibles (461,48 (102,899
Depreciation and amortization (264,319 (165,567)
Available-for-sale securities (234,15¢) (199,42)
Other (21,320 —
(1,179,64)) (698,529

$  (552,24) $ (221,89

As of December 31, 2011 , our federal, foreign stadle net operating loss carryforwards for incoaxepurposes were approximately
$172.9 million , $186.3 million and $480.3 milligmespectively. The federal and state net operddisg carryforwards are subject to various
limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Rav®ode and applicable state tax law. If not @&dizthe federal net operating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2021 and #iate net operating loss carryforwards will begimexpire in 2013. As of December 31, 2011 ,
our state tax credit carryforwards for income taxposes were approximately $10.2 milliokfi not utilized, the state tax credit carryfondamwill
begin to expire in 2015. As of December 31, 201d 2010, our federal capital loss carryover amoukefll 50.7 million and $65.4 million ,
respectively, which is subject to a full valuat@liowance. The increase in the capital loss caeyawnd associated valuation allowance is
primarily due to our divestiture of a busines:dt utilized, the federal capital loss carryovel tgin to expire in 2014.

At December 31, 2011 and 201&e maintained a valuation allowance with respectertain of our deferred tax assets relating arilpto
operating losses in certain non-U.S. jurisdictitivet we believe are not likely to be realized.

We have not provided for U.S. federal income andifm withholding taxes on $10.0 billion of our nbS. subsidiaries' undistributed
earnings as of December 31, 2011 . We intend tefiimitely reinvest the $10.0 billion of our non-U Sibsidiaries’ undistributed earnings in our
international operations. Accordingly, we curreriiBve no plans to repatriate those funds. As sueldjo not know the time or manner in which
we would repatriate those funds. Because the tirmamner of repatriation is uncertain, we canné¢iaeine the impact of local taxes,
withholding taxes and foreign tax credits assodiatéh the future repatriation of such earnings #retefore cannot quantify the tax liability. In
cases where we intend to repatriate a portion ofaeign subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings,previde U.S. taxes on such earnings and such
taxes are included in our deferred taxes or taxaplyliabilities depending upon the planned timamgl manner of such repatriation.

On a regular basis, we develop cash forecastditoas our cash needs internationally and domdktid&e consider projected cash needs
for, among other things, investments in our exgstimsinesses, potential acquisitions and capéaktictions, including repurchases of our
common stock and debt repayments. We estimatentioeirat of cash available or needed in the jurisdittiwhere these investments are
expected, as well as our ability to generate cashadse jurisdictions and our access to capitaketar Such an analysis enables us to conclude
whether or not we will indefinitely reinvest theroent period’s foreign earnings. We benefit from talings concluded in several different
jurisdictions, most significantly Singapore and &efrland. These rulings provide for lower ratesasftion on certain classes of income
require various thresholds of investment and emmbmyt in those jurisdictions. These rulings resuited tax savings of $696.5 million and
$284.0 million in 2011 and 2010 , respectivelyraasing earnings per share (diluted) by approxip&@53 and $0.21 in 2011 and 2010,
respectively. These tax rulings are in effect autiftyeand expire over periods ranging from 2016h® duration
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of business operations in the respective jurisoiicti

The following table reflects changes in unrecogaitax benefits since January 1, 2010:

2011 2010
(In thousands)
Gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits aseobélginning of the period $ 428,34: % 838,61¢
Increases related to prior period tax positions 32,58 33,90¢
Decreases related to prior period tax positions (138,74 (305,879
Increases related to current period tax positions 40,92¢ 22,22¢
Settlements (77,38¢) (160,53)
Gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits aseoétiul of the period $ 28572( $ 42834

In the second quarter of 2011, we settled multipleertain tax positions resulting in an overallrdese in our unrecognized tax benefits.
As of December 31, 2011, our liabilities for unrgoized tax benefits were included in deferred athémtax liabilities, net. As of December 31,
2010, $208.5 million of our liabilities for unrecoiged tax benefits were included in accrued expense other current liabilities and the
remaining amount is recorded as deferred and taixdrabilities.

We recognize interest and/or penalties relatedhteriain tax positions in income tax expense. [h12@ve recognized interest and penalties
of $18.4 million . The amount of interest and pé&palaccrued as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 pasximately $83.2 million and $92.3
million , respectively.

We are subject to both direct and indirect taxatiothe U.S. and various states and foreign jucisaiis. We are under examination by
certain tax authorities for the 2003 to 2009 taargeWe believe that adequate amounts have beerveesfor any adjustments that may
ultimately result from these examinations. The makgurisdictions where we are subject to potdrgiamination by tax authorities for tax years
after 2002 include, among others, the U.S. (FederdICalifornia), France, Germany, Italy, Koreaaés$, Switzerland, Singapore and Canada.

Although the timing of the resolution and/or claswf audits is highly uncertain, it is reasonabbggible that the balance of gross
unrecognized tax benefits could significantly cheingthe next 12 months. However, given the nunolbgears remaining subject to examina
and the number of matters being examined, we ablaro estimate the full range of possible adjesti® to the balance of gross unrecognized
tax benefits.

Note 19 - Loans and Interest Receivable, Net

Loans and interest receivable represent purchaseslimer receivables arising from loans made byrtagrachartered financial
institution to individual consumers in the U.Spiarchase goods and services through our Bill Metaterchant network. During the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we purchasedxapgitely $2.3 billion and $1.4 billion , respedly, in consumer receivables. Loans and
interest receivable are reported at their outstapgrincipal balances, including unamortized def@mrigination costs and net of allowance, and
include the estimated collectible interest and.féés use a consumer's FICO score, among other mesasu evaluating the credit quality of our
consumer receivables. A FICO score is a type dfitseore that lenders use to assess an applicaeti risk and whether to extend credit.
Individual FICO scores generally are obtained eadrter the consumer has an outstanding loan @aleiwowned by Bill Me Later. The
weighted average consumer FICO score related ttbans and interest receivable balance outstaratibgecember 31, 2011 was 692 . As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010 , approximately 59.3868r6% , respectively, of our loans and interestivable balance was due from
consumers with FICO scores greater than 680 , wikigenerally considered "prime" by the consumeditiindustry. As of December 31, 20,11
approximately 91% of our loans and interest redde/portfolio were current.
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The following table summarizes the activity in tilpwance for loans and interest receivable forybars ended December 31, 2011 and
2010:

(In thousands)

Balance as of January 1, 2010 $ 50,28’
Charge-offs (85,28
Recoveries 6,33(
Provision 71,00¢
Balance as of January 1, 2011 42,34(
Charge-offs (78,42()
Recoveries 6,74
Provision 87,83¢

$ 58,50¢

Balance as of December 31, 2011

Note 20 — Interest and Other, Net

The components of interest and other, net for #egyended December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 2009 &boaes (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Interest income $ 110,75¢ $ 86,74( $ 38,41(
Interest expense (25,03() (3,596 —
Gain on sale of Skype 1,664,07! — 1,449,80!
Loss on divestiture of a business (256,50’) — —
Gain on acquisitions 79,08: — —
Other (35,82¢) (38,26%) (65,825

$ 153655 % 44.87¢ $  1,422,38!

As a result of previously held non-controlling irgsts in certain companies we acquired, we recedrazgain on the remeasurement of
our non-controlling interest to fair value upon aaquisition of a controlling interest (see "NoteBusiness Combinations" included in this
report for additional information). See "Note 3udtness Combinations” and "Note - 4 Skype Relatadi§actions” included in this report for
additional information on the loss on a divestitaf@ business and gain on the sale of the Skgspgectively. For the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, interest expense on borrowings fieduo finance Bill Me Later's portfolio of loanaeivables included in cost of net revenues
was $11.2 million and $4.5 million , respectively.
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Supplementary Data — Quarterly Financial Data — Undited

The following tables present certain unaudited obdated quarterly financial information for eachtlee eight quarters ended
December 31, 2011 . This quarterly information besn prepared on the same basis as the Consoligiatattial Statements and includes all
adjustments necessary to state fairly the inforomafor the periods presented.

Quarterly Financial Data

(Unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts)

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30W® September 30V December 310®
2011
Net revenues $ 2,545,60¢ $ 2,760,27. $ 2,965,76. $ 3,380,011
Gross profit $ 1,816,63. $ 1,983,19 $ 2,046,06. $ 2,345,57:
Net income $ 475,86 $ 283,400 % 490,50: $ 1,979,61.
Net income per share-basic $ 037 $ 0.2z $ 0.3t $ 1.54
Net income per share-diluted $ 03¢ $ 0.2z % 037 $ 1.51
Weighted-average shares:
Basic 1,297,27. 1,296,53 1,289,63 1,288,52!
Diluted 1,320,15. 1,314,71: 1,309,33. 1,308,46°

(1) The quarterly financial information includestbperating results attributable to the GSI segrfarthe period beginning June 17, 2011 (the
date that the acquisition was competed). See “RetBusiness Combinations” to the consolidatedrigia statements included in this report.
(2) The quarterly financial information include$256.5 million loss on the divestiture of a busme3ee “Note 3 - Business Combinations” to
the consolidated financial statements includedis teport.

(3) The quarterly financial information include$3.7 billion gain on the sale of our remaining et in Skype. See “Note 4 - Skype Related
Transactions” to the consolidated financial stateimécluded in this report.

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2010
Net revenues $ 2,196,05 $ 2,215,370 $ 2,249,48: % 2,495,35!
Gross profit $ 1,589,50; $ 1,600,000 $ 1,609,221 $ 1,792,87
Net income $ 397,65 $ 412,19 $ 431,92¢ $ 559,18°
Net income per share-basic $ 031 $ 031 $ 0.3: $ 0.4z
Net income per share-diluted $ 0.3C $ 031 % 0.3 % 0.4z
Weighted-average shares:

Basic 1,301,24i 1,310,04. 1,308,88: 1,302,23!

Diluted 1,326,02. 1,329,61: 1,328,41! 1,325,65!
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eBay Inc.
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

The Financial Statement Schedule Il — VALUATION ANDUALIFYING ACCOUNTS is filed as part of this AnnuReport on Form 10-K.

Balance at Charges
Beginning of Charged/Credited Charged to Utilized/Write- Balance at End
Period to Net Income Other Account offs of Period

(In thousands)

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and
Authorized Credits

Year ended December 31, 2009 $ 104,88t $ 83,36« $ — % (85,421) $ 102,82¢
Year Ended December 31, 2010 102,82¢ 64,94 — (81,28¢) 86,48¢
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $ 86,48 $ 135,23¢ $ — % (134,52) $ 87,20:

Allowance for Transaction, Loan and Interest

Losses
Year ended December 31, 2009 $ 138,47. $ 300,12¢ $ — 8 (290,67) $ 147,92¢
Year Ended December 31, 2010 147,92¢ 360,40: — (371,299 137,03:
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $ 137,03! $ 481,61¢ $ — % (425,819 $ 192,83:

Tax Valuation Allowance

Year ended December 31, 2009 $ 167,76° $ 58,67C $ (157,69) $ — % 68,74¢
Year Ended December 31, 2010 68,74¢ 1,407 — (27,419 42,74(
Year Ended December 31, 2011 $ 42,74C  $ 33,17: $ — 8 7,14¢  $ 83,05¢
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenthedRegistrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized, in the City of Sase]@tate of California, on the 30th day of
January, 2012.

eBay Inc.

By: /s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pershose signature appears below constitutes amuirgpplohn Donahoe,
Robert H. Swan, Phillip P. DePaul, and Michael &abson, and each or any one of them, each withdwer of substitution, his or her
attorney-in-fact, to sign any amendments to thi@re with exhibits thereto and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and configrail that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or hibstitute or substitutes, may do or cause to
be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, as amended, this report has sigaed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the @fipa and on the dates indicated.

Principal Executive Officer: Principal Financial Officer:
By: /s/John J. Donahoe By: /s/ Robert H. Swan
John J. Donahoe Robert H. Swan
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief FinancidDfficer

Principal Accounting Officer:

By: /s/ Phillip P. DePaul

Phillip P. DePaul
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
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By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

/sl Pierre M. Omidyar

Additional Directors

Pierre M. Omidyar
Founder, Chairman of the Board and Director

/s/ Marc L. Andreessen

Marc L. Andreessen
Director

/sl Scott D. Cook

Scott D. Cook
Director

/sl Dawn G. Lepore

Dawn G. Lepore
Director

/s/ David M. Moffett

David M. Moffett
Director

/s/ Thomas J. Tierney

Thomas J. Tierney
Director

Date: January 30, 2012
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By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

/s/ Fred D. Anderson

Fred D. Anderson
Director

/s/ Edward W. Barnholt

Edward W. Barnholt
Director

/s/ William C. Ford, Jr.

William C. Ford, Jr.
Director

/s/ Kathleen C. Mitic

Kathleen C. Mitic
Director

/sl Richard T. Schlosberg, llI

Richard T. Schlosberg, Ill
Director




INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
2.01 Share Allocation and Tender Offer Agreement, datedf April 16, 8-K 00024821 4/16/200¢
2009, by and among Registrant, eBay KTA (UK). ladd Gmarket
Inc.
2.02 Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 180,280and 8-K 00024821 4/16/200¢
among Registrant, eBay KTA (UK). Ltd. and Gmarket.|
2.03*++ Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemb@09,, as 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
amended on September 14, 2009, by and among RegjstBay
International AG, Sonorit Holding, A.S. and Springlod Group
S.a.r.l. (formerly SLP Ill Cayman DS IV Holdingsas.l.)
2.04* Amendments to Share Purchase Agreement, dated@stalber 19, 8-K 00024821 11/20/200¢
2009, October 21, 2009, November 5, 2009 and Noeerh®, 2009,
by and among Registrant, eBay International AG,dsiviolding,
A.S. and Springboard Group S.a.r.l. (formerly SURCyman DS
IV Holdings S.a.r.l.)
2.05** Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 27, 2@digng 8-K 00024821 3/30/200¢
Registrant, Gibraltar Acquisition Corp. and GSI Goerce, Inc.
3.01 Registrant's Amended and Restated Certificate adrfporation. 10-Q 00024821 7127/200¢
3.02 Registrant's Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 00024821 6/28/2011
4.01 Form of Specimen Certificate for Registrant's Comrtock. S-1 33359097 8/19/199¢
4.02 Indenture dated as of October 28, 2010 betweensRagt and Well
Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.03 Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 28, Béfeen
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National Assoaigtas trustee. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.04 Forms of 0.875% Senior Note due 2013, 1.625% Sé\ide due
2015 and 3.250% Senior Note due 2020. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
a
4.05 Form of 2.50% Convertible Senior Note d0272 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
4.06 Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI Cenmten Inc. and 10-Q 00024821 7122/2011
The Bank of New York, as trustee.
4.07 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June @] %o the 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI| Cemren Inc. and
The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.
10.01+  Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by Registwith each S-1 33359097 7/15/199¢
of its directors and executive officers.
10.02+ Registrant's 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
10.03+  Form of Stock Bonus Agreement under Registran@8 Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢

In~rantivia Dlan



10.04+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@%81Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.

10.05+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce-Based 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registrat8%8 Equity
Incentive Plan.
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with

No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed

10.06+ Registrant's Amended and Restated 1998 Employexx iarchase 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007
Plan.

10.07+ Registrant's 1998 Directors Stock Option Plan,masraled. 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.08+ Registrant's 1999 Global Equity Incentive Planaaended. 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007

10.09+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@%91Global 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Equity Incentive Plan.

10.10+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Regig's 1999 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Global Equity Incentive Plan.

10.11+ Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.12+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@@12Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.

10.13+ Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as al®eén 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.14+ Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Electing Dicg Award 10-Q 00024821 4/25/200¢
Agreement, as amended.

10.15+ Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan New Direcdavard 10-Q 00024821 4/25/200¢
Agreement, as amended.

10.16+ Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Restrictenc®8tUnit Grant 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Notice and Agreement

10.17+  Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan, merlded and 10-Q 00024821 7/23/201C
restated

10.18+  Amendment to the Registrant's 2008 Equity Incenfiverd Plan, 10-Q 00024821 7/29/200¢
Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, Registsal®99 Global
Equity Incentive Plan, Registrant's 1998 Equityeimtive Plan and
Shopping.com Ltd. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.19+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce-Based 8-K 00024821 6/25/200¢
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registr&2@@8 Equity
Incentive Award Plan.

10.20+  eBay Incentive Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201C

10.21+ eBay Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan. 8-K 00024821 12/20/2007

10.22+  Employment Letter Agreement dated March 31, 20@8yben John 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Donahoe and Registrant

10.23+  Letter Agreement dated September 30, 2008 betwebrrmRSwan 10-Q 00024821 10/23/200¢

and Registrant.



F-47




Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
10.24+ Separation Agreement dated October 20, 2010 betlveeie 10-Q 00024821 10/23/201(
Norrington and Registrant.
10.25 Form of Voting and Support Agreement entered irgtween 8-K 00024821 3/30/2011
Registrant and Michael G. Rubin.
10.26 Form of Voting and Support Agreement entered irgtween 8-K 00024821 3/30/2011
Registrant and the following directors and officef$& Sl
Commerce, Inc.: M. Jeffrey Branman, Michael J. Dureg
Ronald D. Fisher, John A. Hunter, Josh Kopelmanik\véa
Menell, Jeffrey F. Rayport, David Rosenblatt, Lamge S.
Smith, Andrea M. Weiss, Michael R. Conn, James &dan, J.
Scott Hardy, Damon Mintzer and Christopher Sarislaki
10.27+ GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.28+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity IncenRlan. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.29+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce- 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under G$h@erce,
Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
10.30+ Letter Agreement dated July 7, 2011 between Ctpisto 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Saridakis and Registrant.
10.31+ Performance Award Agreement dated June 16, 201d/cka 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Christopher Saridakis and GSI Commerce, Inc.
10.32+ Offer letter dated August 30, 2011 and execute8eptember 2, 8-K 00024821 9/6/2011
2011 between Registrant and Devin Wenig.
10.33 Credit Agreement, dated as of November 22, 201 Hriay 8-K 00024821 11/28/2011
among Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the other parties thereto
12.01 Statement regarding computation of ratio of earmitagfixed
charges. X
21.01 List of Subsidiaries. X
23.01 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP consent. X
24.01 Power of Attorney (see signature page). X
31.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offi¢as required
by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
31.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial O#fig as required
by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offi¢ as required

by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X



32.02

101.INS

101.SCH

Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial O#ig as required
by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
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No.

Incorporated by Reference

- . Filed with . -

Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutne X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenin X

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonygolarrangeme
++ Portions of this exhibit are subject to a requestbnfidential treatment and have been redactddiked separately with the Securities and

Exchange Commission.
* The annexes and schedules to the Share Purchasemgnt have been omitted from this filing pursuarntem 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-
K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any annexe schedules to the Securities and Exchange Cssioniupon request.
**  The schedules and exhibits to the Agreement anddflMerger have been omitted from this filing puast to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulati
S-K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any axe® or schedules to the Securities and Exchanger@xsion upon request.
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Exhibit 12.01

eBay Inc.

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(In thousands, except ratio data)

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Income Before Income Taxes, Noncontrolling
Interest and Income/Loss of Equity Method
Investees $ 757,38 (1) $ 2,193,531 $ 2,883,690 (2) $ 2,110,600 $ 3,925,64.
Add: Fixed Charges (3) 31,43% 34,23: 47,49 44,76¢ 79,87¢
Earnings (4) $ 788,82 $ 2,227,76. $ 2,931,18 $ 2,155,37. $ 4,005,52:
Fixed Charges (3) $ 31,437 $ 3423 $ 47,490 $ 4476¢  $ 79,87¢
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 25.1 x 65.1 x 61.7 x 48.1 x 50.1 x
(1) Forthe year ended December 31, 2007, IncoeferB Income Taxes, Minority Interest and Income&.of Equity Method Investees
includes an impairment loss of $1.4 billion relateur Communications reporting unit.
(2) For the year ended December 31, 2009, Income Bé&iomme Taxes, Noncontrolling Interest and IncomeeA of Equity Method Investe
includes a gain of $1.4 billion related to the s#leur Communications reporting unit.
(3) Fixed Charges consist of interest expensecan@stimate of an appropriate portion of rentajgesentative of the interest factor. The

4

estimate of interest within rental expense is estit to be one-third of rental expense.
Earnings consist of income before income tareacontrolling interest and equity in income @sdes of equity method investees plus
Fixed Charges.



LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2011

DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES

Name

ASFD, Inc., a Delaware corporation

7601 Trade Port Drive, LLC, a Kentucky limited lily company
935 KOP Associates, LLC, a Pennsylvania limitediliy company
935 HQ Associates, LLC, a Delaware limited liagiliompany
1075 First Global Associates, LLC, a Pennsylvaoigaoration
GSI Legacy Holdings, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporati
Baazee.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Bill Me Later, Inc., a Delaware corporation
ClearSaleing, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Critical Path Consulting, Inc. a Delaware corpanati
EachNet, Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Domestic Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporatio
eBay Foundation, a California private foundation

eBay Insurance Services, Inc., a Delaware corporati
eBay International Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Real Estate Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Software Foundation LLC, a Delaware limitexbility corporation
eBay Partner Network, Inc., a Delaware corporation
e-Dialog, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Eureka Labs, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Fetchback, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Global Commerce Services, Inc., a Delaware corjmrat
GSI Commerce Call Center, Inc., a Florida corporati
GSI Commerce, Inc., a Delaware corporation

GSI Commerce Solutions, Inc., a Pennsylvania ceutpan
GSI Commerce South, Inc., a Delaware corporation
GSI Equipment, Inc., a New York corporation

GSl Interactive, Inc., a Delaware corporation

GSI Marketing Services, Inc., a Pennsylvania capon
GSI Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Half.com, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation

KOP, Promotions LLC, a Virginia limited liabilityamnpany
Last Minute Transactions, Inc., a Delaware corponat
M3 Mobile Incorporated, a Pennsylvania corporation
Magecom Ventures, a Delaware corporation
Marketplace Insurance Inc., a Hawaii corporation

MBS Insight, Inc., a Delaware corporation

MicroPlace, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Online Direct, Inc., a Delaware corporation

PayPal Asset Management, Inc., a Delaware corporati
PayPal Charitable Giving Fund, a Delaware corporati
PayPal Data Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation
PayPal Gift Card Services, Inc., a Arizona corgorat
PayPal Global Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporatio
PayPal, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Promotions Distributor Service Corporation, a Qatiia Corporation
ProStores, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Shopping.com Inc., a Delaware corporation.

Silverlign Group, Inc., a California corporation
StubHub, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Truvie Security, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Viva Group, Inc dba Rent.com, a Delaware corporatio
Rent.com Arizona Brokerage, LLC

Viva.com Realty Brokerage, LLC (Florida)

Viva.com Realty Brokerage, LLC (Kentucky)

Rent.com Hawaii, LLC

Viva Realty Indiana, LLC

Viva Realty Minnesota, LLC (dba) “Rent.com”
Rent.com Nevada, LLC

Viva Group New Hampshire, LLC (dba) “Rent.com”
Viva Realty Washington, LLC

Viva Oregon, LLC
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Name

Rent.com Pennsylvania, LLC

Viva Realty Utah, LLC

Viva VA PA, LLC (Virginia)

VGI Delaware, LLC

VendorNet, Inc., a Delaware corporation

WHERE, LLC., a Delaware limited liability corporati
X.commerce, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Zong, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Zvents Inc., a California corporation




INTERNATIONAL SUBSIDIARIES

Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership

Name Incorporation If Less Than 100%

Appchee Application Ltd. Israel

Autoact AB Sweden

Baazee.com Private Limited Mauritius

Bil Markedet ApS Denmark

BillSafe GmbH Germany

DealTime (Europe) B.V. Netherlands

DealTime.com (Germany) GmbH Germany

Den Bla Avis A/S Denmark

EachNet.com Limited

eBay Advertising Group GmbH

eBay Asia Pacific Regional Management Services Ltd.
eBay Australia and New Zealand Pty Limited
eBay Canada Limited

eBay Classifieds Argentina S.R.L.

eBay Classifieds Denmark ApS

eBay Czech Republic s.r.o.

e-Dialog UK Limited

e-Dialog Singapore Private Ltd.

eBay Europe Sarl

eBay Europe Services Ltd.

eBay France SA

eBay Global Holdings B.V.

eBay GmbH

eBay e-Commerce Technology Operations (Shanghaj)L@h
eBay Engineering & Research Center (Shanghai)lGa.,
eBay India Centre Private Limited

eBay India Pvt. Ltd.

eBay International Advertising GmbH

eBay International AG

eBay International Hong Kong Ltd.

eBay International Marketing GmbH

eBay Israel Holding Ltd.

eBay ltalia S.r.l.

eBay Japan K.K.

eBay Korea Co., Ltd.

eBay KTA (UK) Limited

eBay Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

eBay Marketing (Thailand ) Company Limited
eBay Motors India Private Limited

eBay Malaysia Sdn Bhd

eBay Mauritius Holding Private Limited

eBay New Ventures K.K.

eBay Polska Sp z 0.0.

eBay Promotions (UK) Ltd.

eBay Services Sarl

eBay Sweden AB

eBay Singapore Services Private Limited

eBay Software Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

eBay Spain International, S.L.

Cayman Islands
Germany
Korea
Australia
Canada
Argentina
Denmark
Czech Republic
United Kingdom
Singapore
Luxembourg
Ireland
France
The Netherlands
Germany
People's Republic of China
People's Republic of China
India
India
Switzerland
Switzerland
Hong Kong
Switzerland
Israel
Italy
Japan
Korea 99.9%
United Kingdom
People's Republic of China
Thailand
India
Malaysia
Mauritius
Japan
Poland
United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Sweden
Singapore
People's Republic of China
Spain



eBay Taiwan Company Ltd.
eBay Treasury Sarl
eBay (UK) Limited

EU Liaison Office BVBA

Taiwan
Luxembourg
United Kingdom
Canada

Belgium




Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership

Name Incorporation If Less Than 100%
GSI Commerce Solutions International , S.L. Spain
GSI Commerce Japan K.K. Japan
GSI Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Gumtree.com Australia Pty Ltd Australia

Gumtree.com Limited

Internet Performance Testing Ltd.

Kijiji Italia s.r.l.
Kijiji Norway AS
Kijiji S.a.r.l.

Kijiji S.L.U.

Magento Europe LLC

Marktplaats B.V.

mobile.international GmbH

Opusforum GmbH

PayPal Argentina SRL

PayPal Asia Services Ltd.

PayPal Australia Pty Limited

PayPal Bilisim Hizmetleri Limited Sirketi
PayPal CA Limited

PayPal Deutschland GmbH

PayPal Do Brasil Servicos de e PagamentosLtda.
PayPal (Europe) Ltd.

PayPal (Europe) Sarl

PayPal Europe SE

PayPal Europe Services Ltd.

PayPal European Marketing S.A.
PayPal France SAS

PayPal Hong Kong Limited

PayPal India Private Limited

PayPal Information Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
PayPal International Limited

PayPal Israel Holding (2008) Ltd.
PayPal Israel Ltd.

PayPal ltalia s.r.l.

PayPal Japan K.K.

PayPal Malaysia Services Sdn Bhd
PayPal Mexico, S. De R.L. De C.V.
PayPal Nederlands B.V.

PayPal Payments Pte. Ltd.

PayPal Polska Sp z o.0.

PayPal Pte. Ltd.

PayPal SE

PayPal Services Canada Limited
PayPal Settlement Services (ChongQing) Co., Ltd.
PayPal Spain S.L.

PayPal (UK) Limited

PayPal 2 Sarl

PayPal 3 Sai

United Kingdom
British Virgin Islands
Germany
Ireland/Luxembourg
Ireland

Italy
Norway
France
Spain
Belgian Branch
The Netherlands
Germany
Germany
Argentina
Mauritius
Australia
Turkey
Canada
Germany
Brazil
United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Ireland
Ireland
Switzerland
France
Hong Kong
India
People's Republic of China
Ireland/Singapore
Israel
Israel
Italy
Japan
Malaysia
Mexico
The Netherlands
Singapore
Poland
Singapore
United Kingdom
Canada
People's Republic of China
Spain
United Kingdom
Luxembourg

Luxembourg



Private Sale GmbH

Private Sale International GmbH

Shanghai eBay Network Information Services Co., Ltd
Shopping.com Australia Pty Ltd.

Shopping.com France SAS

Germany
Germany

People's Republic of China 50%
Australia

France




Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership

Name Incorporation If Less Than 100%
Shopping.com GmbH Germany
Shopping.com Ltd. Israel

Shopping.com UK Ltd.
StubHub Europe Sarl
StubHub Services Sarl

Shopping Epinions International Ltd.

Trade2Trade Ltd.

Via-Online GmbH

WHERE d.o.o0.

X.Commerce Development LLC
Zendor/GS| Commerce Limited
Zong SA

Zong SAS

Zong GmbH

United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Luxembourg

Ireland
United Kingdom
Germany
Croatia
Ukraine

United Kingdom
Switzerland

France

Germany



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referém¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N8-B34449, 333-175733), Form S-4 (No.
333-97727, 333-117914), and Form S-8 (No's. 33384333-87593, 333-41944, 333-58046, 333-97729;188RI26, 333-107832, 3387913
333-127971, 333-129072, 333-136118, 333-140942,133880, 333-149131, 333-149132, 333-151851, 35314, 333-159778, 333-165438,
333-168295, 333-171154, 333-174242, 333-175416,135317, 333-176477, 333-176663, 3BB369) of eBay Inc. of our report dated Jan
30, 2012 relating to the consolidated financialesteents, financial statement schedule and theteféaess of internal control over financial
reporting, which appears in this Form-10.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
January 30, 2012



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

[, John J. Donahoe, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of eBay.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact or amgitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf® periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportiag defined in Exchange Act Rules 183&(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedores designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati$slosure controls and procedures and presentndsimeport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amdeguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportifigat occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttael quarter in the case of an annual repog) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's intet control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drithve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdataumnmittee of the registrant's board of directiarspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the riegid's ability to record, process, summarize apibrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: January 30, 2012



Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Robert H. Swan, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of eBay.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact or amgitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf® periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportiag defined in Exchange Act Rules 183&(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedores designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati$slosure controls and procedures and presentndsimeport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amdeguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportifigat occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttael quarter in the case of an annual repog) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's intet control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drithve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdataumnmittee of the registrant's board of directiarspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the riegid's ability to record, process, summarize apibrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Robert H. Swan

Robert H. Swan

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: January 30, 2012



Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, John J. Donahoe, hereby certify pursuant to 18.Cl. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Sectioro®fite Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

(i) The accompanying quarterly report on Form 1@€the quarter ended December 31, 2011 fully coespkith the requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the SecuritiesHaxge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in such report faigresents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations of
eBay Inc.

/s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: January 30, 2012

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notgofled as part of this report.



Exhibit 32.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Robert H. Swan, hereby certify pursuant to 18.0. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Section 9@6darbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

(i) The accompanying quarterly report on Form 1@the quarter ended December 31, 2011 fully coesphith the requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the SecuritiesHaxge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(i) The information contained in such report faidresents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations of
eBay Inc.

/s/ Robert H. Swan

Robert H. Swan

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: January 30, 2012

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notdoéiled as part of this report.



